
TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY

COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT

AGENDA PACKET

For the Meeting of Wednesday

November 19, 2014

7:00 P.M. Regular Meeting

District Office

1800 Willow Lake Road

TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY
A COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT

President – Mark Simon • Vice-President – Chris Steele • Director – Kevin Graves • Director – Bill Pease • Director – Marianne Wiesen



 

Town of Discovery Bay CSD Board of Directors 
Meeting Agenda for November 19, 2014 - Pg.1 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

NOTICE OF THE REGULAR MEETING 
OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
OF THE TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY 
Wednesday November 19, 2014 
REGULAR MEETING 7:00 P.M. 
1800 Willow Lake Road, Discovery Bay, California 
Website address: www.todb.ca.gov 
 
REGULAR MEETING 7:00 P.M. 
A. ROLL CALL AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

1. Call business meeting to order 7:00 p.m. 
2. Pledge of Allegiance 
3. Roll Call 

 
B. PUBLIC COMMENTS (Individual Public Comments will be limited to a 3-minute time limit) 

During Public Comments, the public may address the Board on any issue within the District’s jurisdiction 
which is not on the agenda.  The public may comment on any item on the Agenda at the time that item is 
before the Board for consideration.  Any person wishing to speak must come up and speak from the 
podium.  There will be no dialog between the Board and the commenter.  Any clarifying questions from the 
Board must go through the Chair. 
 

C. PRESENTATIONS 
1. Capital Improvement Program Update 
 

D. PRESIDENT REPORT AND DIRECTORS’ COMMENTS 
        
E. CONSENT CALENDAR 

All matters listed under the CONSENT CALENDAR are considered by the District to be routine and will be 
enacted by one motion. 
1. Approval of DRAFT minutes of special meeting dated November 5, 2014 
2. Approval of DRAFT minutes of regular meeting dated November 5, 2014 
3. Approve Register of District Invoices 
4. Approve and Record the Notice of Completion for the Discovery Bay Pump Station F Rehabilitation 

Project and Authorize Release of the Retention 
 
F. BUSINESS AND ACTION ITEMS 

1. Contract between the Town of Discovery Bay and Digital Deployment, Inc. to Develop a New Web 
Presence and Website 

2. Town of Discovery Bay Record Retention Schedules 
 
G.  INFORMATIONAL ITEMS ONLY (NO ACTION NECESSARY) 
 

 
 

TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY 
A COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT 

 

President – Mark Simon • Vice-President – Chris Steele • Director – Kevin Graves • Director – Bill Pease • Director – Marianne Wiesen 
 

 

http://www.todb.ca.gov/


 

Town of Discovery Bay CSD Board of Directors 
Meeting Agenda for November 19, 2014 - Pg.2 

 
 

 
H. VEOLIA REPORT 

1. Veolia Report – Month of October 2014 
 

I. MANAGER’S REPORTS – Discussion and Possible Action 
 

J. GENERAL MANAGER’S REPORT – Discussion and Possible Action 
 

K. DISTRICT LEGAL COUNSEL REPORT 
 
L. COMMITTEE UPDATES – Discussion and Possible Action 
 
M. CORRESPONDENCE – Discussion and Possible Action 

1. R – Byron Municipal Advisory Council meeting minutes dated September 18, 2014 
2. R – East Contra Costa County Fire Protection District meeting minutes dated October 6, 2014 

   
N. PUBLIC RECORD REQUESTS RECEIVED  
 
O. FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS  
 
P. ADJOURNMENT 

1. Adjourn to the next Regular meeting dated December 3, 2014 starting at 7:00 p.m. on 1800 Willow 
Lake Road-Located behind the Delta Community Presbyterian Church.  

 
 
 
 
 

“This agenda shall be made available upon request in alternative formats to persons with a disability, as 
required by the American with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. § 12132) and the Ralph M. Brown Act 
(California Government Code § 54954.2). Persons requesting a disability related modification or accommodation 
in order to participate in the meeting should contact the Town of Discovery Bay, at (925)634-1131, during 
regular business hours, at least twenty-four hours prior to the time of the meeting.” 
 
"Materials related to an item on the Agenda submitted to the Town of Discovery Bay CSD after distribution of the 
agenda packet are available for public inspection in the District Office located at 1800 Willow Lake Road during 
normal business hours." 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

No Back Up 

Documentation 

For Agenda Item C-1 

TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY  

A COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT 

President – Mark Simon • Vice-President – Chris Steele • Director – Kevin Graves • Director – Bill Pease • Director – Marianne Wiesen 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

No Back Up 

Documentation 

For Agenda Item D 

TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY  

A COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT 

President – Mark Simon • Vice-President – Chris Steele • Director – Kevin Graves • Director – Bill Pease • Director – Marianne Wiesen 



 

Town of Discovery Bay CSD Board of Directors 
Meeting Minutes for November 5, 2014 - Pg.1 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
MINUTES OF A SPECIAL MEETING 
OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
OF THE TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY 
Wednesday November 5, 2014 
SPECIAL MEETING 6:00 P.M. 
1800 Willow Lake Road, Discovery Bay, California 
Website address: www.todb.ca.gov 
 
SPECIAL MEETING 6:00 P.M. 
A. ROLL CALL AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Call business meeting to order – 6:00 p.m. by President Simon 
Pledge of Allegiance – Led by President Simon 
Roll Call – All Present 

 
B. PUBLIC COMMENTS (Individual Public Comments will be limited to a 3-minute time limit) 

 
C. BUSINESS AND ACTION ITEMS 

1. Discussion of  the Town Website and Vendor Presentation 
General Manager Howard – Provided the details of item C-1.   

Digital Deployment Carsen Anthonisen – Vice President, Client Services and Rocky Martin, Business 

Development Manager – Provided the additional details of item C-1.  There was discussion between the 

General Manager, the Digital Deployment representatives, and the Board.  The Board directed Staff to 

bring the item back to the November 19, 2014 meeting as a Business and Action Item. 
 

D. ADJOURNMENT 
The meeting adjourned at 6:56 p.m. to the next Regular meeting dated November 5, 2014 starting at 7:00 
p.m. on 1800 Willow Lake Road.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

//cmc – 11-10-14 
http://www.todb.ca.gov/content/agenda-and-minutes/ 

 
 

TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY 
A COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT 

 

President – Mark Simon • Vice-President – Chris Steele • Director – Kevin Graves • Director – Bill Pease • Director – Marianne Wiesen 
 

 

Agenda Item E-1 

http://www.todb.ca.gov/
http://www.todb.ca.gov/content/agenda-and-minutes/


 
 

 
Town of Discovery Bay Board of Directors 

Meeting Minutes for November 5, 2014 - Pg.1 

 

          
 

 

 
 

 

 
MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING 
OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
OF THE TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY 
Wednesday November 5, 2014 
REGULAR MEETING 7:00 P.M. 
1800 Willow Lake Road, Discovery Bay, California 
Website address: www.todb.ca.gov 
 
REGULAR MEETING 7:00 P.M. 
A. ROLL CALL AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Call business meeting to order – 7:00 p.m. by President Simon 
Pledge of Allegiance – Led by President Simon 
Roll Call – All Present 
  

B. PUBLIC COMMENTS (Individual Public Comments will be limited to a 3-minute time limit) 
There was one Public Comment Speaker. 

 President Simon and the other Board Members recognized Director Wiesen. 
 

C. AREA AGENCIES REPORTS / PRESENTATION 
  1  Sheriff’s Office Report  

Crime Prevention Specialist Fontenot – Provided the law enforcement report for the month of October.  
There was discussion between the Crime Prevention Specialist Fontenot and the Board. 

 2. CHP Report 
Officer Thomas – Provided an update of the services to the Town of Discovery Bay.  There was discussion 
between Officer Thomas and the Board. 
3. East Contra Costa Fire Protection District Report  
Chief Henderson – No Report due to an emergency 
4. Supervisor Mary Piepho, District III Report 
Alicia Nuchols Scheduler/Office Operations – Provided an update of several projects surrounding 
Discovery Bay.  There was discussion between the General Manager, Lea Castleberry, Deputy Chief of 
Staff, and the Board. 
 

D. COMMITTEE/LIAISON REPORTS 
1. Trans-Plan Report – No Report 
2.   County Planning Commission Report – No Report 
3. Code Enforcement Report – Director Wiesen reported on the Code Enforcement meeting. 
4. Special Districts Report** - Director Pease provided a report and reported on the Quarterly meeting of 
the Contra Costa Special Districts Association meeting dated October 20, 2014. 
**These meetings are held Quarterly 

 
E. PRESENTATIONS 

1. Derek McGinnis – Discovery Bay Veteran 
Director Graves – Introduced and recognized Discovery Bay Veteran Derek McGinnis. 
2. PG&E Presentation on Gas Pipeline Replacement in Discovery Bay 
General Manager Howard – Provided details of item E-2. 
PG&E Representatives – Provided additional details of item E-2.  There was discussion between the PG&E 
Representatives, the General Manager, the Water and Wastewater Manager, and the Board. 
 

TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY 
A COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT 

 

 
President – Mark Simon • Vice-President – Chris Steele • Director – Kevin Graves • Director – Bill Pease • Director – Marianne Wiesen 

 

 

Agenda Item E-2

http://www.todb.ca.gov/


 
 

 
Town of Discovery Bay Board of Directors 

Meeting Minutes for November 5, 2014 - Pg.2 

 

 
 
 

F. CONSENT CALENDAR 
All matters listed under the CONSENT CALENDAR are considered by the District to be routine and will be 
enacted by one motion. 
1. Approval of DRAFT minutes of regular meeting dated October 15, 2014 
2. Approve Register of District Invoices  
3. Adoption of Ordinance No. 26 - Establish Parking Restrictions at Cornell and Ravenswood Parks 

and the Discovery Bay Community Center 
4. District Financial Statement Report for the Period July 1, 2014 to September 30, 2014 
5. Lift Station “G” Rehabilitation Control Panel Purchase 
6. Adoption of Resolution 2014-25 Establishing an Administrative Fee Schedule for Water Related 

Services 
Motion by: Director Pease to approve the Consent Calendar 
Second by: Director Wiesen 
Vote: Motion Carried – AYES: 5, NOES: 0 

 
G. BUSINESS AND ACTION ITEMS 

1. Award of Contract to Koff and Associates to conduct a Classification and Compensation Study 
General Manager Howard – Provided the details of item G-1.  There was discussion between the General 
Manager and the Board.   
Motion by: Vice-President Steele to place this project on a future workshop for compensation programs 
Second by: Director Wiesen 
Vote: Motion Carried – AYES: 5, NOES: 0 
2. Consideration and Possible Action on Maintenance Operations for Zones 9, 35, 57 and 61, 

Including the Hiring of In-House Staff 
 General Manager Howard – Provided the details of item G-2. 

Parks and Recreation Manager Perez – Provided additional details of item G-2.  There was discussion 
between the General Manager, the Parks and Recreation Manager, and the Board.  There was one Public 
Comment Speaker. 
Motion by: Director Pease to approve maintenance operations for Zones 9, 35, 57 & 61 to be brought in-
house; authorize two full time and one seasonal part time Maintenance Worker I/II positions be added to the 
Authorized Position Schedule; and authorize contract termination letter to be sent to the existing contractor, 
Odyssey Landscape, effective January 1, 2015. 
Second by: Director Graves 
Vote: Motion Carried – AYES: 5, NOES: 0 

 
H.  INFORMATIONAL ITEMS ONLY (NO ACTION NECESSARY) 

1. Final FY 2013-2014 Annual Budget and Fiscal Year 2014-15 and Fiscal Year 2015-16 Operating, 
Capital and Revenue Budgets 

General Manager Howard – Provided the details of item H-1.  There was discussion between the General 
Manager and the Board. File and receive agenda item H-1. 
2. Community Center Expense Report 
General Manager Howard - Provided the details of item H-2.  There was discussion between the General 
Manager and the Board.  File and receive agenda item H-2. 

 
I. PRESIDENT REPORT AND DIRECTORS’ COMMENTS 

Director Graves – Provided his report and details of the East Contra Costa County Fire Protection District 
meeting dated November 3, 2014 

 
J. MANAGER’S REPORT – Discussion and Possible Action 

1. Quarterly Update Sub-Committee Parks and Landscaping 
Parks and Recreation Manager – Provided the details of item J-1.  There was discussion between the 
General Manager, the Parks and Recreation Manager, and the Board. 
2. Quarterly Update Sub-Committee Community Center and Recreation 
Parks and Recreation Manager – Provided the details of item J-2.  There was discussion between the 
General Manager, the Parks and Recreation Manager, and the Board. 

 
K. GENERAL MANAGER’S REPORT – Discussion and Possible Action 
 General Manager Howard – Discussed the date for the Board Workshop.  Staff will tentatively set a date. 
 

Agenda Item E-2



 
 

 
Town of Discovery Bay Board of Directors 

Meeting Minutes for November 5, 2014 - Pg.3 

 

 
 Water and Wastewater Manager – Provided an update regarding the water reduction within Discovery Bay. 
 
L. DISTRICT LEGAL COUNSEL REPORT 
 
M. COMMITTEE UPDATES – Discussion and Possible Action 
 
N. CORRESPONDENCE – Discussion and Possible Action  

1. R – State Route 4 Bypass meeting minutes dated July 17, 2014 
2. R  - East Contra Costa County Fire Protection District meeting minutes September 8, 2014 
3. R – Byron Municipal Advisory Council meeting minutes dated September 18, 2014 

 
O. PUBLIC RECORD REQUESTS RECEIVED   
 
P. FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS 
  
Q.  ADJOURNMENT     

The meeting adjourned at 9:10 p.m. to the next regular meeting dated November 19, 2014 starting at 7:00 
p.m. on 1800 Willow Lake Road.  

 
 
 
//cmc – 11-06-14 
http://www.todb.ca.gov/content/agenda-and-minutes/ 
 
 

Agenda Item E-2

http://www.todb.ca.gov/content/agenda-and-minutes/


 
 

 

 

Town of Discovery Bay 
“A Community Services District” 

AGENDA REPORT 

 
 

Meeting Date 
 
 

November 19, 2014 

 
Prepared By:   Dina Breitstein, Finance Manager & Lesley Marable, Sr. Accounts Clerk 
Submitted By:    Rick Howard, General Manager  

 
Agenda Title 
 
Approve Register of District Invoices 
 
 
Recommended Action 
 
Staff recommends that the Board approve the listed invoices for payment 
 
 
Executive Summary 
 
District invoices are paid on a regular basis, and must obtain Board authorization prior to payment.  Staff recommends  
Board authorization in order that the District can continue to pay warrants in a timely manner. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Fiscal Impact: 
 

Amount Requested  $ 187,642.35 
Sufficient Budgeted Funds Available?:  Yes   (If no, see attached fiscal analysis) 

 Prog/Fund #    See listing of invoices.  Category:  Operating Expenses and Capital Improvements        
 

Previous Relevant Board Actions for This Item 
 
 
 
Attachments 
 
Request For Authorization to Pay Invoices for the Town of Discovery Bay CSD  2014/2015 
Request For Authorization to Pay Invoices for the Discovery Bay Lighting & Landscape District # 8 2014/2015 
Request For Authorization to Pay Invoices for the Discovery Bay Lighting & Landscape District # 9 2014/2015 
 

 

AGENDA ITEM: E-3 

Cinderella
Stamp



Vendor Name Invoice Number Description Invoice Date  Amount

Administration

Fairin Perez OCT 2014 Expense Report (Z35,Z57,Z61) 09/28/14 $68.99

I & T Backflow Testing 449 Backflow Tests (Z35,Z57,Z61) 10/27/14 $560.00

U.S. Bank Corporate Payment System 4246044555703473/014 Landscape Reimb (Z35,Z57,Z61) 10/27/14 $39.34

Administration Sub-Total $668.33

Water

American Retrofit Systems 1034 WWTP#2 Install 220 Volt Plug 10/08/14 $250.00

Brentwood Ace Hardware 808/103114 General Repairs 10/31/14 $30.23

Carol McCool OCT 2014 Expense Report Oct 2014 11/11/14 $49.95

Caselle, Inc. 61214 Support and Maintenance Dec 2014 11/01/14 $444.00

Cintas 185488209 Uniforms 10/29/14 $14.93

Cintas 185489037 Uniforms 11/05/14 $14.93

Contra Costa Fire Equipment 3992 Fire Extinguishers Inspection 11/06/14 $24.00

County Of Contra Costa, Dept of Info Tec 9154 Data Processing Sept 2014 10/22/14 $17.60

Du-All Safety 16426 Safety Support and Training for 2014-2015 10/31/14 $1,160.00

EnerPower 66011 Electric Charges 0814/14-09/11/14 10/31/14 $620.00

EnerPower 66012 Electric Charges 08/15/14-09/15/14 10/31/14 $2,089.00

EnerPower 66014 Electric Charges 09/11/14-10/09/14 10/31/14 $399.00

Golden State Flow Measurement, Inc I-042355 3-Inch Water Meter 10/23/14 $1,807.51

Office Depot 736116297001 Office Supplies 10/21/14 $63.23

Office Depot 736413886001 Office Supplies 10/22/14 $43.37

Office Depot 737741045001 Office Supplies 10/29/14 $19.16

Office Depot 737741116001 Office Supplies 10/29/14 $11.70

Office Depot 737949241001 Office Supplies 10/30/14 $29.06

Paul E. Vaz Trucking, Inc. 32984 Material 10/24/14 10/31/14 $466.17

Paul E. Vaz Trucking, Inc. 32985 Freight 10/24/14 10/31/14 $594.43

ReliaStar Life Insurance Company #JR52 457(B) 111514 457(b) 11/01/14-11/15/14 11/15/14 $475.77

SDRMA 15863 Medical Benefits Dec 2014 11/05/14 $1,484.71

Shields Consulting Group, Inc. 1415-1 Preparation & Submission of State Mandated Cost Reimb. 10/31/14 $432.86

U.S. Bank Corporate Payment System 4246044555703473/014 Group Insurance 10/27/14 $1,045.55

U.S. Bank Corporate Payment System 4246044555703473/014 Travel & Meetings 10/27/14 $1,802.56

U.S. Bank Corporate Payment System 4246044555703473/014 Training & Education 10/27/14 $140.00

U.S. Bank Corporate Payment System 4246044555703473/014 Telephone General 10/27/14 $507.49

U.S. Bank Corporate Payment System 4246044555703473/014 Telecom Networking 10/27/14 $96.00

U.S. Bank Corporate Payment System 4246044555703473/014 Vehicle & Equipment Fuel 10/27/14 $402.84

U.S. Bank Corporate Payment System 4246044555703473/014 General Repairs 10/27/14 $26.12

U.S. Bank Corporate Payment System 4246044555703473/014 Info System Maintenance 10/27/14 $92.80

U.S. Bank Corporate Payment System 4246044555703473/014 Computer Software 10/27/14 $20.00

U.S. Bank Corporate Payment System 4246044555703473/014 Office Supplies 10/27/14 $170.47

U.S. Bank Corporate Payment System 4246044555703473/014 Misc. Service and Supplies 10/27/14 $30.48

U.S. Bank Corporate Payment System 4246044555703473/014 Special Expense 10/27/14 $234.86

Veolia Water North America 42804 Monthly O & M Nov 2014 11/01/14 $40,403.73

Zee Medical Service Company 724507109 Medical Supplies 11/06/14 $30.25

Water Sub-Total $55,544.76

Wastewater

Brentwood Ace Hardware 808/103114 General Repairs 10/31/14 $45.34

California Environmental Dewatering 1185 5 Gallon Pails 10/21/14 $88.91

California Steam Specialties 5280 Repair RED Valves 10/27/14 $1,161.52

Carol McCool OCT 2014 Expense Report Oct 2014 11/11/14 $118.29

Caselle, Inc. 61214 Support and Maintenance Dec 2014 11/01/14 $666.00

Cintas 185488209 Uniforms 10/29/14 $22.39

Cintas 185489037 Uniforms 11/05/14 $22.39

Contra Costa Fire Equipment 3992 Fire Extinguishers Inspection 11/06/14 $36.00

County Of Contra Costa, Dept of Info Tec 9154 Data Processing Sept 2014 10/22/14 $26.40

Du-All Safety 16426 Safety Support and Training for 2014-2015 10/31/14 $1,740.00

EnerPower 66013 Electric Charges 09/12/14-10/12/14 10/31/14 $157.00

Herwit Engineering 14-10 Professional Services Oct 2014 10/31/14 $14,389.12

Herwit Engineering DB-ICM-3 Pipeline Inspection 10/31/14 $10,530.25

Herwit Engineering DB-MP-5,6,7-6 Secondary Effluent Equalization, Filters & PS Modifications 10/31/14 $23,277.50

Kleinfelder, Inc. 1033087 Groundwater Monitoring Well Installation 10/24/14 $2,391.30

Office Depot 736116297001 Office Supplies 10/21/14 $94.85

Request For Authorization To Pay Invoices  (RFA)

For The Meeting On November 19, 2014  

Town of Discovery Bay CSD

For Fiscal Year’s 7/14 - 6/15

Agenda Item E-3



Office Depot 736413886001 Office Supplies 10/22/14 $65.06

Office Depot 737741045001 Office Supplies 10/29/14 $28.75

Office Depot 737741116001 Office Supplies 10/29/14 $17.55

Office Depot 737949241001 Office Supplies 10/30/14 $43.58

ReliaStar Life Insurance Company #JR52 457(B) 111514 457(b) 11/01/14-11/15/14 11/15/14 $713.65

SDRMA 15863 Medical Benefits Dec 2014 11/05/14 $2,227.07

Shields Consulting Group, Inc. 1415-1 Preparation & Submission of State Mandated Cost Reimb. 10/31/14 $649.29

U.S. Bank Corporate Payment System 4246044555703473/014 Group Insurance 10/27/14 $1,568.33

U.S. Bank Corporate Payment System 4246044555703473/014 Travel & Meetings 10/27/14 $2,703.84

U.S. Bank Corporate Payment System 4246044555703473/014 Training & Education 10/27/14 $210.00

U.S. Bank Corporate Payment System 4246044555703473/014 Telephone General 10/27/14 $839.33

U.S. Bank Corporate Payment System 4246044555703473/014 Telecom Networking 10/27/14 $144.00

U.S. Bank Corporate Payment System 4246044555703473/014 Vehicle & Equipment Fuel 10/27/14 $277.31

U.S. Bank Corporate Payment System 4246044555703473/014 General Repair 10/27/14 $23.92

U.S. Bank Corporate Payment System 4246044555703473/014 Info System Maintenance 10/27/14 $139.20

U.S. Bank Corporate Payment System 4246044555703473/014 Computer Software 10/27/14 $29.99

U.S. Bank Corporate Payment System 4246044555703473/014 Office Supplies 10/27/14 $255.71

U.S. Bank Corporate Payment System 4246044555703473/014 Misc. Service & Supplies 10/27/14 $45.72

U.S. Bank Corporate Payment System 4246044555703473/014 Special Expense 10/27/14 $356.28

Veolia Water North America 42385 Pump Station W 10/17/14 $3.78

Veolia Water North America 42804 Monthly O & M Nov 2014 11/01/14 $60,605.60

Zee Medical Service Company 724507109 Medical Supplies 11/06/14 $45.38

Wastewater Sub-Total $125,760.60

Community Center

Community Center Sub-Total $0.00

Grand Total $181,973.69

Agenda Item E-3



Vendor Name Invoice Number Description Invoice Date  Amount
Cintas 185488209 Uniforms 10/29/14 $18.65

Cintas 185488209 Community Center-Mats 10/29/14 $30.99

Cintas 185489037 Uniforms 11/05/14 $18.65

Cintas 185489037 Community Center-Mats 11/05/14 $30.99

Fairin Perez OCT 2014 Expense Report 09/28/14 $84.95

I & T Backflow Testing 449 Backflow Tests 10/27/14 $735.00

Karina Dugand 14 Community Center-Program Fees 11/06/14 $251.20

Kidz Love Soccer 2014FA-F122 Community Center-Program Fees 11/05/14 $1,186.40

ProPet Distributors, Inc. 104406 Dog Litter Bags 11/07/14 $984.16

U.S. Bank Corporate Payment System 4246044555703473/014 Equipment 10/27/14 $666.57

U.S. Bank Corporate Payment System 4246044555703473/014 Telephone General 10/27/14 $96.21

U.S. Bank Corporate Payment System 4246044555703473/014 Vehicle & Equipment Fuel 10/27/14 $309.57

U.S. Bank Corporate Payment System 4246044555703473/014 Misc. Small Tools 10/27/14 $35.63

U.S. Bank Corporate Payment System 4246044555703473/014 Office Supplies 10/27/14 $37.00

U.S. Bank Corporate Payment System 4246044555703473/014 Facility Maintenance 10/27/14 $8.59

U.S. Bank Corporate Payment System 4246044555703473/014 Community Center-Advertising 10/27/14 $45.00

U.S. Bank Corporate Payment System 4246044555703473/014 Community Center-Telephone General 10/27/14 -$319.69

U.S. Bank Corporate Payment System 4246044555703473/014 Community Center-Vehicle & Equipment Fuel 10/27/14 $27.54

U.S. Bank Corporate Payment System 4246044555703473/014 Community Center-Software 10/27/14 $360.95

U.S. Bank Corporate Payment System 4246044555703473/014 Community Center-Special Expense 10/27/14 $41.07

U.S. Bank Corporate Payment System 4246044555703473/014 Community Center-Program Fees 10/27/14 $61.16

Total $4,710.59

Request For Authorization To Pay Invoices  (RFA)

For The Meeting On November 19, 2014 

Town of Discovery Bay, D.Bay L&L Park #8

For Fiscal Year’s 7/14 - 6/15

Agenda Item E-3



Vendor Name Invoice Number Description Invoice Date  Amount

Brentwood Ace Hardware 808/103114 Equipment Maintenance 10/31/14 $25.77

Cintas 185488209 Uniforms 10/29/14 $18.66

Cintas 185489037 Uniforms 11/05/14 $18.66

Fairin Perez OCT 2014 Expense Report 09/28/14 $23.30

I & T Backflow Testing 449 Backflow Tests 10/27/14 $105.00

ProPet Distributors, Inc. 104406 Dog Litter Bags 11/07/14 $216.04

U.S. Bank Corporate Payment System 4246044555703473/014 Equipment 10/27/14 $137.43

U.S. Bank Corporate Payment System 4246044555703473/014 Telephone General 10/27/14 $103.17

U.S. Bank Corporate Payment System 4246044555703473/014 Vehicle & Equipment Fuel 10/27/14 $268.39

U.S. Bank Corporate Payment System 4246044555703473/014 Automotive Supplies & Repairs 10/27/14 $4.65

U.S. Bank Corporate Payment System 4246044555703473/014 Office Supplies 10/27/14 $37.00

Total $958.07

Request For Authorization To Pay Invoices   (RFA)

For The Meeting On November 19, 2014

Town of Discovery Bay, D.Bay L&L Park #9 (Ravenswood)

For Fiscal Year’s 7/14 - 6/15

Agenda Item E-3



 
 

 

 

Town of Discovery Bay  
“A Community Services District” 

AGENDA REPORT 

 
 

Meeting Date 
 
 

November 19, 2014 

 
Prepared By:       Carol McCool, Administrative Assistant/Board Clerk 
Submitted By:     Rick Howard, General Manager    
Agenda Title 
 
Approve and Record the Notice of Completion for the Discovery Bay Pump Station F Rehabilitation Project 
and Authorize Release of the Retention 
 
 
Recommended Action 
 
That the Board: 1) Accept the  Notice of Completion for Koch & Koch, Inc. for the Discovery Bay Pump Station 
F Rehabilitation Project;  2) direct staff to record Notice of Completion with the Contra Costa County 
Recorder’s Office; and 3) to release the retention 35 days after recordation of the Notice of Completion. 
 
 
Executive Summary 
 
Staff has determined that the work specified in the contract has been completed pursuant to the plans and 
specifications for the project.  It is recommended that the work be accepted in accordance with the terms and 
conditions of the contract, including release of retention in the amount of $19,285.00 and the associated 
performance bonds.  The retention will be released 35 days after recordation of the Notice of Completion. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Fiscal Impact:  
 

Amount Requested  $19,285.00 
Sufficient Budgeted Funds Available?:  Yes   (If no, see attached fiscal analysis) 

 Prog/Fund #21-1170-13      Category:  Pers.     Optg.     Cap.       -or-   CIP# X      Fund# BOND 
 

Previous Relevant Board Actions for This Item 
 
Contract Authorization – February 5, 2014 
   
Attachments 
  
Notice of Completion  
 

 
AGENDA ITEM: E-4 

Cinderella
Stamp



  

 
663351-1 

RECORDING REQUESTED BY AND  

WHEN RECORDED RETURN TO: 

 

TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY COMMUNITY  

SERVICES DISTRICT 

1800 Willow Lake Road 

Discovery Bay, CA 94505-9376 

 

 

 

 

 

NOTICE OF COMPLETION 

 

 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT: 

 

1. The undersigned is the Owner who contracted for the work of improvement 

hereinafter described. 

 

2. The full name of the undersigned is: 

 

TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT, 

a Political Subdivision of the State of California. 

 

3. The full address of the undersigned is: 

 

1800 Willow Lake Road 

Discovery Bay, CA 94505-9376 

 

4. The nature of the title of the undersigned is that of a fee holder. 

 

5. A work of improvement on the property hereinafter described was completed on 

            (October 23, 2014). 

 

6. The name of the contractor for such work of improvement is (Koch & Koch, 

Inc.). 

 

7. The property on which said work of improvement was completed is in the 

unincorporated portion of the County of Contra Costa, State of California, and is described as 

follows: 

 

 (Discovery Bay Pump Station F Rehabilitation Project) located at the corner of 

Willow Lake Road and Riverlake Road, Discovery Bay, CA 94505 

 

 

 

Agenda Item E-4



  

 
663351-1 

 

 

8. The work of improvement consists generally of: 

 

A. Discovery Bay Pump Station F Rehabilitation Project 

 

 

 

RICHARD J. HOWARD, GENERAL MANAGER 

FOR TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY 

COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT 

 

      _____________________________________ 

 

 

 

 

 

State of California   ) 

     ) 

County of Contra Costa  ) 

 

 On ____________________, before me, __________________________, a Notary 

Public, personally appeared ________________________________, who proved to me on the 

basis of satisfactory evidence to be the person(s) whose name(s) is/are subscribed to the within 

instrument and acknowledged to me that he/she/they executed the same in his/her/their 

authorized capacity(ies), and that by his/her/their signature(s) on the instrument the person(s), or 

the entity upon behalf of which the person(s) acted, executed the instrument. 

 

 I certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the laws of the State of California that 

the foregoing paragraph is true and correct. 

 

 WITNESS my hand and official seal. 

 

 

________________________________________ 

 

 

Agenda Item E-4



 
 

 

 

Town of Discovery Bay  
“A Community Services District” 

AGENDA REPORT 

 
 

Meeting Date 
 
 

November 19, 2014 

 

Prepared By: Rick Howard, General Manager 
Submitted By: Rick Howard, General Manager  
 
 
Agenda Title 
 

Contract between the Town of Discovery Bay and Digital Deployment, Inc. to Develop a New Web Presence and Website 
 
 
Recommended Action 
 

Approve contract with Digital Deployment, Inc. in the amount of $16,800.00 to develop a new Town of Discovery Bay 
website, and authorize the General Manager to execute all contract documents. 
  
Executive Summary 
 

At the Special Board meeting of November 5, 2014, the Board was given a presentation from Digital Deployment, Inc. to 
consider the development of a new Town website.  The Board directed staff to return to the Board with additional 
information. 
 

The proposed website will completely replace the existing site, and provide the Town with a completely overhauled web 
presence.  The website that is presently deployed is aged, and is using architecture that is over 5 years old.  The site has 
not had any major upgrades since it was rolled out in July 2010.  Staff has worked with Media Macros, its current host, on 
a number of minor “tweaks” over the years to provide improved user accessibility to make updates and to populate the 
site with data and other pertinent information. 
 

Staff contacted Media Macros to obtain a “ball park” price to revamp the existing site.  The pricing noted was roughly 
$14,000, which does include a mobile application.  However, the site would still sit on the same architecture which would 
only have limited upgrades. A completely new site, with a mobile app, is in the $32,000 range.  The original contract 
amount to develop the current website in 2009/2010 was $26,000.00, not including an additional $6,000 in programming 
costs since that time. 
 

Working with the California Special Districts Association, Digital Deployment has rolled out a program for the Town that is 
cost effective, and as noted in the presentation, is all-inclusive.  The $16,800.00 cost not only provides significantly 
improved user interfaces, it also allows staff to create and edit all content on the website; create an easy to use mobile 
experience; and most importantly, it will allow residents to easily find the information that they are seeking.  Additionally, 
the content management system can also function as the TODB intranet, allowing authorized administrators to add, edit, 
and share documents with staff. 
 

During the preparation of the current budget, staff included $10,000.00 for website upgrades.  The Digital Deployment 
proposal obviously exceeds that amount.  However, at the last meeting, the Board did not approve an amount of 
$15,000.00 that is included in the current budget.  Staff proposes that $6,800.00 be reallocated to allow for this contract 
to move forward. 
 
 
Fiscal Impact:  
 

Amount Requested  $16,800.00 
Sufficient Budgeted Funds Available?:   No  (If no, see attached fiscal analysis) 

 Prog/Fund #      Category:  Pers.     Optg.  X   Cap.       -or-   CIP#      Fund# 
 

Previous Relevant Board Actions for This Item 
 

November 5, 2014 - Special Board Meeting Workshop  
   
Attachments 
  

Proposal from Digital Deployment, Inc. 
 

 

AGENDA ITEM: F-1 

Cinderella
Stamp



 

Website Development Proposal 

Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Rick Howard, Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  

Digital Deployment, Inc., Website Development Agreement  Agenda Item F-1



 

Executive Summary 

The Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  seeks a website development firm to strengthen its web presence, 

to improve its capacity to easily edit content, and to improve its ability to communicate with citizens .  

Digital Deployment offers extensive design and development experience with special districts , and proposes developing a 

complete yet lightweight and flexible site structure, enabling the Town of Discovery Bay CSD to meet its needs while 

refreshing the website’s design, improving the way the brand is communicated online (both on the website and on social 

media and other interactive spaces), and building user and stakeholder value. The new content management system 

(CMS)driven website can also function as the DBCSD intranet, allowing authorized administrators to add, edit, and share 

documents and other assets by logging in to the website’s CMS. 

As a result of the redesign, the Town of Discovery Bay CSD’s return on investment will include: (1) saving staff time in 

everyday website maintenance tasks, enabling contribution and collaboration by more staff members; (2) dramatically 

increasing the overall level of service and interaction on the web without increasing staff size; (3) improving site ranking in 

search engines for relevant keywords; (4) understanding site visitors, popular content, and demographics through 

comprehensive reporting; and (5) gaining overall relevance and credibility in the online realm that reflects the professionalism 

of the Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  brand. 

District Transparency Certificate of Excellence requirements assistance 

As a member of the California Special Districts Association (CSDA), Digital Deployment is aligned with the Special District 

Leadership Foundation’s (SDLF) program that seeks to “promote transparency in the operations and governance of special 

districts to the public and to provide special districts with an opportunity to showcase their efforts in transparency.”  

Specifically, we can help California special districts fulfill many of the basic and outreach requirements on the District 

Transparency Certificate of Excellence checklist, and all of the website requirements.  

The District Transparency Certificate of Excellence is one of the key components in attaining the District of Distinction award. 

Website Requirements  

Maintain a district website with the following items: 

●  Names of Board Members and their terms of office  

●  Name of general manager and key staff along with contact information 

●  Election procedure and deadlines 

●  Board meeting schedule (Regular meeting agendas must be posted 72 hours in advance pursuant to Government 

Code Section 54954.2 (a) (1) and Government Code Section 54956 (a)) 

●  District’s mission statement 

●  Description of district’s services/functions and service area 

●  Authorizing statute/enabling act (Principle Act or Special Act) 

Rick Howard, Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  

Digital Deployment, Inc., Website Development Agreement 
1

Agenda Item F-1



 

●  Current district budget 

●  Most recent financial audit 

●  Archive of Board meeting minutes for at least the last 6 months  

●  List of compensation of Board Members and staff and/or link to State Controller’s webpage with the data 

 Website also must include at least 4 of the following items: 

●  Post Board Member ethics training certificates 

●  Picture, biography and email address of board members 

●  Last 3 years of audits 

●  Reimbursement and Compensation Policy 

●  Financial Reserves Policy 

●  Online/downloadable Public Records Act request form 

●  Audio or video recordings of board meetings 

●  Map of district boundaries/service area 

●  Link to California Special Districts Association mapping program 

●  Most recent Municipal Service Review (MSR) and Sphere of Influence (SOI) studies (full document or link to 

document on another site) 

Outreach/Best Practices Requirements 

Digital Deployment’s Bundle and Blast™ feature allows special districts to easily create required content and circulate it via 

website email blasts, helping to fulfill two of the SDLF Outreach/Best Practices Requirements: 

● Regular district newsletter or communication (printed and/or electronic) that keeps the public, constituents and 

elected officials uptodate on district activities (at least twice annually) 

○  Provide copy of most recent communication and short description on the frequency of the communication, 

how it’s distributed and to whom  

● Community notification through press release to local media outlet announcing upcoming filing deadline for election 

and process for seeking a position on the district board, prior to that election (or prior to the most recent deadline for 

consideration of new appointments for those districts with board members appointed to fixedterms)  

○ Provide copy of the press release (and the printed article if available)  

 

   

Rick Howard, Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  

Digital Deployment, Inc., Website Development Agreement 
2

Agenda Item F-1



 

Table of Contents 
Part 1: How Work will be Completed 

○ The 5Phase Process 

○ Website Deliverables 

○ Timeline 

Part 2: Description of Deliverables 

Part 3: Support and Maintenance 

Part 4: About Digital Deployment 

○ Our Philosophy 

○ Our Team 

Part 5: Relevant Projects and References 

Part 6: Service Agreement 

 

 

 

 

 

   

Rick Howard, Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  

Digital Deployment, Inc., Website Development Agreement 
3

Agenda Item F-1



 

Website Development Scope of Work 

The services rendered by the Developer include a structured series of phases and all professional services necessary for the 

completion of all deliverables outlined in Part 2: Description of Deliverables. 

Part 1: How Work will be Completed 

5Phase Process 

For this project, five "phases" will be scheduled after the project is approved and before development commences. We 

recommend these five phases to complete the process in the most effective way and allow time for stakeholder input, design 

review, training, and collaboration. 

 

● Phase 1: Inventory and site planning  

● Phase 2: Present architecture and content plan, explore design approach 

● Phase 3: Present designs, finalize architecture and content plan 

● Break: Implement design and content plan in sandbox 

● Phase 4: Content kickoff: training, migration, curation 

● Phase 5: Capability and capacity checks  

● Content Curation / Service Level Agreement (SLA) begins 

● Launch: Final review scheduled and completed, site launches  

 
Digital Deployment includes a complimentary postlaunch review meeting to monitor site traffic and user engagement after 

going live. Additional postlaunch meetings may be scheduled or recommended as described later in this proposal under the 

"comprehensive service agreement options" section. Digital Deployment is very supportive of presenting to and meeting with 

stakeholders throughout the process. 

 

Rick Howard, Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  

Digital Deployment, Inc., Website Development Agreement 
4

Agenda Item F-1



 

Basecamp: Project Management System 

Digital Deployment uses Basecamp, one of the most popular and useful online project management tools, to manage the 

website development process, facilitate communication between team members, track todo items, track the status of 

deadlines, distribute meeting agendas and notes, provide technical support to the client, answer frequently asked questions, 

and support "institutional memory" – providing the client with a single place to find any and all communication about the 

website. This tool offers several advantages over traditional email communication: 

1. If the client has a new staff person, he or she can go back and see all communication they missed prior to being a 

part of the project. 

2. If the client asks a question, the response time from Digital Deployment is tracked and available for everyone to see. 

3. When Digital Deployment answers a question, that answer becomes available to everyone on the team. 

4. Members of the client's team can subscribe to daily digest updates of the project, summarizing all messages, 

milestones, documents, and todos that were worked on during the day without needing to be CC'd on every 

communication. 

5. Basecamp works with email and is very intuitive and easy to use.  

 

 

Rick Howard, Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  

Digital Deployment, Inc., Website Development Agreement 
5

Agenda Item F-1



 

 

 

 

Rick Howard, Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  

Digital Deployment, Inc., Website Development Agreement 
6

Agenda Item F-1



 

Helpdesk: Ongoing Support System 

When we present your sandbox in phase 4, and as part of your ongoing Service Level Agreement (SLA), you will be given an 

account for Digital Deployment’s Helpdesk system. This SLA clientsonly website contains a Knowledge Base, provides you 

a convenient way to Submit a Ticket, and joins you with other Digital Deployment clients in our Community Forums. 

Knowledge Base  A whole bunch of documented solutions, all in one place. Getting started, best practices, tips for access 

control and just about everything else you can imagine you’ll need to maximize the benefits of your new website. 

Submit a Ticket  when you have a problem or a question that’s not covered in the knowledge base. 

Community Forums  Discuss new ideas with the entire DD community, vote and help new features get implemented! 

 

We invite you to check out the helpdesk and get a sense of the depth of articles at http://support.digitaldeployment.com. 

 

Rick Howard, Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  

Digital Deployment, Inc., Website Development Agreement 
7

Agenda Item F-1

http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fsupport.digitaldeployment.com&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNHpaUeSpuB8gYf7-b6UPXBwQ8ha-g


 

   

Rick Howard, Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  

Digital Deployment, Inc., Website Development Agreement 
8

Agenda Item F-1



 

Website Deliverables 

The website, as described below, will be delivered over the course of the 5phase development process. 

Timeline 

Digital Deployment will work with the client to determine the time, date and location of meetings. The 5phase process 

generally takes 12 weeks, with the each phase occurring approximately two weeks apart, and a four week break between 

phases 3 and 4. After the phase 5 is complete, the client may choose when to launch, as the site is launchready. The client 

may take as much time as needed to finalize their content prior to launch. 

   

Rick Howard, Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  

Digital Deployment, Inc., Website Development Agreement 
9

Agenda Item F-1



 

 

Part 2: Description of Deliverables 

This development agreement provides the delivery of all objectives listed below. 

Training and Documentation 

● Developer will provide online documentation describing the operation of the content management system for each 

feature. The documentation is dynamic and changes automatically as new types of content become available and 

new features are added, and will automatically customize itself to the role of the user viewing it. 

● Developer will make both a printfriendly and HTML version of the help system available at 

http://www.townofdiscoverybay.org//help 

● Developer will provide Client staff training on the website content management system, including but not limited to: 

how to add a page; how to edit a page; how to edit the site map and add or edit navigation terms; how to add, edit or 

delete ”users” and assign various "permissions" (levels of ability to add, edit, or manage content); how to post files 

and attachments; how to add pictures and/or video, and how to reset user passwords. 

Rick Howard, Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  

Digital Deployment, Inc., Website Development Agreement 
10

Agenda Item F-1



 

 

An example page from the online manual. Each manual is customized for the needs of the client and averages 1030 pages in 

length. 

 

Full Section 508 and W3C Standards Compliance 

● Digital Deployment, Inc. will perform a standards validation test and a site web accessibility check demonstrating that 

the Client’s website complies with section 508 of the Federal Rehabilitation Act (29 U.S.C. §794d) and the W3C’s 

Web Access Initiative to help protect the Client from liability arising from having an inaccessible website. 

● Developer will also provide content management system plugins (e.g. the htmlpurifier module) to ensure 

Clientadded content adheres to these standards. 

● To ensure that the website is compatible with future browsers and devices, the website will be developed using the 

HTML5 and/or XHTML Strict format, and will use a W3C approved document type definition. 

 

Rick Howard, Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  

Digital Deployment, Inc., Website Development Agreement 
11

Agenda Item F-1



 

Content: Management System Framework 

● Developer will provide a content management system that will allow authorized users to create and edit pages on the 

Client’s website directly through their web browser, with no special software required. 

● Developer will provide a webbased editor that will allow Client staff and authorized users to edit content for the 

Client’s website in a collaborative environment, including the ability to upload, import, create and manipulate text, 

images, tables and other HTML elements. 

● The content management system will provide for the ability to create various types of content on the site, 

customizable to meet the Client's needs. 

● The content management system will include an automatic "paste from Word" feature that will support 

copyingandpasting from Microsoft Word documents into the Client’s website pages, while stripping any problematic 

code. 

● The content management system will include a revisiontracking system that will display a list of all changes made to 

a particular page or post, with the capacity for Site Administrators to revert to a previous version of the page or 

approve a revision suggested by other

 

Intranet Capabilities: Access Control System 

● The CMS will include an access control system for posting, editing and sharing internal content such as board 

minutes. Access to any content can be limited to a certain group of users on a pagebypage basis, or by navigation 

term (section of the site). 

● The access control system can also function as the DBCSD intranet, allowing authorized administrators to add, edit, 

and share documents and other assets by logging in to the website’s CMS. 

● Since it is built into the website CMS, there is no additional expense for graphic design or usability of the intranet. 

The area of the site that is used as an intranet will look and function the same as the rest of the site. 

 

 

Rick Howard, Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  

Digital Deployment, Inc., Website Development Agreement 
12

Agenda Item F-1



 

 

Content: Migration of Existing Content 

● The Developer will migrate all content from the Client's current site to the new site. The Developer's goal is 100% 

empowerment of the Client to manage all its website content going forward, including text, images, attachments, 

multimedia, links, navigation, site users and user roles. 

● Developer will fully empower the Client to manage their content on the new website through training sessions, 

constant support, extensive documentation, and advanced content migration and automation tools such as 

servertoserver file and image transfer.  

● The Developer encourages the practice of migrating content first, then editing and revising the content second. This 

is recommended for three reasons: (1) the migration goes much faster, (2) the task can be more easily delegated to 

those who wish to learn how to use the website, and (3) the content management system stores all the revisions 

made to the content, so each change is documented for future reference. This gives the Client a historical look at all 

content moved to the new site. 

 

 

 

 

Rick Howard, Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  

Digital Deployment, Inc., Website Development Agreement 
13

Agenda Item F-1



 

Content: Video, Community Features and Social Media Integration 

● The content management system will provide the site administrator with the ability to easily embed video into the site 

from various platforms, including Vimeo and YouTube. The content management system will automatically generate 

thumbnails (with the ability to customize) and will render the video in a way that complies with web standards and 

also works with mobile devices that do not support Adobe Flash, such as the iPad and iPhone 

 

 

● The content management system will provide logged in users with the ability to comment on content, post topics for 

discussion / commenting, and share content via various social media platforms. This can be allowed/disallowed by 

the Client as needed on a perpage or perpost basis. 

● The content management system will provide logged in users with the ability to submit various posts such as events, 

news releases, announcements, committee documents, etc., for consideration at the discretion of the site 

administrator. Any submitted content could be approved by the site administrator, although certain users could be 

authorized to post without the need for approval. 

● The content management system will provide any user with the ability to share public content on the user's 

Facebook, Twitter, Google+, LinkedIn or other social network platform.  

● The content management system will provide the site administrator with the ability to quickly crosspost important 

content (such as upcoming events or press releases) onto the Client's Twitter, Facebook, Blogger, Tumblr, or other 

supported social publishing system without having to retype or format the content. Crossposted content will point 

Rick Howard, Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  

Digital Deployment, Inc., Website Development Agreement 
14

Agenda Item F-1



 

back to the website for additional information, when appropriate. 

● The content management system provides designated user roles (administrators, members, etc.) the ability to claim, 

maintain, and edit a member profile, allowing realtime updating of member content. This includes email address, 

phone number, mailing address, biography, parent organization, and picture. 

Content: Advanced Webforms 

● The content management system will provide the Client with the ability to build forms (standard or conditional), 

surveys, and questionnaires that can be filled out by site visitors, similar to Survey Monkey™. Client will be able to 

view, analyze and download these results as an Excel Spreadsheet. 

● The content management system will allow the Client to append form fields to any post on the website, turning any 

content into a webform.  

● The content management system will allow the Client to protect forms from spam submissions using CAPTCHA 

technology. This requires users to type a code into a confirmation box to prove they are human, making it difficult for 

spambots to fill out the form.  

● The content management system will allow the Client to build microforms that can be placed in sidebars or 

practically anywhere on one or more pages. The microforms use AJAX technology (they submit smoothly and do 

not require the page to be refreshed) allowing them to display a confirmation message immediately. 

● The content management system allows contact forms to be created that can send email messages to members of 

the Client's staff without exposing email addresses, if desired. In addition, any email addresses that are included on 

the website are protected from spambots (email harvesting). 

 

Rick Howard, Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  

Digital Deployment, Inc., Website Development Agreement 
15

Agenda Item F-1



 

 

Rick Howard, Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  

Digital Deployment, Inc., Website Development Agreement 
16

Agenda Item F-1



 

 

Content: URL Aliases and Redirects 

● The URLs for the content management system navigation terms and "pages" are created automatically when 

creating content, and are searchengine friendly. 

● The content management system will provide the Client with the ability to make URL aliases so pages can be 

assigned short, natural links that are easy to share and remember (e.g. http://www.townofdiscoverybay.org//contact). 

● The content management system will provide the Client with the ability to redirect any post to another URL (e.g. 

http://www.townofdiscoverybay.org//annualevent could be redirected to 

http://ourannualevent.eventbrite.com/register). 

Design: Site MockUp and Design Concepts 

● Developer will design two productionquality digital mockups of the Client’s new site based on the preferences 

identified in Phase I. Mockups provide a simulation of a finished home page and/or primary landing page early in the 

development process. 

Rick Howard, Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  

Digital Deployment, Inc., Website Development Agreement 
17

Agenda Item F-1



 

● Developer will utilize the Client's current branding, color scheme, and logo to design the new website. 

● Developer will revise and integrate the design into the content management system in an iterative fashion based on 

client feedback. 

● Developer will construct the site's theme using strict XHTML and cascading style sheets (CSS) to ensure compliance 

with web accessibility standards and consistent display on current and future browsers. Older browsers will be 

accommodated as much as possible, however, Client understands that not all older browsers will display pages 

exactly the same way as modern browsers. Developer will make reasonable attempts to accommodate older 

browsers, ensuring that all content is readable on older nonstandardscompliant browsers. In rare and special 

cases, Client may wish to have their website designed specifically for an older browser. These requests can be 

accommodated, however, Client understands that designing a website to display for an older nonstandard browser 

may lead to inconsistencies when displayed in future browsers, and the inability to take advantage of newer 

functionality. 

● Developer will design navigation bars to be textbased so both primary and secondary links can be changed through 

the content management system. (Textbased links are also very search engine friendly.) 

 

 

   

Rick Howard, Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  

Digital Deployment, Inc., Website Development Agreement 
18

Agenda Item F-1



 

Graphic Design mockups simulate the look and feel of a finished site early in the development process. They help the client determine what 

image and brand they want to portray to the public at a "gut level".  After the design comp is approved, the sandbox and content structure are 

"themed" to match. 

 

 

In the above case, the client liked elements of both A (the green comp) and B (the blue comp). 

Rick Howard, Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  

Digital Deployment, Inc., Website Development Agreement 
19

Agenda Item F-1



 

 

Incorporating the client's feedback and preferences, the design team deconstructed the comp and evaluated the elements favored most 

by the client. Then implementing the design into the content management system, they incorporated elements from the previous two 

designs in a logical and cohesive way. The client provided ongoing feedback as the design (called the "theme") was being deployed into 

the content management system. 

 

Content: Navigation Terms and Post Types 

● The content management system will provide the Client with the ability to create posts and pages that can be 

organized by ”navigation term.” 

● Posts tagged to a navigation term can be listed on the site chronologically, or ordered manually using a "reorder" 

function. They can be listed in summary, with a read more link, or in full, expanded form.  

● The content management system will provide the Client with the ability to create different kinds of posts and 

designate certain fields to be used on that type of post. Examples of post types include: press releases, 

announcements, documents, blog posts, upcoming event information. Examples of fields include, but are not limited 

to: file attachments, slideshow images, event date(s), expiration date, subtitle, related content, author profile. 

● The content management system will provide the Client with the ability to rename, reorder, link, and assign a 

hierarchy to the navigation terms in an intuitive draganddrop format. This functionality allows the client to build a 

traditional site map within the content management system and organize information within the website in a way that 

is easy to revise throughout the process. 

● The content management system will automatically synchronize the navigation terms with the site's primary and 

secondary navigation menus. This allows the site administrator to quickly make significant changes to the site's 

structure without destabilizing the design or functionality. 

● The content management system will provide the Client with the ability to create unpublished or accesscontrolled 

Rick Howard, Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  

Digital Deployment, Inc., Website Development Agreement 
20

Agenda Item F-1



 

navigation terms. This will allow the Client to draft entire landing pages of the site and test before taking the section 

live. It also provides the Client with the ability to create dedicated areas of the site that are only available to certain 

types of users. 

Content: Post Once, Display Many Ways 

● The content management system will provide the Client with the ability to display the same content different ways. 

For example, as a "Pod" or sidebar link, as a "Teaser" with a read more link, in brief format in a grid, in email blasts, 

on social media sites, and other formats that enhance the site's design.   

● Any post can also also be "posted" (or tagged) to appear in multiple places on the site without actually duplicating 

the content, allowing outdated information to be corrected only once without the need to change each instance of the 

outdated information on the site. This also helps the client to avoid search engine's "duplicate content" penalty, 

potentially increasing search engine ranking. 

● As an example, the following displays can be easily be created when the user creates a publication post called 

"Mental Health Law": 

 

Full display 

 

Teaser display 

 

Rick Howard, Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  

Digital Deployment, Inc., Website Development Agreement 
21

Agenda Item F-1



 

Pod display 

 

Brief / grid display 

 

Display when "bundled and blasted" via 
email (simple mode) 

 

Rick Howard, Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  

Digital Deployment, Inc., Website Development Agreement 
22

Agenda Item F-1



 

Display when shared on social media 
(e.g. on Facebook) 

 

 

Content: Flexible Templates, Channels and Classes 

● The content management system will provide the Client with the ability to easily change the template on any landing 

page (navigation term) within the site.  

● Templates are created by the Developer throughout the website development process, and define the way posts 

should be displayed in a section (navigation term) of the site. 

● The content management system will define regions for posts to display called "channels" allowing the Client to 

create and designate types of content to display in appropriate areas. (e.g. Upper links will always display at the top 

of the page in the upper links channel.  Overviews will always stay at the top of a landing page and make have a 

different display than other content in that section. Pods may typically display on the right side of the page, but move 

to a different position or disappear altogether depending on the template the Client selects for the navigation term. 

All of these types are examples.) All post types, channels and templates are tailored to needs of the client.  

 

 

 

 

Rick Howard, Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  

Digital Deployment, Inc., Website Development Agreement 
23

Agenda Item F-1



 

 
This example shows how the site administrator can change a page from the "Standard" template to the "Columns" (grid) 
template using the template control bar at the bottom of the page. 

 

 

Rick Howard, Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  

Digital Deployment, Inc., Website Development Agreement 
24

Agenda Item F-1



 

 

Content: Basic and Advanced Faceted Search 

● The content management system will provide the enduser with the ability to search all site content by keyword, by 
date, by category, by author, and/or by type of post. 

● After a keyword search is performed, the enduser may filter their results by any or all of these facets, in addition to 
searching live or archived content. 

● The enduser will see dynamic counts for each term when drilling down. 

If a user searched for the keyword “service” which yielded 12 responses, the date facet could be constructed like: 

● 2010 (2) 
● 2009 (10) 

Clicking on 2009 would filter the results to the 10 results that were posted in 2009, and would display another date filter: 

● Jan 2009 (2) 
● Mar 2009 (4) 
● Jul 2009 (3) 
● Dec 2009 (1) 

And from there, the user could further drill down the results. 

 

Rick Howard, Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  

Digital Deployment, Inc., Website Development Agreement 
25

Agenda Item F-1



 

CalendarStyle Displays 

● The content management system will provide the ability for content contributors to add events to a sitewide 

calendar. Events can be colorcoded and filtered by type, and downloaded in Excel for offline use.   

 

 

Rick Howard, Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  

Digital Deployment, Inc., Website Development Agreement 
26

Agenda Item F-1



 

 

   

Rick Howard, Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  

Digital Deployment, Inc., Website Development Agreement 
27

Agenda Item F-1



 

Integration of External Web Services for Online Registration, Donations, and Ecommerce 

● The content management system will support the two methods of integrating external / thirdparty online registration, 

donations, and ecommerce web services, such as EventBrite, RegOnline, CVENT, DonateNow, etc: embedded and 

linkbased integration.  

● The content management system makes it easy for site administrators to build a page that provides information 

about an event (for example) on their website, then to integrate the event registration form on that page, even if the 

actual event registration is handled by another web service. Through integration, the user can complete registration 

without the appearance of leaving a Town of Discovery Bay CSDbranded site.  

● The two examples below illustrate two levels of integration. The first example shows how an EventBrite registration 

form is embedded directly into the event page. The second example shows how the event description page can link 

to the registration page. Many platforms support the first method (embedded integration) and nearly all event 

platforms support the second method (linkbased integration).  

 

Rick Howard, Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  

Digital Deployment, Inc., Website Development Agreement 
28

Agenda Item F-1



 

Example 1: Embedded Integration 

 

The 3rd party event registration widget (EventBrite) is embedded directly into the page by the content 

management system. (The widget in this example is the "Ticket information" rectangle below, which matches the 

look and feel of the site.)  

 

 

 

Rick Howard, Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  

Digital Deployment, Inc., Website Development Agreement 
29

Agenda Item F-1



 

Example 2: Linkbased Integration with custom theming 

 

 
 
The content management system 
hosts all the information about the 
event.  
 
The large red "register now" button  
upper right links the user to the 3rd  
party system for login and registration  
in a new window or tab, leaving the  
main site open in the background.  

 

 
 
The 3rd party web service has been  
themed using Webwrap™, our  
trademarked technology, to match the  
site.  
 
   

 

Consulting: 3rd party integration of web service 

● In addition to providing the time necessary to provide linked integration to the 3rd party web service(s), this scope of 

work provides up to 10 hours of additional time for "fit and finish" consulting and development with the goal of 

improving the look and feel of the identified 3rd party web services. 

● Digital Deployment recommends selecting 3rd party vendor(s) which allow custom CSS to be added to applicable 

pages to maximize its ability to match the look and feel of the site via use of our Webwrap™ technology.  

● Digital Deployment is available to assist the Client in evaluating potential vendors at the request of the Client. 

Content: Electronic Newsletter Management System 

● The content management system will provide the Client with the ability to create one or more electronic newsletters. 

● This agreement provides for the design of two (2) newsletter headers for the organization for use with the "Bundle 

and Blast" newsletter delivery system. 

● Each newsletter can have one or more issues. Client may create as many issues for a newsletter as they wish. 

● Each newsletter issue is comprised of articles or posts created in/chosen from the content management system. 

Each newsletter will feature headlines and summaries of the selected posts with “read more” links leading to the 

website. This allows the Client to track which posts are most popular with readers. 

● The newsletter can be broadcast to subscribers. Subscribers may signup for the newsletter via the website, or they 

can be imported by the Client from an existing list (e.g. Excel Spreadsheet through the website.) Addresses may 

Rick Howard, Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  

Digital Deployment, Inc., Website Development Agreement 
30

Agenda Item F-1



 

also be bulk assigned to newsletters. A list of emails could be subscribed to both the Town of Discovery Bay CSD 

community updates and the Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  Quarterly Newsletter, for example. 

(Note that the actual names of newsletters are decided as part of the 5Phase Process.) 

● Every email will contain an unsubscribe link, in case the recipient no longer wishes to receive the newsletter. 

● Client understands that graphics in emails are blocked by some email programs and that certain recipients may only 

be able to read textonly versions of the email, and others may not receive the newsletters at all. Delivery and 

readability of email newsletters are dependent on a number of factors, including a recipient’s email security settings, 

internet service provider policies and thirdparty firewall and spamfiltering software.  

 

Rick Howard, Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  

Digital Deployment, Inc., Website Development Agreement 

31
Agenda Item F-1



 

   

Bundle & Blast™: The content management system will allow you to choose existing content on your site, bundle it into a newsletter, 

and blast it to recipients without needing to retype or reformat the document in any way. The stories listed under "recent 

developments" the email above are pages on the client's site bundled into an email. 

A robust customized email template is one of many features included with the newsletter management system. They are 

mobiledevice tested with special rules that automate text resizing on smaller devices. 

 

   

Rick Howard, Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  

Digital Deployment, Inc., Website Development Agreement 
32

Agenda Item F-1



 

Advanced Traffic Analysis and Search Engine Optimization 

The Client’s website will give the Client the ability to create and organize content in such a way to improve search engine 

rankings of the Client’s website, and make content on the site more relevant to search terms likely to be used by potential 

site visitors in search engine queries. Specifically, the Client’s website will give the Client the ability to: 

● Create and manage specific language used by search engines to index and rank website content, including visible 

and nonvisible “tags” such as keywords and metatags (nonvisible index terms), for all primary links and landing 

pages. This will enable major Internet search engines to better connect potential site visitors to material on the 

Client’s website. 

● Embed Google Analytics tracking script on all pages. 

● Use Google Analytics for monitoring site traffic to improve understanding of site visitors and their behavior on the 

Client’s website (such as which content is most popular, identifying new versus returning site visitors, identifying 

where visitors are located geographically, how visitors reach the site, and what search terms visitors used with 

search engines to find the Town of Discovery Bay CSD site). 

● Developer will provide training on use of the tools and capabilities described above. 

 

This screenshot demonstrates the ability to visualize visitors geographically. 

Rick Howard, Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  

Digital Deployment, Inc., Website Development Agreement 
33

Agenda Item F-1



 

 

 

Google Analytics allows the client to monitor site traffic to improve understanding of site visitors and their behavior on the Client’s 

website (such as which content is most popular, identifying new versus returning site visitors, identifying where visitors are located 

geographically, how visitors reach the site, and what search terms visitors used with search engines).  

Rick Howard, Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  

Digital Deployment, Inc., Website Development Agreement 
34

Agenda Item F-1



 

 

 

Digital Deployment has developed enhancements to provide better integration with Google Analytics. One such enhancement, 

included in this proposal, empowers site administrators to see heat maps of popular content and clicks, realtime site traffic flow, and 

user segment data overlaid on their site. 

 

 

   

Rick Howard, Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  

Digital Deployment, Inc., Website Development Agreement 
35

Agenda Item F-1



 

 

Digital Deployment Mobile Platform 

 
What is DD Mobile? 

DD Mobile is a mobile delivery platform and service offered by Digital Deployment 

which provides a new way to display your website in a way where the site's content is 

optimized for handheld devices. Note: Participation in the DD Mobile program requires 

that clients currently have a Service Level Agreement (SLA) with Digital Deployment. 

But wait, doesn’t my Digital Deployment site already work on mobile 
devices? 

Yes, it does, however the number of columns, text size and spacing aren’t optimized for 

a handheld device, and may require your users to zoom and pan to read all content. 

We call that “mobilefriendly,” and our sites perform very well on mobile devices, but it’s 

not a mobile platform.  Among other innovations, the platform leverages numerous 

improvements such as clicktocall and swiping that would not be available on a 

traditional desktop environment. 

Is DD Mobile an App? 

Yes and No. It is technically an HTML5 app. 

● We would answer “No” only in that the App is not available in the app store, so you can’t make money from selling it 

there. 

● Otherwise, the answer is “Yes” in that it can be installed, and has an icon that appears on your home screen that 

runs as an App. 

● HTML5 apps are become increasingly popular for those whose revenue strategy does not depend on App sales 

revenue and who want to have an app that is ubiquitous across nearly all smartphone devices. (iPhone, Android.) 

Native Devicespecific apps sold in the app store offer better performance for graphicintensive or 

accelerometerdependent applications like Games, however, for contentrich apps, HTML5 has become a more 

common standard. 

● The new Google Maps for iPhone is an example of an HTML5 app. 

 

Rick Howard, Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  

Digital Deployment, Inc., Website Development Agreement 
36

Agenda Item F-1



 

   

The mobile platform features an administrative interface for clients to change their homepage links,  

navigation, icons, and other settings. 

 

   

Rick Howard, Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  

Digital Deployment, Inc., Website Development Agreement 
37

Agenda Item F-1



 

What is the difference between my website and my app? 

Because of the highlyintegrated nature of your website and the DD mobile app, your website, when viewed on a handheld 

device, and your App become one. This means that if someone follows a link to your website that you email out on their 

handheld device, they will automatically see the DD Mobile version of the site. If they open the same email on their desktop, 

they will see the website normally. 

Basically, DD Mobile makes your site beautiful on handheld devices when viewed from any mobile browser and also makes 

your website installable as an App on most mobile phones. 

DD Mobile app general infrastructure 
● Digital Deployment will develop an HTML5 mobile app platform using a generally accepted framework, such as 

jQuery and jQuery Mobile, for most app functions. 

● Digital Deployment will create an HTML5 base template for the mobile app platform that differs from the main site’s 

template. (The site’s main template is currently XHTML to maximize compatibility with older browsers.) 

● Digital Deployment will create a mechanism to automatically detect handheld devices and serve them the 

mobileoptimized version of the content. 

● Digital Deployment will design the page to use WAIARIA roles for accessibility. 

● Digital Deployment will ensure that the mobile platform uses AJAXbased requests on compatible devices to prevent 

page refreshes. 

● Digital Deployment will program the back and forward buttons on the browser to be fully functional despite the 

asynchronous nature of the requests. 

● Digital Deployment will create the DD mobile platform such that an applike toolbar is present at the top of all pages. 

○ The mobile platform will have persistent toolbar links at the bottom of all pages that highlight when active 

and display a short title and an icon. 

○ The mobile platform will utilize appropriate transitions between pages, including slide and fades consistent 

with the user’s present location and any navigation action. 

○ The mobile platform will provide the ability to collapse the navigation and toolbars on appropriate devices 

when the user is typing content into a form field to maximize space for an onscreen keyboard overlay. 

○ The mobile platform will have the option of opening external links in a new mobile browsing window. 

● Digital Deployment will develop an administration screen available to certain roles deemed appropriate (e.g. system 

admin) to perform certain functions, such as customizing the start page, changing the block mappings, changing app 

colors, overriding splash screens, changing the app name, and other administrative functions. 

Conversion of content zones into a singlecolumn display 
● Digital Deployment will take the client’s website and analyze the different content blocks and zones. Digital 

Deployment will create the DD Mobile platform such that it will retrieve the existing content blocks and map them to 

four standard mobile zones. 

 

Rick Howard, Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  

Digital Deployment, Inc., Website Development Agreement 
38

Agenda Item F-1



 

 
 

App performance requirements 
● Bicubic image resampling: The DD Mobile platform will serve the appropriate image sizes to the handheld device, 

downsampling images (using a bicubic scaling algorithm) when appropriate. 

● Optimization for Retina display: The DD Mobile platform will automatically oversample images beyond 72ppi as 

appropriate for Apple’s Retina display and other high pixelperinch displays. Digital Deployment will implement a 

single image preset that accommodates both resolutions as well as possible. 

● Clientside caching: The DD Mobile platform will use DOM object caching, browser manifests, and DOM 

prefetching when appropriate to optimize speed. 

● No ‘sync’ or delay is ever present when updating: Digital Deployment will ensure that cache clearing 

mechanisms are fully synchronized with the main website. This means that content which has been updated and 

displays live for anonymous users on the website will always also be available on the mobile device. 

● Serve static library resources from Content Delivery Networks (CDNs): The DD Mobile platform will load the 

jQuery and jQuery mobile javascript and CSS files from the Google CDN for optimal performance and bypass 

Drupal’s less performant aggregation and caching mechanism. 

Universal links and URL/URI infrastructure 

Rick Howard, Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  

Digital Deployment, Inc., Website Development Agreement 
39

Agenda Item F-1



 

● Uses the same URLs regardless of device. Digital Deployment will ensure that if users on a client’s app share a 

link with others, the shared link will open in the correct environment regardless of what device the sharer used. 

Digital Deployment will not use a special subdomain to handle mobile traffic. 

● Supplies canonical source links and follows the canonical url specification on all post pages. Digital 

Deployment will add <link rel=’canonical’ … tags to the top of each postlevel page to ensure that the correct 

(primary) domain and primary URL is shared and correctly indexed by search engines.   

Practical examples of why universal links matter 
● Sharing between users: Suppose a site does not use the same URL regardless of device, and redirects all traffic to 

use a special subdomain, e.g., m.website.com. User A accesses a link she received via email the site on her mobile 

phone and is redirected to m.website.com/article.html. User A chooses to share the article with her friends on 

Facebook, and ends up sharing m.website.com/article.html with her friends. User B, sitting in their office, pulls up 

m.website.com/article.html which is perhaps an innappropriate view for that user. User B chooses to “like” the article, 

and ends up accidentally liking the mobile version, effectively dividing the total number of “likes” between the two 

urls. User B also goes to print the page, and it does not print correctly. 

● Google Analytics tracking: By using the same URLs, goal workflows and general traffic reports do not have to be 

separately tracked and totalled—instead they all included in the same report in order to get the full picture of user 

engagement. This saves the website administrator a great deal of time. 

Customizable start page and loading screen 
● Digital Deployment will provide the Client with the ability to manage a special mobile start page. The client will have 

the ability to add and remove up to six custom links / shortcuts for mobile users. 

● Digital Deployment will provide the necessary design services to render a brandappropriate background for the start 

page.  Client will have the ability to change this image with a new image of the appropriate dimensions and format 

without needing to contact Digital Deployment for assistance. 

● Digital Deployment will provide the necessary design services to render a brandappropriate splash page for users 

on select devices (e.g. iPhone) who have installed the app on their devices. The splash screen displays while the 

app is initially loaded. Client will have the ability to change this image with a new image of the appropriate 

dimensions and format without needing to contact Digital Deployment for assistance. Digital Deployment cannot 

guarantee that splash images will be read by all devices or future devices. 

 

 

   

Rick Howard, Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  

Digital Deployment, Inc., Website Development Agreement 
40

Agenda Item F-1



 

Creation of four content block zones 
● Digital Deployment will provide the ability to map the blocks into four different 

content zones. Each zone can contain one or more blocks. Digital 

Deployment will determine the appropriate mapping of blocks to zones in 

collaboration with the client. 

Zone 0  Carousel Zone (Title/Subtitle/Image) 

● The Carousel Zone will display only the Title and Subtitle of the posts 

assigned to blocks assigned to that zone. It will also display the carousel 

image or another designated image preset geometrically appropriate for that 

area. 

● The subtitle will display on a single line. If the subtitle is longer than the line 

allows, an ellipsis will be added at the end. 

● The carousel zone will cycle through the posts contained in it. 

● The carousel zone will advance to the next item by a swipe motion from the 

user. 

Zone 1  Main Content (Full Display) 

● The main content zone will allow any posts assigned to blocks assigned to 

that content zone to fully display. This zone will be configured to accept the 

overview posts on term pages and the full post display block on full post 

pages. 

Zone 2  Teasers (6 lines) 

● The teaser content zone will display 6 lines of text including the post title (in 

bold), the subtitle, any meta information, such as author or date (appropriately derived from the post type default 

behavior on the main site) and teaser text. Any content in excess of 6 lines will be hidden until the user clicks on the 

item to display more. 

● In the teaser content zone, all posts are clickable to fully reveal their contents in another pane regardless of their 

clickability on the main site. 

● Images will be included in the teasers, appropriately sized and floated to the right. 

● Images will reuse existing imagecache presets where appropriate to minimize the need for the administrator to crop 

images twice  once for the main site and once for mobile. 

● Teasers will support the display of noncroppable images, such as logos, although they may be forced to a very 

small size. 

Zone 3  Small Teasers (4 lines) 

● The small teaser content zone will display 4 lines of text including the post title (in bold), the subtitle, any meta 

Rick Howard, Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  

Digital Deployment, Inc., Website Development Agreement 
41

Agenda Item F-1



 

information, such as author or date (appropriately derived from the post type default behavior on the main site) and 

teaser text. Any content in excess of 6 lines will be hidden until the user clicks on the item to display more. 

● In the teaser content zone, all posts are clickable to fully reveal their contents in another pane regardless of their 

clickability on the main site. 

● Images will be included in the small teasers, appropriately sized and floated to the right. 

Advanced Mobile Functionality Concepts 
● The mobile platform will allow users to easily email themselves an attachment or print it from the device. Note that 

printing capability will depend on native device support, however, Digital Deployment will follow best practices for 

providing the document to them. 

● The mobile platform will provide for a enlarged text version for iPad Mini, and an optional enlarged text version for 

iPad 

Advanced Content Processing 
● The mobile platform will automatically convert all US phone numbers into clickable buttons / links compatible with the 

tel: protocol as defined in RFC 3966, allowing users to quickly call numbers they see on the website. 

● The mobile platform will automatically exclude any phone numbers that are not relevant to the handheld user, such 

as fax numbers. The mobile platform will analyze all phone numbers and hide those containing the keyword “Fax”. 

● The mobile platform will intelligently understand extension numbers regardless of how they are entered, and 

correctly interpret them, adding a pause between the phone number dialed and the entry of the extension number. 

The mobile platform will also tolerate the presence or absence of a +1 prefix and still calculate extensions correctly. 

● The mobile platform will intelligently process form items, widening buttons, normalizing text field widths. 

● Large tables in the content will be automatically given an overflow: scroll property 

Advanced Template / View Support 
● The mobile platform will automatically interpret nonstandard navigation term templates, e.g. staff directories or other 

custom views. 

● The mobile platform will add a quick search box on the top of appropriate views for quick and instant filtering by 

keyword. 

Mobile Calendar Capability 
● Digital Deployment will design a special calendar interface specifically for mobile, enlarging date numbers and days 

of the week, in a single column. The interface will allow users to browse back and forth through months. 

 
Mobile Platform Compatibility 
Digital Deployment will design the platform to be compatible with most modern mobile browsers. Some less compatible 

Rick Howard, Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  

Digital Deployment, Inc., Website Development Agreement 
42

Agenda Item F-1



 

devices will be automatically returned to the standard XHTML nonmobile version of the site. Digital Deployment will work 

with the client to determine the proper compatibility threshold.   

Assumptions and Important Disclosures 

Resources 

● Digital Deployment will work directly with the Town of Discovery Bay CSD lead project owners to correctly 

understand and capture the business and member requirements, technical design and development, project 

planning, communication goals and objectives. 

● Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  will choose and empower a primary point of contact to 

represent and manage the Town of Discovery Bay CSD stakeholders, resources and division of labor throughout the 

website development process.  

● All the Town of Discovery Bay CSD resources (including, but not limited to key stakeholders, decisionmakers, and 

content contributors) may be needed to offer guidance and input during the process. 

● If the Town of Discovery Bay CSD resources are unable to complete dependent tasks due to outlying project 

demands or the project schedule changes impacting the completion date of Digital Deployment’s assignment, the 

project will be reevaluated and redefined under a new approved schedule and terms. 

● Digital Deployment will serve as a producer for specific deliverables outlined within this proposal. 

● Digital Deployment may require onsite access to provide direction to the Town of Discovery Bay CSD director, 

project manager, business lead and/or internal project team members. 

Delivery 

● The approval process for specific deliverables may include various departments or units, but final decisions will be 

made by a single point of contact in coordination with internal stakeholders.   

● All project issues will be resolved in a timely manner. 

Project Risk Management 

● Any project team member or stakeholder that becomes aware of a potential risk factor is responsible for 

documenting risks identified that may affect this project and submitting such documentation to Client’s project 

manager and shared with Digital Deployment account manager. Digital Deployment’s account manager will review 

the documentation and respond accordingly in a timely manner. 

Work Scope & Budget 

● The scope of the project is described in the proposal. 

● Formal scope change procedures will be followed in the event there is significant change to the scope of work 

requested. 

 

Rick Howard, Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  

Digital Deployment, Inc., Website Development Agreement 
43

Agenda Item F-1



 

Hosting and Support Options 

When the website development process is complete, you will have the option to host with Digital Deployment, and the option 

to retain Digital Deployment to work on your site.  

Technology Platform and Website Hosting 

Digital Deployment's servers exceed industry standards for reliability and performance, designed to meet the needs of 

institutions and organizations that can’t tolerate downtime. Its servers are distinctly reliable, robust, and resilient to attack. 

Digital Deployment's hosting solutions ensure fast delivery of content to users under a variety of conditions, even when using 

dataintensive website applications.  

Our servers are located in the Level 3 Communications data center in Los Angeles, California, which is a Tier4 (highest 

reliability) center. We also have a secondary hosting environment in the CenturyLink data center outside of Boston, 

Massachusetts, with additional services (such as DNS, CDN, apex record hosting) running on Rackspace and Amazon Web 

Services. We select data centers on backbone reliability and strong coasttocoast and intercontinental performance profiles. 

Pursuant to Digital Deployment's philosophy, all deployments run on an opensource software stack including Linux, Apache, 

Nginx, MySQL, PHP, Drupal, CKEditor, and jQuery. In plain English, we use software that is free, portable, welltested and 

widely used. This stack is also used by whitehouse.gov, amnesty.org, and popsci.com.  

Free Hosting for Life 

Digital Deployment will provide full hosting services for the life of your website at no cost. Digital Deployment has invested 

countless hours of development time to configure and optimize a hosting environment specifically tailored to its software 

solution.  

While you are required to host the site with Digital Deployment to take part in the ongoing maintenance and support 

agreement (SLA), it is technically possible to host your site elsewhere. It is also worthwhile to note that as yet, no clients 

have chosen to do so for their production sites. Digital Deployment can provide you with a full backup file of your site at any 

time, which you can use to upload to a new hosting provider, retain as your own backup, or test on your own servers. This 

proposal does not include consulting in setting up a separate hosting environment (e.g. setting up a mySQL database and 

webserver, configuring Drupal settings files, choosing appropriate caching settings, conducting and testing regular Drupal 

security and module updates, optimizing and tuning performance with applications like varnish and memcached) should you 

choose to host elsewhere. 

Security Practices and Risk Management 

Continuity of Operations 

Sometimes clients ask, "What happens if Digital Deployment wins the lottery or gets hit by a bus? What happens to our 

Rick Howard, Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  

Digital Deployment, Inc., Website Development Agreement 
44

Agenda Item F-1



 

website?" This is a great question  and it's an important question to ask. We have established a comprehensive continuity 

of operations plan to ensure the survival of our clients' websites: 

● An independent, prepaid hosting service: by hosting in one of the world's top data centers, clients benefit from 24/7 

monitoring of all the hardware required to deliver their website. Websites will operate, get backed up, and data 

center staff can roll back a clients site to the last snapshot/backup with no action required from Digital Deployment. 

Daily backups made every 24 hours are kept for 714 days. Digital Deployment has hosted its sites since 2004 and 

has strong, personal relationships with its hosting providers.  

● All of our clients who have servicelevel agreements are issued, upon request, direct contact information to the 

center as part of our "Redline response" program, which serves as a second line of defense in case we are 

unavailable. 

● We take a holistic approach to managing the integrity of our hosting platform, from ensuring the security and stability 

of the servers and network to extending our company's liability insurance to the data center. In addition to highlimit 

property/casualty and professional liability insurance, we also carry $1,000,000 in a special coverage: the 

Cybertech+ Liability Protection by Travelers Insurance. We carry all three extensions for Cybertech+ including (1) 

Technology Errors and Omissions Liability Protection, (2) Network and Information Security Liability Protection, (3) 

Communications and Media Liability Protection. Though we have been incidentfree in our 10 years of business, we 

are still proactive and protective. 

● Familiar, industrystandard software: Digital Deployment builds on Drupal, a very popular and portable opensource 

content management system. The "plumbing" is standard and recognizable so, in a pinch, another firm or service 

provider could take it over and would have a way to understand the site's fundamental structure. 

● The ability to make your own backups: Users with the "system administrator" role on your site may make backups 

(and restorations) of the site's entire database. Because Drupal, by design, is extremely portable and 

platformindependent, you could take your site and host it somewhere else. Although none of our clients have ever 

chosen to host their own sites, many have downloaded copies to be sure they could if they needed to. 

○ Technical notes for the ITminded: We use the "Backup and Migrate" module to produce a big ZIP or 

TAR.GZ file. We can also provide a full backup of the site’s file structure. There are tools like JumpBox that 

allow you to quickly install Drupal as a virtual machine. (By swapping in the backup database and 

downloading the "/sites" folder on your Digital Deployment site into your local "/sites" folder, it is possible to 

get your site running on a local machine.) 

Security Practices 

● Realtime activity logging and log parsing are used to watch for intrusions and errors. 

Database data is stored redundantly and nightly backups are kept in a separate, offsite, secure location. 

● Security alerts, electronic mailings and site traffic are monitored by live data center personnel 24/7. As updates and 

fixes become available, they are installed during normal, scheduled maintenance windows. 

● A comprehensive suite of protection software conducts various intrusion detection tests to protect against port 

scanning, syn flood, IP spoofing, and Denial of Service attacks. 

● Access to private networks and servers containing customer document and database data is limited to key 

Rick Howard, Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  

Digital Deployment, Inc., Website Development Agreement 
45

Agenda Item F-1



 

operations staff through multiple biometric scanning measures and access to information requires valid login 

credentials. 

● Revision control and deployment branches are maintained using "git"  the leading opensource revision control 

system, used for projects like the linux kernel and the Android operating system. 

● All source code is managed in a secure versioncontrolled code repository. Changes to the codebase are reviewed 

before deployment. All code is stored in at least two branches: a development branch with new features and a stable 

branch with extensively tested features. Changes are digitally signed by the developer and any errors or unwanted 

revisions can be quickly identified and rolled back. Digital Deployment has a monthly release cycle which includes 

extensive QA and beta testing before release to production sites. 

● Standard security updates released by the Drupal Community are applied in the next regularly scheduled 

maintenance interval. Critical security alerts are patched immediately. Digital Deployment staff are notified of 

relevant security announcement, and installed modules are routinely audited and checked for updates. 

● With the exception of data center staff, no third parties have access to client data. 

● Clients are notified immediately of any security incident or network outage by email.  

 

   

Rick Howard, Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  

Digital Deployment, Inc., Website Development Agreement 
46

Agenda Item F-1



 

Support and Maintenance 

Although our clients publish their own content largely without assistance, Digital Deployment provides highassurance 

support, offers ongoing training, and site design and feature refreshes within our Comprehensive Service Level Agreement 

(SLA) program.   

The Service Level Agreement Program (SLA), which offers several advantages over a traditional hourly agreement: 

● An allinclusive program at a flat rate 

● Offers a complete warranty for any sudden problems you encounter with your website, creating a financial incentive 

for Digital Deployment to build an errorfree product (compared to other models which charge to repair problems and 

resolve issues with the product provided) 

● Includes ongoing feature development, providing the latest technology and new functionality; website is continually 

upgraded with the latest security updates 

● Includes ongoing training and professional development to better leverage the site's technology and website 

bestpractices 

 

No Cost Enrollment for 30 Days 

At the completion of the Phase 5, the Client is automatically enrolled in the Service Level Agreement (SLA) Program for 30 

days at no charge. The client may discontinue the program at any time.  

 

   

Rick Howard, Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  

Digital Deployment, Inc., Website Development Agreement 
47

Agenda Item F-1

http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fdigitaldeployment.com%2Fsla&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNFOpBo_ckJipmeK6gxI4QDsfw2Bew
http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fdigitaldeployment.com%2Fsla&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNFOpBo_ckJipmeK6gxI4QDsfw2Bew
http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fdigitaldeployment.com%2Fsla&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNFOpBo_ckJipmeK6gxI4QDsfw2Bew


 

About Digital Deployment 

Digital Deployment, Inc is a highly collaborative website development company serving institutions, corporations, 

associations and nonprofits worldwide. Digital Deployment is headquartered in Midtown Sacramento, California. It has been 

locally owned since its inception in 2004. Today, Digital Deployment manages over 275 websites across the United States. 

Digital Deployment, Inc. is a registered California Corporation. 

Digital Deployment has been recognized as of the “Best Places to Work” by the Sacramento Business Journal and has won 

numerous other awards for its extraordinary culture, strong ongoing relationships with clients and leadership in the 

community. 

Our Philosophy 

Welcome to the world of Digital Deployment.  

What makes this proposal different than any other you may receive? Here are a few reasons, and why you are going to love 

working with us: 

1. You’ve never worked with a company like this before.  

● 90% of projects launched within 20 weeks. 
● 100% of projects launched on budget. We’ve never issued a change order. 
● 95% of our clients are still with us after five years, and would recommend us.  
● All work is done by core team members, not subcontracted to some people you’ve never met. 
● We are most likely the happiest web development shop on the planet – and it rubs off on our projects. 

2. We’re here to serve. 

● We exist to empower communication and connect communities, standing for the relationship between your 
organization and its community. 

● Our creative, proven discovery process helps illuminate the heart of your organization  
● We live our values in our projects: from exploring your purpose to tracking analytics data and delivering on goals 

 

3. Standardization leads to better technology. 

● Our proven 5 phase process creates beautiful sites, launched on schedule. 
● Our “standard model” technical platform is customized to your needs; being part of a standardized system means no 

testing phase, no oneoff broken features or undelivered promises. 
● Easy to use and update – no more waiting on help from IT folks. 
● Used by 100s of large and small clients, including Google, Fortune 500s and six of the largest 100 trade associations 

in the state of California. (Did we mention they recommend us?) 
● Support ticketing built into your site to make asking for help easy. 
● Extensive knowledgebase articles at your fingertips, along with a community forum where new functionality is 

considered in a collaborative way, leading to better solutions for all. 
● Industryleading senior developers on staff working hard to create the best system you’ve ever seen. 

Rick Howard, Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  

Digital Deployment, Inc., Website Development Agreement 
48

Agenda Item F-1



 

 

Our Team 
All of us at Digital Deployment are dedicated to one thing: helping you succeed on the web. Everyone who works at Digital Deployment 

has had success in business before coming here, and knows what it means to get the job done. We’re passionate about our customers, 

our employees, and the product that brings them together. We love what we do and our clients love working with us.  

 

Mac Clemmens CEO 
“Mac” (short for Michael Alan Clemmens) is the CEO of Digital Deployment. He is responsible for the growth of the company, recruiting 

and retaining top talent, and standing for Digital Deployment’s culture and values. 

Mac’s passion is empowering institutions, associations, and nonprofits to communicate online and better connect with their users while 

teaching them how to building measurable and sustainable business value. 

 

 

Carsen Anthonisen VP, Client Services 
Carsen oversees all of Digital Deployment’s customer relationships, manages business development and the account team, ensures 

thorough scoping of all projects, and occasionally manages projects. He also participates in the management of Digital Deployment’s 

finances, business operations and partner relationships. 

Rick Howard, Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  

Digital Deployment, Inc., Website Development Agreement 
49

Agenda Item F-1

http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.digitaldeployment.com%2Fmeet-team&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNHqA4_GImt-cqqR9vaMXJgDDKaNQA
http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.digitaldeployment.com%2Fprofile%2Fmac-clemmens&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNFkn3NrK29LIqByKsjPdIV6lcvKIg
http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.digitaldeployment.com%2Fprofile%2Fmac-clemmens&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNFkn3NrK29LIqByKsjPdIV6lcvKIg
http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.digitaldeployment.com%2Fprofile%2Fmac-clemmens&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNFkn3NrK29LIqByKsjPdIV6lcvKIg
http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.digitaldeployment.com%2Fprofile%2Fmac-clemmens&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNFkn3NrK29LIqByKsjPdIV6lcvKIg
http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.digitaldeployment.com%2Fprofile%2Fmac-clemmens&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNFkn3NrK29LIqByKsjPdIV6lcvKIg
http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.digitaldeployment.com%2Fprofile%2Fcarsen-anthonisen&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNHNod4NcTJwheMStJ4jTF00IXEC0g
http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.digitaldeployment.com%2Fprofile%2Fcarsen-anthonisen&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNHNod4NcTJwheMStJ4jTF00IXEC0g


 

 

 

Sloane Dell’Orto 
Sloane oversees the operation of the project team and Digital Deployment as a whole, training and supporting the team handling all of 

the tasks related to development. Sloane is also pioneering and improving the company’s strategic content services and improving the 

5phase development process. 

Her background includes web development, graphic design, event coordination, marketing management, journalism, politics, 

firefighting, and emergency medicine, giving her a wide range of experience to draw from. Her interests include emergency services, 

martial arts and meditation. 

 

Dennis Stevense Lead Software Engineer 
Dennis Stevense is responsible for managing the development team, and planning ongoing development of the platform. He has a 

Bachelor of Science in Computer Science and Engineering from Delft University of Technology in the Netherlands as well as an 

International Baccalaureate English A2 Higher Level Diploma for nearnative proficiency in English. 

Rick Howard, Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  

Digital Deployment, Inc., Website Development Agreement 
50

Agenda Item F-1

http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.digitaldeployment.com%2Fprofile%2Fcarsen-anthonisen&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNHNod4NcTJwheMStJ4jTF00IXEC0g
http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.digitaldeployment.com%2Fprofile%2Fcarsen-anthonisen&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNHNod4NcTJwheMStJ4jTF00IXEC0g
http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.digitaldeployment.com%2Fprofile%2Fcarsen-anthonisen&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNHNod4NcTJwheMStJ4jTF00IXEC0g
http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.digitaldeployment.com%2Fprofile%2Fsloane-dellorto&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNGDNfcUyEiBflqYtCRjLuu2ufrn5A
http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.digitaldeployment.com%2Fprofile%2Fsloane-dellorto&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNGDNfcUyEiBflqYtCRjLuu2ufrn5A
http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.digitaldeployment.com%2Fprofile%2Fsloane-dellorto&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNGDNfcUyEiBflqYtCRjLuu2ufrn5A
http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.digitaldeployment.com%2Fprofile%2Fsloane-dellorto&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNGDNfcUyEiBflqYtCRjLuu2ufrn5A
http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.digitaldeployment.com%2Fprofile%2Fdennis-stevense&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNEU_kgnO-k6KczV57hadJ1QWNmHcA
http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.digitaldeployment.com%2Fprofile%2Fdennis-stevense&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNEU_kgnO-k6KczV57hadJ1QWNmHcA
http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.digitaldeployment.com%2Fprofile%2Fdennis-stevense&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNEU_kgnO-k6KczV57hadJ1QWNmHcA


 

 

Jason McWhorter Implementation Manager 
Jason McWhorter is a web developer and themer for Digital Deployment, applying designs for the websites into a workable digital 

reality. He has successfully owned and operated his own computer contracting service for the past 4 years in order to have more 

independence and freedom in his work life. He has extensive selftaught knowledge of many computer languages such as PHP, 

Actionscript, Javascript, jQuery, MySQL, CSS, XML, HTML and many others. 

Read more 

 

Haley Corina Anthonisen Customer Support Manager 
Haley is the Customer Service Manager for Digital Deployment. Haley’s primary role is providing problemsolving resources to clients, 

managing support staff, and channeling client feedback to the development team. Haley will also help evolve Digital Deployment’s 

customer support policies as our client list continues to grow. 

 

Benjamin Shell Senior Software Engineer 

Rick Howard, Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  

Digital Deployment, Inc., Website Development Agreement 
51

Agenda Item F-1

http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.digitaldeployment.com%2Fprofile%2Fdennis-stevense&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNEU_kgnO-k6KczV57hadJ1QWNmHcA
http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.digitaldeployment.com%2Fprofile%2Fdennis-stevense&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNEU_kgnO-k6KczV57hadJ1QWNmHcA
http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.digitaldeployment.com%2Fprofile%2Fjason-mcwhorter&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNEEAD0F8X5yiDZ-Iker84G_JkeCtw
http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.digitaldeployment.com%2Fprofile%2Fjason-mcwhorter&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNEEAD0F8X5yiDZ-Iker84G_JkeCtw
http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.digitaldeployment.com%2Fprofile%2Fjason-mcwhorter&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNEEAD0F8X5yiDZ-Iker84G_JkeCtw
http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.digitaldeployment.com%2Fprofile%2Fjason-mcwhorter&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNEEAD0F8X5yiDZ-Iker84G_JkeCtw
http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.digitaldeployment.com%2Fprofile%2Fjason-mcwhorter&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNEEAD0F8X5yiDZ-Iker84G_JkeCtw
http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.digitaldeployment.com%2Fprofile%2Fhaley-corina-anthonisen&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNFfjVgSeR_0UY2HhDmHR-sFeiP5xA
http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.digitaldeployment.com%2Fprofile%2Fhaley-corina-anthonisen&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNFfjVgSeR_0UY2HhDmHR-sFeiP5xA
http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.digitaldeployment.com%2Fprofile%2Fbenjamin-shell&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNGEz-buMpnzYAWZT1bPMM4XL66VyA
http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.digitaldeployment.com%2Fprofile%2Fbenjamin-shell&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNGEz-buMpnzYAWZT1bPMM4XL66VyA


 

Ben has 15 years of experience in various web technologies, including Drupal, jQuery, JavaScript, PHP and databases. His 

development skills have been honed over the years on large projects with challenging implementations; one of his core strengths is his 

ability to determine the best solution for the need at hand. 

 

Rocky Martin Business Development Manager 
Rocky is our first Business Development Manager. Rocky is an accomplished relationship builder with a strong commitment to helping 

clients succeed, most recently serving as a sales representative for Paychex, Inc. During his five years with the company Rocky 

successfully developed hundreds of new relationships with clients in a variety of industries, regularly exceeding sales revenue goals. 

He will be working closely with Carsen Anthonisen to develop and manage Digital Deployment’s customer relationships. 

Read more 

 

Cole LaFrance Implementation Manager 
Cole is Digital Deployment’s new front end developer. His skillset includes Photoshop, Illustrator, InDesign, CSS, HTML, & Drupal. 

Equipped with a Bachelor’s Degree in Business Administration from the University of Texas at Dallas, Cole moved to Sacramento in 

2011. 

Outside of work he enjoys exploring California with his partners in crime: Sara and their dog Spookie. His interests include the arts, 

automobiles, & craft beer. 

Rick Howard, Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  

Digital Deployment, Inc., Website Development Agreement 
52

Agenda Item F-1

http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.digitaldeployment.com%2Fprofile%2Frocky-martin&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNEyTtLGmfWfnSKFIsLKrjjMWxs9BQ
http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.digitaldeployment.com%2Fprofile%2Frocky-martin&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNEyTtLGmfWfnSKFIsLKrjjMWxs9BQ
http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.digitaldeployment.com%2Fprofile%2Frocky-martin&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNEyTtLGmfWfnSKFIsLKrjjMWxs9BQ
http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.digitaldeployment.com%2Fprofile%2Frocky-martin&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNEyTtLGmfWfnSKFIsLKrjjMWxs9BQ
http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.digitaldeployment.com%2Fprofile%2Frocky-martin&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNEyTtLGmfWfnSKFIsLKrjjMWxs9BQ
http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.digitaldeployment.com%2Fprofile%2Fcole-lafrance&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNEN4m9bBVE5cjtO6g1PsaBoqDDneg
http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.digitaldeployment.com%2Fprofile%2Fcole-lafrance&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNEN4m9bBVE5cjtO6g1PsaBoqDDneg


 

 

Ginger O’Brien Controller 
Ginger works hard to ensure all financial and legal matters of Digital Deployment are in order. From coordinating the health benefits for 

employees to tracking down lost receipts, Ginger supports Digital Deployment’s daytoday operations. 

 

Dylan Rideout Customer Support & Content Migration 
Dylan Rideout is our Content Migrator and support technician, responsible for moving content from existing sites into new sandboxes, 

and doing reviews of our SLA clients’ sites to ensure quality is up to par. Dylan works closely with Haley and will be supporting clients in 

the helpdesk, so you’ll likely run into him there! Dylan has worked as a manager at a computer repair shop as well as helping a web 

development company build websites. 

 

   

Rick Howard, Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  

Digital Deployment, Inc., Website Development Agreement 
53

Agenda Item F-1

http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.digitaldeployment.com%2Fprofile%2Fginger-obrien&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNHEMPW-p0AfL155dbwlPr2WzkgaPQ
http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.digitaldeployment.com%2Fprofile%2Fginger-obrien&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNHEMPW-p0AfL155dbwlPr2WzkgaPQ
http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.digitaldeployment.com%2Fprofile%2Fdylan-rideout&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNF2v3H9NFvWKCOhoKaIky7smw0wqg
http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.digitaldeployment.com%2Fprofile%2Fdylan-rideout&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNF2v3H9NFvWKCOhoKaIky7smw0wqg


 

 

Design Partner: FUEL Creative Group 

 

Brent Rector Design Partner 
Brent Rector is one of Northern California’s top graphic designers. His clean, powerful designs are widely recognized and have made 

FUEL a force in the local and international design markets. Brent brings over 15 years of graphic design experience and specializes in 

branding, packaging, publications, environmental design, interactive user interface, and advertising. He grew up in Sacramento and has 

a B.A. Graphic Design. He likes to unwind in the garage working on his hot rod, enjoying the connection to the past and working with 

the visually interesting elements and mechanics. 

 

Steve Worth Template and Interface Design 
Steve Worth, the cocreator and Production Director for FUEL Creative Group, grew up in El Dorado Hills and graduated from CSU 

Chico with a B.A. in Graphic Design. He manages the production of artwork within FUEL while ensuring clients needs, schedules and 

deadlines are met. In his down time, Steve enjoys woodworking, allowing him a handson, threedimensional outlet for his creativity. 

About working with Digital Deployment, he says, “It’s nice to have a partner who values good design and the ability to shepherd a client 

through the content development process—not to mention the fact that the whole group is just fun to deal with.” 

Rick Howard, Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  

Digital Deployment, Inc., Website Development Agreement 
54

Agenda Item F-1

http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.digitaldeployment.com%2Fprofile%2Fginger-obrien&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNHEMPW-p0AfL155dbwlPr2WzkgaPQ
http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.digitaldeployment.com%2Fprofile%2Fginger-obrien&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNHEMPW-p0AfL155dbwlPr2WzkgaPQ
http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.digitaldeployment.com%2Fprofile%2Fbrent-rector&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNHF_wZGS4Kf2H6iMgVP29EPcuQCOw
http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.digitaldeployment.com%2Fprofile%2Fbrent-rector&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNHF_wZGS4Kf2H6iMgVP29EPcuQCOw
http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.digitaldeployment.com%2Fprofile%2Fsteve-worth&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNHJpHHYdJxiDLOLzPAJ-jMA4PLztw
http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.digitaldeployment.com%2Fprofile%2Fsteve-worth&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNHJpHHYdJxiDLOLzPAJ-jMA4PLztw


 

 

Barb Hennelly Web Design Lead 
Barbara Hennelly is a Senior Designer at FUEL Creative Group. Barb graduated from Santa Clara University with a degree in print 

communication, She is a translator of messaging and personality by design through cathode and vector mediums. Outside of work she 

enjoys photography, music and spending time with her family. She likes working with Digital Deployment because “they’re fun, get the 

job done, and they recognize that good graphic design and information architecture go hand in hand.” 

 

Haley Titus Graphic Designer 
Haley Titus is a graduate of CSU Chico with a B.A. in Communication Design and an option in Graphic Design. As graphic designer for 

FUEL Creative Group, Haley’s strengths include identity, print and web design. In her free time, Haley enjoys photography, blogging, 

painting and the outdoors. Haley says, “I enjoy working with Digital Deployment team because the group is extremely responsive, easy 

to connect with, and always produce highly functional and effective websites.” 

 

   

Rick Howard, Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  

Digital Deployment, Inc., Website Development Agreement 
55

Agenda Item F-1

http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.digitaldeployment.com%2Fprofile%2Fbarb-hennelly&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNFfSQ1w_nbqC8xdwu1tFk4NddTcFA
http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.digitaldeployment.com%2Fprofile%2Fbarb-hennelly&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNFfSQ1w_nbqC8xdwu1tFk4NddTcFA
http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.digitaldeployment.com%2Fprofile%2Fhaley-titus&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNG4lc8YPMYyg4nb26wH3zWg7aAP6Q
http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.digitaldeployment.com%2Fprofile%2Fhaley-titus&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNG4lc8YPMYyg4nb26wH3zWg7aAP6Q


 

Relevant Projects and References 

Sacramento Regional County Sanitation District   www.regionalsan.com  

 

Services Provided: Website design, consulting, information architecture, content management system deployment, on and 

offsite training.  

Client Reference:  Claudia Goss, Public Affairs Manager, gossc@sacsewer.com,  (916) 8766058  

Rick Howard, Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  

Digital Deployment, Inc., Website Development Agreement 
56

Agenda Item F-1

http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.regionalsan.com&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNGHXuKoPFx_2GJ_jind2okLrr-FFA


 

 

Alameda County Employees’ Retirement Association (ACERA)  www.acera.org  

 

Services Provided: Website design, strategic consulting, information architecture, content management system deployment, 

training (onsite, offsite, and remote), mobile website integration with CMS.   

Client References:   

Vijay Jagar, Website Redesign Project Manager vjagar@acera.org, (510) 6283060 

Mike Fara, Communications Manager, mfara@acera.org, (510) 6283057 

Rick Howard, Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  

Digital Deployment, Inc., Website Development Agreement 
57

Agenda Item F-1

http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.acera.org&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNHBIL-jObnwnVvKV27loEl7cPNMuw
mailto:vjagar@acera.org
mailto:mfara@acera.org


 

Sacramento Area Sewer District  www.sacsewer.com  

 

Services Provided: Website design, strategic consulting, stakeholder management and feedback, information architecture, 

content management system deployment, training, mobile website integration with CMS.   

Client References:   

Nicole Coleman, Communications and Media Officer, colemann@sacsewer.com, (916) 8766246   

Rick Howard, Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  

Digital Deployment, Inc., Website Development Agreement 
58

Agenda Item F-1

http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.sacsewer.com&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNH48W1-pd8ZYwDfSZh1wLeTCrlUKQ


 

 

United Way, California Capitol Region   www.yourlocalunitedway.org   

 

 

Services Provided:  Website design, brand design and integration, consulting, content management system deployment, 

onsite training.  

Client References:  Amber Lovett, VP Marketing & Communications, alovett@uwccr.org,  (916) 8563913  

 

 

 

   

Rick Howard, Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  

Digital Deployment, Inc., Website Development Agreement 
59

Agenda Item F-1



 

 

Institute for Local Government   www.cailg.org 

 

 

Services Provided: Website design, consulting, information architecture, content management system deployment, onsite 

training.  

 

Client References:   

JoAnne Speers, Executive Director, jspeers@cailg.org, (916) 6588208  

 

 

Rick Howard, Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  

Digital Deployment, Inc., Website Development Agreement 
60

Agenda Item F-1

http://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.ca-ilg.org&sa=D&sntz=1&usg=AFQjCNEk__tl2Ib3yzHBzAc5YgaolDtAHw


 

Sacramento City Unified School District     www.scusd.edu   

 

 

Services Provided: Website design, consulting, information architecture, content management system deployment, content 

migration, 3rd party integration, microsite deployment, onsite training.  

 

Client References:  

Gabe Ross, Chief Communications Officer, gabeross@saccity.k12.ca.us, (916) 6588208   

Andrea Landis, Webmaster / Communications Specialist, andrealandis@saccity.k12.ca.us (916) 6437421  

 

"I just wanted to thank you all for the great work on the district site. We don’t always take the time to take a step back and 

look at what we have created, but it’s clearly a massive improvement over what was there before. The process has been 

arduous at times, and I know there’s still plenty of work to be done, but I’m very happy with the results (and as a quick aside, 

so is the Superintendent)."  Gabe Ross, CCO 

   

Rick Howard, Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  

Digital Deployment, Inc., Website Development Agreement 
61

Agenda Item F-1



 

 

UC Davis Graduate School of Management   gsm.ucdavis.edu  

 

 

 

Services Provided: Website design, information architecture, content management system deployment, discovery with 

stakeholder groups, onsite training, content migration, 3rd party integration.  

 

Client References:   

Lindsay Hardy, Web Strategist/Online Marketing Manager, lhardy@ucdavis.edu, (530) 7525431 

Tim Akin, Sr. Director of Marketing and Communications, tmakin@ucdavis.edu, (530) 7527362 

   

Rick Howard, Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  

Digital Deployment, Inc., Website Development Agreement 
62

Agenda Item F-1



 

Mazda Raceway Laguna Seca   www.mazdaraceway.com  

 

 

 

Services Provided: Website design, information architecture, content management system deployment, discovery with 

stakeholder groups, onsite training, 3rd party integration.  

 

Client References:   

Melvyn Record, Vice President Marketing and Sales, melvyn@mazdaraceway.com, (831) 2428221 

 

 

   

Rick Howard, Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  

Digital Deployment, Inc., Website Development Agreement 
63

Agenda Item F-1



 

 

Service Agreement 
I wish to execute this website development agreement between Digital Deployment, Inc., and Town of Discovery Bay 

Community Services District  to provide the deliverables outlined in this proposal for a price not to exceed $16,800 with 

payment terms: 50% due at signon, 40% due at phase 5, and 10% due just prior to launch. 

I understand that I will have the option to engage in Digital Deployment’s Service Level Agreement (SLA) program for 

ongoing maintenance after a 30 day free trial for a cost of $300/month. I may cancel our participation in the program at any 

time.  

Note: Participation in the DD Mobile program requires that clients currently have a Service Level Agreement (SLA) with 

Digital Deployment.    

 

 

 
 
 
____________________________________________ 
Rick Howard  
Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  

 
 
 
 
_________________ 
Date 

 
 
 

___________________________________________________ 
Michael A. Clemmens, CEO 
Digital Deployment, Inc. 

 
 
 
 
 
11/11/2014 
_________________ 
Date 

 

 

 

 

 

Rick Howard, Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District  

Digital Deployment, Inc., Website Development Agreement 
64

Agenda Item F-1



 
 

 

 

Town of Discovery Bay 
“A Community Services District” 

AGENDA REPORT 

 
 

Meeting Date 
 
 

November 19, 2014 

 
Prepared By: Rick Howard, General Manager 
Submitted By: Rick Howard, General Manager 

 
Agenda Title 
 
Town of Discovery Bay Record Retention Schedules 
 
 
Recommended Action 
 
Adopt Resolution No. 2014-26 approving Town of Discovery Bay Records Retention and Document Destruction 
Schedules.  
 
 
Executive Summary 
 
State law provides that certain documents created and maintained at the Town of Discovery Bay be maintained for 
specified periods of time, depending on the types of documents. 
 
Staff has been working on updating the Town’s records retention schedules, taking into consideration changes in state 
law pertaining to records retention and destruction schedules.  The attached schedules are updated by function and 
department. 
 
Background: 
 
The Town has engaged the services of Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc., (GGS) an expert in special district 
records, to develop a comprehensive records retention schedule for the District.  This program was necessary to ensure 
retention periods reflected changes in law, reduce current and future records storage costs, eliminate duplication of 
effort, and increase overall efficiency. 
 
The development of the records retention schedules are driven by many factors, including: 
 

• Many departments are filing and storing copies of the same records 
• Discovery Bay produces and manages many permanent records   
• Escalating records storage expenses 
• Technology advancements  
• Changes in law, pertaining to special district records 

 
The retention schedules for Discovery Bay were written interactively with all departments providing input.  They provide 
clear, specific records descriptions and retention periods, and apply current law and technology to the management of 
Discovery Bay’s records.  By identifying which department is responsible for maintaining the original record, and by 
establishing clear retention periods for different categories of records, Discovery Bay will have a significantly more 
efficient records storage, retention, and destruction which will ultimately result in reductions in storage costs, free filing 
cabinet and office space, and realize operational efficiencies. 
 
The appropriate Division or Department Head and the General Manager have reviewed and approved all Retention 
Schedules as they pertain to the District’s functions.  The Schedules are ready for Board consideration and adoption. 
 
There is no cost associated with this action.  However, as documents are logged and categorized, there will be costs to 
perform those tasks.  This year’s FY 2014-15 Operating Budget included $15,000 for these tasks. 
 

“Continued on Page Two” 

Cinderella
Stamp



 
 

 
 
 

 
Fiscal Impact:  
 

Amount Requested  $ Funds are budgeted as a part of the FY 2014/15 Operating Budget 
Sufficient Budgeted Funds Available?: Yes 

 Prog/Fund #      Category:  Pers.     Optg.     Cap.       -or-   CIP#      Fund# 
 

 
Previous Relevant Board Actions for This Item 
 

Adoption of FY 2014-15 Budget 
   
Attachments 
 

Resolution 2014-26; How to Use Retention Schedules; Record Retention Schedule Legend; Record Retention 
Schedules Per Department 
 

 

AGENDA ITEM: F-2 



 

 

 

1 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

OF THE TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY, 
A CALIFORNIA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT, 

ADOPTING A RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE AND AUTHORIZING DESTRUCTION OF 
CERTAIN DISTRICT RECORDS 

 
 WHEREAS, the maintenance and retention of the District’s official records is required under 
the Government Code; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the retention of records is costly, time consuming, and presents long term 
document storage issues; and  
 
 WHEREAS, many documents maintained by the District are no longer necessary to maintain 
after a specified period of time; and 
 
           WHEREAS, Section 60200 of the Government Code of the State of California provides that  the 
legislative body of a special district may authorize at any time the destruction or disposition of any 
duplicate record, paper, or document, the original or a permanent photographic record of which is in 
the files of any officer or department of the District; and 
 

WHEREAS, Section 60201 of the Government Code of the State of California is amended 
effective January 1, 2005 to provide that district records which have served their purpose, which are 
not expressly required by law to be filed and preserved, and which will not adversely affect any interest 
of the district or public may be destroyed; and 

 
WHEREAS, the District has a procedure to maintain a list of the types of records destroyed or 

disposed of that reasonably identifies the information contained in the records in each category. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY 

COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT DOES HEREBY RESOLVE AS FOLLOWS: 
 
SECTION 1.  The Board of Directors finds that the destruction or disposition of the records 

series that have exceeded the retention periods as set forth in the Records Retention Schedule Exhibit 
A will not adversely affect any interest of the District or the public. 

 
SECTION 2.  The records of the Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District, as set 

forth in the Records Retention Schedule Exhibit A, attached hereto and incorporated herein by this 
reference, are hereby authorized to be destroyed as provided by Section 60201 et seq. of the 
Government Code of the State of California and in accordance with the provision of said schedule in 
accordance with District policies and procedures.  

   
SECTION 3.  The term “records” as used herein shall include documents, instructions, books, 

microforms, electronic files, magnetic tape, optical media, or papers; as defined by the California 
Public Records Act. 

 
SECTION 4.  This Resolution takes effect concurrent with the adoption of this Resolution.  

 

TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY 
COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT 

 
RESOLUTION 2014-26 

 

 

 

Agenda Item F-2



 

 

 

2 

SECTION 5.  The Board Secretary shall certify the adoption of this Resolution. 
 

PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED THIS 19th DAY OF NOVEMBER, 2014. 
 
 
 
      _________________________ 
      Mark Simon 
      Board President 
 

I hereby certify that the foregoing Resolution was duly adopted by the Board of Directors of the Town of 
Discovery Bay Community Services District at a regularly scheduled meeting, held on November 19, 
2014, by the following vote of the Board: 

  
  AYES: 
  NOES: 
  ABSENT: 
  ABSTAIN: 

 
 

________________________________ 
Richard J. Howard 
Board Secretary 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Agenda Item F-2



HOW TO USE RETENTION SCHEDULES 
©1995-2014 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. (909) 337-3516 - all rights reserved 

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission 
 

 

 
 
A legend explaining the information presented in the retention schedule has been printed on the back of 
each page for your easy reference; an index to locate records is also provided.  
 
The specified retention period applies regardless of the media of the record:  If a record is stored on paper 
and a computer file on a hard drive, both records should be destroyed (or erased) after the specified 
period of time has elapsed.   
 
Copies or duplicates of records should never be retained longer than the prescribed period for the original 
record. 
 
 

STRUCTURE:  CITYWIDE,  DEPARTMENTS & DIVISIONS 

 
The Citywide retention schedule includes those records all departments have in common (letters, 
memorandums, purchase orders, etc.).  These records are NOT repeated in the Department retention 
schedule, unless that department is the Office of Record, and therefore responsible for maintaining the 
original record for the prescribed length of time. 
 
Each department has a separate retention schedule that describes the records that are unique to their 
department, or for which they are the Office of Record.   Where appropriate, the department retention 
schedules are organized by Division within that Department.  If a record is not listed in your department 
retention schedule, refer to the Citywide retention schedule.  An index will be provided for your reference. 
 
 

BENEFITS 
 
This retention schedule has been developed by Diane R. Gladwell, MMC, an expert in Municipal 
Government records, and will provide the City with the following benefits: 
 

• Reduce administrative expenses, expedite procedures 
• Free filing cabinet and office space 

 • Reduce the cost of records storage 
 • Eliminate duplication of effort within the City 
 • Find records faster 
 • Easier purging of file folders 
 • Determine what media should be used to store records 
 
For questions, please contact the City Clerk. 
 

Authorization to Destroy Records: 
 
All original records that have exceeded their retention period must be authorized according to City Policies 
& Procedures prior to destroying them. 
 
Copies, drafts, notes and non-records do NOT require authorization, and can be destroyed “When No 
Longer Required.” 

 If there is a minimum retention ("When No Longer Required - Minimum 2 years"), it must be 
authorized before it is destroyed, as it is an original record. 

 If there is NOT a minimum retention ("When No Longer Required"), it does NOT need to be 
authorized prior to destruction, as it is a preliminary draft / transitory record or a copy. 

Agenda Item F-2



RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE LEGEND 
©1995-2014 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. (909) 337-3516 - all rights reserved 

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission 

 

OFR (Office of Record):  The department that keeps the original or “record copy.”  Usually it is the department that originates the record, unless 
the item is for a Board of Directors meeting (then it is the Board Clerk, District Clerk or District Secretary.)  “Lead Depart.” refers to the division or 
department that maintains the original of a record where the records series is common to many departments (e.g. correspondence.) 
 

Classification:  The method of filing and retrieving records (File Number).  This number may be tied into other systems to ensure accuracy. 
 

Records Description / Folder Subject:  The record series (a group of like records).  “Records” shall include documents, instructions, books, 
microforms, electronic files, magnetic tape, optical media, or papers; as defined by the California Public Records Act. 
 

Transitory Records not retained in the ordinary course of business: Preliminary drafts, notes, or interagency or intra-agency memoranda and 
records having only transitory value.  Examples:  Telephone messages, meeting room reservation schedules, logs, source records entered into a 
computer system that qualifies as a “trusted system”, etc. 
 

Retention/Disposition:  Active:  How long the file remains in the immediate office area 

    Inactive:  How long the file is in off-site storage, stored on Optical Disk or Microforms 

    Total Retention:  The total number of years the record will be retained 
For file folders containing documents with different retention timeframes, use the document with the longest retention time. 

  P = Permanent 

  Indefinite = No fixed or specified retention period; used for databases, because the data fields are interrelated.  
  

 Vital?  = Those records that are needed for basic operations in the event of a disaster. 
 

 Media Options:  The form of the record -  Mag = Computer Magnetic Media (hard drive, disks, tapes, USB keys, thumb drives, etc.) 
       Mfr = Microforms (aperture cards, microfilm, microfiche, or jackets)  
       Ppr = Paper   
       OD = Optical Disk, WORM, CD-R, DVD-R or other media which does not allow changes 
 

 Scan / Import:   “S” indicates the record should be scanned into the document imaging system; 
    “I” indicates the record should be electronically imported into the document imaging system; 
    “M” indicates the record should be microfilmed 
 

Destroy Paper after Imaged & QC’d:  QC’d=Quality Checked.  “Yes” indicates the paper version may be destroyed if the document has 
been imaged (microfilmed, scanned or imported onto Optical Disk – CD-R, WORM or DVD-R), and then each page Quality Checked 
(“QC’d”).   

 

Legend for legal citations (§:  Section) B&P:  Business & Professions Code (CA)  CBC:  California Building Code  
CC:  Civil Code (CA)   CCP:  Code of Civil Procedure (CA)   CCR:  California Code of Regulations (CA)   
CFC:  California Fire Code   CFR:  Code of Federal Regulations (US)  EC:  Elections Code (CA)     
EVC:  Evidence Code (CA)   FA:  Food & Agriculture Code   FC:  Family Code (CA)     
FTB:  Franchise Tax Board (CA)  GC:  Government Code (CA)   H&S:  Health & Safety Code (CA)    
HUD:  Housing & Urban Develop. (US) LC:  Labor Code (CA)     Ops. Atty. Gen.:  Attorney General Opinions (CA)   
PC:  Penal Code (CA)   R&T:  Revenue & Taxation Code (CA)  UAC:  Uniform Administrative Code   
UBC:  Uniform Building Code  UFC:  Uniform Fire Code    UPC:  Uniform Plumbing Code  
USC:  United States Code (US)  VC:  Vehicle Code (CA)    W&I:  Welfare & Institutions Code (CA) 
WC:  Water Code (CA)   

Agenda Item F-2



Ver. 2.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE: DISTRICT-WIDE STANDARDS Page DW-1

Office of 

Record
Retention No. Records Description Retention / Disposition Comments / Reference

(OFR)
Active          

(in office)

Inactive    

(Records 

Center)

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper 

after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for District-Wide Standards.                                                                                               

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                          

Litigation, complaints, claims, audits, pending public records act requests, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

Human 

Resources
DW-001

Accident, Incident, Injury 

reports:  EMPLOYEES, with 

associated MSDS, if a 

chemical was involved

Copies - 

When No 

Longer 

Required

Copies - 

When No 

Longer 

Required

Mag, 

Ppr

Copies retained for reference; 

GC §60200

Risk Manag. DW-002
Accident, Incident, Injury 

reports:  PUBLIC

Copies - 

When No 

Longer 

Required

Copies - 

When No 

Longer 

Required

Mag, 

Ppr

Copies retained for reference; 

GC §60200

Finance DW-003

Accounts Payable, Invoices, 

Petty Cash, Warrant Requests, 

etc. 

ALL backup is forwarded to 

Finance

Copies - 

When No 

Longer 

Required

Copies - 

When No 

Longer 

Required

Yes:  Before 

Payment

Mag, 

Ppr

All originals go to Finance 

(these are copies); GC §60200

Lead Dept. DW-004

Affidavits of Publications / 

Public Hearing Notices / Legal 

Advertising / Affidavits of 

Posting

2 years 2 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD,  

Ppr

Brown Act challenges must be 

filed within 30 or 90 days of 

action; Statute of Limitations 

on Municipal Government 

actions is 3 - 6 months; CCP 

§§337 et seq, 349.4; GC 

§§60201, 54960.1(c)(1)  

Board Clerk DW-005
Agenda Packets / Staff 

Reports:  Board of Directors 

Copies - 

When No 

Longer 

Required

Copies - 

When No 

Longer 

Required

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S
Yes:  After 

QC &OD
GC §60200

Town of Discovery Bay CSD  ©1995-2014 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516

Adopted:

Agenda Item F-2



Ver. 2.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE: DISTRICT-WIDE STANDARDS Page DW-2

Office of 

Record
Retention No. Records Description Retention / Disposition Comments / Reference

(OFR)
Active          

(in office)

Inactive    

(Records 

Center)

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper 

after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for District-Wide Standards.                                                                                               

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                          

Litigation, complaints, claims, audits, pending public records act requests, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

Board Clerk DW-006

Agreements & Contracts ALL 

BOARD APPROVED 

(Specifications / Scope of 

Work, Notices of Completion, 

etc.)

Copies - 

When No 

Longer 

Required

Copies - 

When No 

Longer 

Required

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S

Yes:  Upon 

Completio

n

All agreements that are 

approved by the Board of 

Directors are sent to the Board 

Clerk; GC §60200

Lead Dept. DW-007

Agreements & Contracts:  

ADMINISTRATIVE FILES / 

ORIGINAL CONTRACTS Not 

Approved by the Board of 

Directors

(Correspondence, Project 

Administration, Project 

Schedules, Certified Payrolls, 

Insurance Certificates, 

Invoices, Logs, RFP, etc.)  

Completion 10 years 
Completion + 

10 years

Yes:  Before 

Completion

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S/I

Yes:  Upon 

Completio

n

Covers E&O Statute of 

Limitations (insurance 

certificates are filed with 

agreement); Published Audit 

Standards=4-7 years; Statute 

of Limitations: Contracts & 

Spec's=4 years, Wrongful 

Death=comp. + 5 years, 

Developers=comp. + 10 years; 

Statewide guidelines propose 

termination + 5 years; CCP 

§337 et. seq., GC §60201

Town of Discovery Bay CSD  ©1995-2014 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516

Adopted:

Agenda Item F-2



Ver. 2.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE: DISTRICT-WIDE STANDARDS Page DW-3

Office of 

Record
Retention No. Records Description Retention / Disposition Comments / Reference

(OFR)
Active          

(in office)

Inactive    

(Records 

Center)

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper 

after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for District-Wide Standards.                                                                                               

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                          

Litigation, complaints, claims, audits, pending public records act requests, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

Lead Dept. DW-008

Agreements & Contracts:  

ADMINISTRATIVE FILES 

(with Grant Funding) / 

ORIGINAL CONTRACTS Not 

Approved by the Board of 

Directors

(Correspondence, Project 

Administration, Project 

Schedules, Certified Payrolls, 

Insurance Certificates, 

Invoices, Logs, RFP, etc.)  

Completion 

10 years or 

After 

Funding 

Agency 

Audit, if 

required, 

whichever is 

longer

Completion 

+ 10 years or 

After Funding 

Agency Audit, 

if required, 

whichever is 

longer

Yes:  Before 

Completion

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S/I

Yes:  Upon 

Completio

n

Some grant funding agencies 

require audits; Statute of 

Limitations for Errors & 

Omissions is 10 years; 

Published Audit Standards=4-7 

years; Statute of Limitations: 

Contracts & Spec's=4 years, 

Wrongful Death=comp. + 5 

years, Developers=comp. + 10 

years; Statewide guidelines 

propose termination + 5 years; 

CCP §337 et. seq., 21 CFR 

1403.36 & 1403.42(b); 24 CFR 

85.42, 91.105(h), 92.505, & 

570.502(b), 28 CFR 66.42; 29 

CFR 97.42; 40 CFR 31.42; 44 

CFR 13.42; 45 CFR 92.42; 

OMB Circular A-133GC 

§60201

Town of Discovery Bay CSD  ©1995-2014 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516

Adopted:

Agenda Item F-2



Ver. 2.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE: DISTRICT-WIDE STANDARDS Page DW-4

Office of 

Record
Retention No. Records Description Retention / Disposition Comments / Reference

(OFR)
Active          

(in office)

Inactive    

(Records 

Center)

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper 

after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for District-Wide Standards.                                                                                               

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                          

Litigation, complaints, claims, audits, pending public records act requests, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

Lead Dept. DW-009

Agreements & Contracts: 

UNSUCCESSFUL BIDS, 

UNSUCCESSFUL 

PROPOSALS or RESPONSES 

to RFPs (Request for 

Proposals) and/or RFQs 

(Request for Qualifications) 

that don't result in a contract

2 years 2 years
Mag, 

Ppr

The RFP / RFQ and the 

successful proposal becomes 

part of the agreement or 

contract (Board Clerk is OFR); 

GC §60201

Finance DW-010

Audits / Audit Reports / CAFR - 

Comprehensive Annual 

Financial Reports

Copies - 

When No 

Longer 

Required

Copies - 

When No 

Longer 

Required

  
Mag, 

Ppr
Copies; GC §60200

DW-011
Bids:  See Agreements & 

Contracts

Staffing Dept. DW-012

Boards and Committees:  

AUDIO RECORDINGS of 

Meetings / Audio Tapes

2 years 2 years   
Tape 

(Mag)

District preference; State law 

only requires for 30 days; GC 

§54953.5(b)

Staffing Dept. DW-013

Boards, Commissions, & 

Committees:  Board of 

Directors Subcommittees

(Composed solely of less than 

a quorum of the Board of 

Directors)

2 years 2 years   
Mag, 

Ppr

All recommendations are 

presented to the Board of 

Directors; GC §60201 et seq.

Town of Discovery Bay CSD  ©1995-2014 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516

Adopted:

Agenda Item F-2



Ver. 2.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE: DISTRICT-WIDE STANDARDS Page DW-5

Office of 

Record
Retention No. Records Description Retention / Disposition Comments / Reference

(OFR)
Active          

(in office)

Inactive    

(Records 

Center)

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper 

after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for District-Wide Standards.                                                                                               

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                          

Litigation, complaints, claims, audits, pending public records act requests, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

DW-014

Boards, Commissions, & 

Committees:  External 

Organizations 

(e.g. County Board of 

Supervisors)

When No 

Longer 

Required

When No 

Longer 

Required

  
Mag, 

Ppr
Non-records

Staffing Dept. DW-015

Boards, Commissions, & 

Committees:  Residents 

Advisory Bodies Formed by 

Board of Directors

AGENDAS, AGENDA 

PACKETS.

Minimum 2 

years

Minimum 2 

years
  

Mag, 

Ppr

Brown Act challenges must be 

filed within 30 or 90 days of 

action; GC §§60201, 

54960.1(c)(1)

Staffing Dept. DW-016

Boards, Commissions, & 

Committees:  Residents 

Advisory Bodies Formed by 

Board of Directors

MINUTES & BYLAWS

P P Yes

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S
Yes:  After 

10 years

Notes taken to facilitate the 

writing of the minutes can be 

destroyed after minutes have 

been adopted; GC §60201 et 

seq.

DW-017
Brochures: See Reference 

Manuals

Board Clerk & 

Finance
DW-018 Budgets - Finals 

Copies - 

When No 

Longer 

Required

Copies - 

When No 

Longer 

Required

Yes:  Current 

Fiscal Year

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S/I
Yes:  After 

5 years

Final must be filed with County 

Auditor; GC §60200, 40802, 

53901

Lead Dept. DW-019 ttorney Opinions
Minimum 2 

years

Minimum 2 

years
Yes

Mag, 

Mfr, OD,  

Ppr

S
Department Preference; GC 

§60201

Town of Discovery Bay CSD  ©1995-2014 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516

Adopted:

Agenda Item F-2



Ver. 2.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE: DISTRICT-WIDE STANDARDS Page DW-6

Office of 

Record
Retention No. Records Description Retention / Disposition Comments / Reference

(OFR)
Active          

(in office)

Inactive    

(Records 

Center)

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper 

after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for District-Wide Standards.                                                                                               

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                          

Litigation, complaints, claims, audits, pending public records act requests, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

Board Clerk 

AND  Risk 

Manage.

DW-020 Claims

Copies - 

When No 

Longer 

Required 

(Upon 

Settlement)

Copies - 

When No 

Longer 

Required 

(Upon 

Settlement)

Yes:  Before 

Settlement

Mag, 

Mfr, OD,  

Ppr

S/I
Yes:  After 

Settlement
 GC §§60200, 60201.6

Lead Dept. DW-021

Committees Internal - 

Attended by employees:  All 

Records 

(e.g. Records Management 

Committee, In-House Task 

Forces, etc.)

2 years 2 years   
Mag, 

Ppr
GC §60201

Lead 

(Responding) 

Dept.

DW-022

Complaints / Concerns from 

Citizens Computer Tracking 

Software or Correspondence

Minimum 2 

years

Minimum 2 

years
  

Mag, 

Ppr

District preference; Statute of 

Limitations for personal 

property, fraud, etc. is 3 years; 

Claims must be filed in 6 

months; CCP §§338 et seq., 

340 et seq., 342, GC §§945.6, 

GC §60201

DW-023 Contracts:  See Agreements

DW-024
Copies or duplicates of any 

record

Copies - 

When No 

Longer 

Required

Copies - 

When No 

Longer 

Required

  Mag Ppr GC §60200

Town of Discovery Bay CSD  ©1995-2014 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516

Adopted:

Agenda Item F-2



Ver. 2.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE: DISTRICT-WIDE STANDARDS Page DW-7

Office of 

Record
Retention No. Records Description Retention / Disposition Comments / Reference

(OFR)
Active          

(in office)

Inactive    

(Records 

Center)

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper 

after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for District-Wide Standards.                                                                                               

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                          

Litigation, complaints, claims, audits, pending public records act requests, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

Dept. that 

Authors 

Document 

or 

Receives the 

District's 

Original 

Document

DW-025

Correspondence - ROUTINE 

(e.g. Letters, Memos, 

Administrative, Chronological, 

General Files, Memorandums, 

Reading File, Working Files, etc.) 

2 years 2 years   
Mag, 

Ppr
GC §60201

Town of Discovery Bay CSD  ©1995-2014 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516

Adopted:

Agenda Item F-2



Ver. 2.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE: DISTRICT-WIDE STANDARDS Page DW-8

Office of 

Record
Retention No. Records Description Retention / Disposition Comments / Reference

(OFR)
Active          

(in office)

Inactive    

(Records 

Center)

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper 

after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for District-Wide Standards.                                                                                               

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                          

Litigation, complaints, claims, audits, pending public records act requests, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

Dept. that 

Authors 

Document 

or 

Receives the 

District's 

Original 

Document

DW-026

Correspondence - 

TRANSITORY / 

PRELIMINARY DRAFTS, 

Interagency and Intraagency 

Memoranda not retained in the 

ordinary course of business 

(e.g. calendars, checklists, e-mail 

or social media posting NOT made 

or retained for the purpose of 

preserving the informational 

content for future reference, 

invitations, instant messaging, 

logs, mailing lists, meeting room 

registrations, supply inventories, 

telephone messages, transmittal 

letters, thank yous, requests from 

other cities, undeliverable 

envelopes, visitors logs, voice 

mails, webpages, etc.)

When No 

Longer 

Required

When No 

Longer 

Required

  
Mag, 

Ppr

Electronic and paper records 

are filed and  retained based 

upon their content.  E-mails, 

electronic records, or social 

media postings that ARE  

made or retained for the 

purpose of preserving the 

informational content for future 

reference are saved outside 

the e-mail system by printing 

them out and placing them in a 

file folder, or saving them 

electronically; If not mentioned 

here, consult the District 

Attorney to determine if a 

record is considered transitory 

/ preliminary drafts.  GC 

§60201, GC §6252

Board Clerk DW-027
Deeds, Easements, Final 

Orders of Condemnations (All)

Copies - 

When No 

Longer 

Required

Copies - 

When No 

Longer 

Required

  
Mag, 

Ppr

Send all originals to the Board 

Clerk; GC §60200

Town of Discovery Bay CSD  ©1995-2014 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516

Adopted:

Agenda Item F-2



Ver. 2.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE: DISTRICT-WIDE STANDARDS Page DW-9

Office of 

Record
Retention No. Records Description Retention / Disposition Comments / Reference

(OFR)
Active          

(in office)

Inactive    

(Records 

Center)

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper 

after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for District-Wide Standards.                                                                                               

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                          

Litigation, complaints, claims, audits, pending public records act requests, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

Lead Dept. DW-028
Drafts & Notes:  Drafts that are 

revised (retain final version)

When No 

Longer 

Required

When No 

Longer 

Required

  
Mag, 

Ppr

As long as the drafts and notes 

are not retained in the "Regular 

Course of Business".  Consult 

the District Attorney to 

determine if a record is 

considered a draft.  GC 

§§60201, 6252, 6254(a)

Lead Dept. DW-029
Facility Use Applications / 

Facility Use Permits
2 years 2 years

Mag, 

Ppr
GC §60201

Lead Dept. DW-030

GIS Database / Data / Layers 

(both District-wide and 

Specialized)

When No 

Longer 

Required

When No 

Longer 

Required

Yes Mag

The Lead Department should 

print out historical documents 

(or save source data) prior to 

replacing the data, if they 

require the data or output for 

historical purposes; 

Department Preference 

(Preliminary documents);  GC 

§60201 et seq.

Lead Dept. DW-031
Grants (UNSUCCESSFUL 

Applications, Correspondence)
2 years 2 years   

Mag, 

Ppr
GC §60201

Town of Discovery Bay CSD  ©1995-2014 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516

Adopted:

Agenda Item F-2



Ver. 2.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE: DISTRICT-WIDE STANDARDS Page DW-10

Office of 

Record
Retention No. Records Description Retention / Disposition Comments / Reference

(OFR)
Active          

(in office)

Inactive    

(Records 

Center)

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper 

after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for District-Wide Standards.                                                                                               

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                          

Litigation, complaints, claims, audits, pending public records act requests, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

Lead Dept. DW-032

Grants / CDBG / Reimbursable 

Claims (SUCCESSFUL 

Reports, other records required 

to pass the funding agency's 

audit, if required)

Applications (successful), grant 

agreement, program rules, 

regulations & procedures, reports 

to grant funding agencies, 

correspondence, audit records, 

completion records

2 years

After 

Funding 

Agency 

Audit, if 

Required - 

Minimum 5 

years

After Funding 

Agency Audit, 

if required - 

Minimum 5 

years

  
Mag, 

Ppr

Meets auditing standards; 

Grants covered by a 

Consolidated Action Plan are 

required for 5 years; Uniform 

Admin. Requirements for 

Grants to Local Governments 

is 3 years from expenditure 

report or final payment of 

grantee or subgrantee; 

statewide guidelines propose 4 

years; 7 CFR 3016.42; 21 CFR 

1403.36 & 1403.42(b); 24 CFR 

85.42, 91.105(h), 92.505, 

570.490, & 570.502(a&b), 28 

CFR 66.42; 29 CFR 97.42; 40 

CFR 31.42; 44 CFR 13.42; 45 

CFR 92.42; OMB Circular A-

110 & A-133; GC §60201

Human 

Resources
DW-033

Grievances and Informal 

Complaints (Employees) 

Copies - 

When No 

Longer 

Required

Copies - 

When No 

Longer 

Required

Yes: Before 

Disposition

Mag, 

Ppr

Send all grievances to Human 

Resources; All State and 

Federal laws require retention 

until final disposition of formal 

complaint; State requires 2 

years after action is taken; GC 

§§12946, 60201

Town of Discovery Bay CSD  ©1995-2014 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516

Adopted:

Agenda Item F-2



Ver. 2.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE: DISTRICT-WIDE STANDARDS Page DW-11

Office of 

Record
Retention No. Records Description Retention / Disposition Comments / Reference

(OFR)
Active          

(in office)

Inactive    

(Records 

Center)

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper 

after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for District-Wide Standards.                                                                                               

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                          

Litigation, complaints, claims, audits, pending public records act requests, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

Risk Manag. DW-034
Lawsuits, Litigation, Pending 

Litigation

Copies - 

When No 

Longer 

Required 

(Upon 

Settlement)

Copies - 

When No 

Longer 

Required 

(Upon 

Settlement)

Yes:  Before 

Settlement

Mag, 

Mfr, OD,  

Ppr

S/I
Yes:  After 

Settlement

Risk Management 

administrates claim; GC 

§§60200, 60201.6

Lead Dept. DW-035
Leave Requests / Vacation 

Requests

When No 

Longer 

Required

When No 

Longer 

Required

  
Mag, 

Ppr

District Preference; Preliminary 

draft / transitory record; GC 

§60201, GC §6252

Board Clerk DW-036 Minutes - Board of Directors 

Copies - 

When No 

Longer 

Required

Copies - 

When No 

Longer 

Required

Yes (all)

Mag, 

Mfr, OD,  

Ppr

S No
Originals maintained by Board 

Clerk Permanently; GC §60200

Board Clerk DW-037
Municipal Code (these are 

copies)

Copies - 

When No 

Longer 

Required

Copies - 

When No 

Longer 

Required

Yes:  Current 

Original

Mag, 

Mfr, OD,  

Ppr

I No

Return any whole unused 

codes to the Board Clerk; 

Originals maintained by Board 

Clerk Permanently; GC §60201

Lead Dept. DW-038 Newspaper Clippings

When No 

Longer 

Required

When No 

Longer 

Required

  Ppr

Non-records - may be obtained 

from the newspaper company; 

GC §60201

Staffing Dept. DW-039

Notices:  Public Hearing 

Notices and Proofs of 

Publications

Project 

Approval + 2 

years

Project 

Approval + 2 

years

  
Mag, 

Ppr

Statute of Limitations on 

Municipal Government actions 

is 3 - 6 months; CCP§337 et 

seq; GC §60201

Town of Discovery Bay CSD  ©1995-2014 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516

Adopted:

Agenda Item F-2



Ver. 2.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE: DISTRICT-WIDE STANDARDS Page DW-12

Office of 

Record
Retention No. Records Description Retention / Disposition Comments / Reference

(OFR)
Active          

(in office)

Inactive    

(Records 

Center)

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper 

after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for District-Wide Standards.                                                                                               

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                          

Litigation, complaints, claims, audits, pending public records act requests, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

Board Clerk DW-040
Ordinances  - Board of 

Directors 

Copies - 

When No 

Longer 

Required

Copies - 

When No 

Longer 

Required

Yes (all)

Mag, 

Mfr, OD,  

Ppr

S No
Originals maintained by Board 

Clerk Permanently; GC §60201

Human 

Resources
DW-041 Personnel Files  

Send to 

Human 

Resources 

Upon 

Separation or 

Transfer

Send to 

Human 

Resources 

Upon 

Separation or 

Transfer

Before 

Separation

Mag, 

Ppr

Ensure records kept in 

Department files comply with 

District policy (all originals are 

sent to Human Resources); 

GC §60200

Lead Dept. DW-042
Personnel Files (Supervisor's 

Notes)

When No 

Longer 

Required

When No 

Longer 

Required

Before 

Annual 

Performance 

Evaluation

Mag, 

Ppr

Notes maintained in a separate 

folder to be incorporated into 

performance evaluation, or to 

document progressive 

discipline; GC §60201 et seq.

Lead Dept. DW-043 Personnel Work Schedules 2 years 2 years   
Mag, 

Ppr
GC §60201

Lead Dept. DW-044
Public Relations / Press 

Releases
2 years 2 years

Mag, 

Ppr
GC §60201

Lead Dept. 

(Who Ordered 

the Appraisal)

DW-045

Real Estate Appraisal Reports:  

Property NOT purchased, 

Loans not funded, etc.

2 years 2 years
Mag, 

Ppr

Not accessible to the public; 

Statewide Guidelines show 2 

years; GC §§60201, 6254(h)

Town of Discovery Bay CSD  ©1995-2014 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516

Adopted:

Agenda Item F-2



Ver. 2.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE: DISTRICT-WIDE STANDARDS Page DW-13

Office of 

Record
Retention No. Records Description Retention / Disposition Comments / Reference

(OFR)
Active          

(in office)

Inactive    

(Records 

Center)

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper 

after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for District-Wide Standards.                                                                                               

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                          

Litigation, complaints, claims, audits, pending public records act requests, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

Lead Dept. 

(Who Ordered 

the Appraisal)

DW-046

Real Estate Appraisal Reports:  

Purchased Property, Funded 

Loans

2 years
 Minimum 3 

years

Minimum 5 

years

Yes:  Before 

Purchase

Mag, 

Mfr, OD,  

Ppr

S
Yes:  After 

Inactive

Not accessible to the public 

until purchase has been 

completed; meets grant 

auditing requirements; 24 CFR 

85.42 & 91.105(h), & 

570.502(b); 29 CFR 97.42, GC 

§60201

DW-047

Reference Materials:  Policies, 

Procedures, Brochures, 

Manuals, Brochures, Flyers, 

Manuals, etc:  Produced by 

OUTSIDE ORGANIZATIONS 

(League of California Cities, 

Chamber of Commerce, etc.)

When No 

Longer 

Required

When No 

Longer 

Required

  
Mag, 

Ppr
Non-Records

Lead Dept. DW-048

Reference Materials:  Policies, 

Procedures, Brochures, Flyers, 

Manuals, etc:  Produced by  

YOUR Department

Minimum 2 

years

Minimum 2 

years
  

Mag, 

Ppr

Statewide guidelines propose 

superseded + 2 or 5 years; GC 

§60201

Lead Dept. DW-049

Reference Materials: Policies, 

Procedures, Brochures, Flyers, 

Manuals, etc:  Produced by 

OTHER Departments

When 

Superseded

When 

Superseded
  

Mag, 

Ppr
Copies; GC §60200

DW-050
Reference or Working Files:  

See Correspondence

Town of Discovery Bay CSD  ©1995-2014 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516

Adopted:

Agenda Item F-2



Ver. 2.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE: DISTRICT-WIDE STANDARDS Page DW-14

Office of 

Record
Retention No. Records Description Retention / Disposition Comments / Reference

(OFR)
Active          

(in office)

Inactive    

(Records 

Center)

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper 

after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for District-Wide Standards.                                                                                               

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                          

Litigation, complaints, claims, audits, pending public records act requests, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

Lead Dept. DW-051

Reports and Studies 

(Historically significant - e.g., 

Zoning Studies)

10 years P P   

Mag, 

Mfr, OD,  

Ppr

S/I
Yes:  After 

10 years

Administratively and 

Historically significant, 

therefore retained 

permanently; GC §60201

Lead Dept. DW-052

Reports and Studies (other 

than Historically significant 

reports - e.g. Annual Reports)

10 years 10 years   
Mag, 

Ppr

Information is outdated after 10 

years; statewide guidelines 

propose 2 years; If historically 

significant, retain permanently; 

GC §60201

Board Clerk DW-053
Resolutions - Board of 

Directors 

Copies - 

When No 

Longer 

Required

Copies - 

When No 

Longer 

Required

Yes (all)

Mag, 

Mfr, OD,  

Ppr

S No
Originals maintained by Board 

Clerk Permanently; GC §60200

Lead Dept. DW-054
Special Projects / Subject Files 

/ Issue Files 

Minimum 2 

years

Minimum 2 

years

Mag, 

Ppr

Department Preference; GC 

§60201 et seq.

Lead Dept. DW-055

Subject / Reference Files:  

Subjects other than Specifically 

Mentioned in Retention 

Schedules

Minimum 2 

years

Minimum 2 

years

Mag, 

Ppr

Department Preference; GC 

§60201 et seq.

Lead Dept. DW-056

Surveys / Questionnaires (that 

the District issues).  

If a summary of the data is 

compiled, the survey forms are 

considered a draft or transitory 

record, and can be destroyed 

as drafts (When No Longer 

Required)

2 years 2 years   
Mag, 

Ppr
GC §60201

Town of Discovery Bay CSD  ©1995-2014 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516

Adopted:

Agenda Item F-2



Ver. 2.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE: DISTRICT-WIDE STANDARDS Page DW-15

Office of 

Record
Retention No. Records Description Retention / Disposition Comments / Reference

(OFR)
Active          

(in office)

Inactive    

(Records 

Center)

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper 

after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for District-Wide Standards.                                                                                               

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                          

Litigation, complaints, claims, audits, pending public records act requests, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

Finance / 

Payroll
DW-057

Time Sheets / Time Cards / 

Overtime Sheets / Overtime 

Cards

Copies - 

When No 

Longer 

Required

Copies - 

When No 

Longer 

Required

Mag, 

Ppr
GC §60200

Lead Dept. DW-058

Training - ALL COURSE 

RECORDS 

(Attendance Rosters, Outlines 

and Materials; includes Ethics 

& Safety training)

2 years 5 years 7 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S
Yes: When 

Inactive

Department preference; Ethics 

Training is 5 years; Statewide 

guidelines propose 7 years; 

Calif. Labor Division is required 

to keep their OSHA records 7 

years; EEOC/FLSA/ADEA 

(Age) requires 3 years for 

promotion, demotion, transfer, 

selection, or discharge; State 

Law requires 2 -3 years for 

personnel actions;  8 CCR 

§3203 et seq., 29 CFR 

1627.3(b)(ii), LC §6429(c); GC 

§§12946, 60201, 53235.2(b) 

Town of Discovery Bay CSD  ©1995-2014 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516

Adopted:

Agenda Item F-2



Ver. 2.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE: DISTRICT-WIDE STANDARDS Page DW-16

Office of 

Record
Retention No. Records Description Retention / Disposition Comments / Reference

(OFR)
Active          

(in office)

Inactive    

(Records 

Center)

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper 

after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for District-Wide Standards.                                                                                               

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                          

Litigation, complaints, claims, audits, pending public records act requests, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

Lead Dept. DW-059

Volunteer / Unpaid Intern 

Applications & Agreements - 

Successful

Inactive / 

Separation + 

3 years

Inactive / 

Separation + 

3 years

Ppr

Department preference (Courts 

treat volunteers as 

employees); 

EEOC/FLSA/ADEA (Age) 

requires 3 years for promotion, 

demotion, transfer, selection, 

or discharge; 29 CFR 1602.31 

& 1627.3(b)(1)(i)&(ii), GC 

§§12946, 60201

Lead Dept. DW-060

Volunteer / Unpaid Intern 

Applications & Agreements - 

Unsuccessful or Pending 

Applicants

3 years 3 years Ppr

Department preference (Courts 

treat volunteers as 

employees); 

EEOC/FLSA/ADEA (Age) 

requires 3 years for promotion, 

demotion, transfer, selection, 

or discharge; 29 CFR 1602.31 

& 1627.3(b)(1)(i)&(ii), GC 

§§12946, 60201

Town of Discovery Bay CSD  ©1995-2014 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516

Adopted:

Agenda Item F-2



Ver. 2.0  RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  FINANCE Page FIN-1

Office of 

Record
Retention No. Records Description Retention / Disposition Comments / Reference

(OFR)
Active          

(in office)

Inactive    

(Off-site, 

OD or Mfr)

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for District-Wide Standards.                                                                                               

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                          

Litigation, complaints, claims, audits, pending public records act requests, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

ADMINISTRATION

Finance / 

Admin.
FIN-001 Adjusting Entries / Journal Entries 5 years 5 years

Mag, OD, 

Ppr
S/I

Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Department Preference; Meets 

municipal government auditing 

standards; GC §60201

Finance / 

Admin.
FIN-002 Audit Work Papers (Finals) 5 years 5 years

Mag, OD, 

Ppr
S / I

Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Department Preference; GC 

§60201

Finance / 

Admin.
FIN-003

Audited Financial Statements / 

Comprehensive Annual Financial 

Report (CAFR) with Audit 

Management Letters / Audit Reports

2 years P P
Mag, OD, 

Ppr
S / I

Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Department Preference for 

historical purposes; District 

Secretary retains original 

permanently; GC §60201 et seq.

Finance / 

Admin.
FIN-004 Audits - Operational (Internal Audits) 2 years 5 years 7 years

Mag, OD, 

Ppr
S / I

Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Department Preference; GC 

§60201

Finance / 

Admin.
FIN-005

Bank Statements / Checking Account 

Reconciliation / Bank Reconciliation  

(Transaction Statements, Wire 

Transfers, Check Listing Audit Trail, 

Deposits, Treasury Statements, 

Trustee & Investment Statements, 

etc.) 

7years 7 years   Mag, Ppr

District Preference (may include 

records pertaining to independent 

contractor's compensation, or 

expense reimbursement); Meets 

auditing standards; GC §60201

Finance / 

Admin.
FIN-006

Bonds / Certificates of Participation / 

Transcripts / Disclosure Reports  / 

Lines of Credit / Promissory Notes

Fully 

Defeased or 

Matured + 

10 years

Fully 

Defeased or 

Matured + 

10 years

Yes:  Until 

Maturity

Mag, OD, 

Ppr
S / I No

Statute of Limitations for bonds, 

mortgages, trust deeds, notes or 

debentures is 6 years; Bonds 

issued by local governments are 

10 years; There are specific 

requirements for disposal of 

unused bonds; CCP §§336 et 

seq.; 337.5(a); GC §§43900 et 

seq., 60201

Finance / 

Admin.
FIN-007

Budgets:  Adopted, Budget Hearing, 

etc.
10 years P P

Yes:  

Current 

Fiscal Year

Mag, OD, 

Ppr
S / I

Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Department Preference; District 

Secretary maintains originals; 

longer for administrative value; 

GC §60200

Town of Discovery Bay CSD  ©1995-2014 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted:

Agenda Item F-2



Ver. 2.0  RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  FINANCE Page FIN-2

Office of 

Record
Retention No. Records Description Retention / Disposition Comments / Reference

(OFR)
Active          

(in office)

Inactive    

(Off-site, 

OD or Mfr)

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for District-Wide Standards.                                                                                               

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                          

Litigation, complaints, claims, audits, pending public records act requests, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

Finance / 

Admin.
FIN-008 Budgets:  Development, Drafts, etc.

When No 

Longer 

Required

When No 

Longer 

Required

Mag, Ppr

Department Preference; District 

Secretary maintains originals; 

longer for administrative value; 

GC §60200

Finance / 

Admin.
FIN-009

Chart of Accounts (Print out if a 

software change is made in order to 

retain historical account numbers)

2 years 5 years 7 years Mag, Ppr
Department Preference; GC 

§60200

Finance / 

Admin.
FIN-010

Contractor Deposits, Refundable 

Bonds, Receipts

Close + 5 

years

Close + 5 

years
Mag, Ppr

Department Preference; Meets 

municipal government auditing 

standards;  GC §60201

Finance / 

Admin.
FIN-011 Depreciation Schedules 5 years 5 years Mag, Ppr S / I

Yes:  After 

Inactive

Department Preference 

(consistent with audit work 

papers); Published articles show 

7 years after disposal;  GC 

§60201

Finance / 

Admin.
FIN-012 Developer Trust Accounts

Close + 5 

years

Close + 5 

years

Mag, OD, 

Ppr
S / I

Yes:  After 

3 months

Department Preference (meets 

auditing standards); GC §60201

Finance / 

Admin.
FIN-013

Financial Reports:  Journals, 

Ledgers, Reconciliations, Registers, 

Reports, Transaction Histories, 

Balance Sheets, Budget 

Adjustments, Trial Balance, 

(MONTHLY OR PERIODIC)  Does 

NOT include year-end General 

Ledger.

When No 

Longer 

Required

When No 

Longer 

Required

Mag, Ppr

Draft / Preliminary documents 

used to produce final year-end 

general ledger (financial database 

is the original); GC §60201

Finance / 

Admin.
FIN-014 Financial System Database Indefinite Indefinite Mag

Data is interrelated; system 

qualifies as a "trusted system"; 

GC §§60201, 12168.7

Finance / 

Admin.
FIN-015

Fixed Assets - Auction / Disposal / 

Sales / Surplused
2 years 3 years 5 years Mag, Ppr

Consistent with Accounts 

Receivable;  Statute of limitations 

is 3 years; statewide guidelines 

propose 2 - 4 years; published 

articles show 3 - 6 years; GC 

§60201, CCP §337

Town of Discovery Bay CSD  ©1995-2014 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted:

Agenda Item F-2



Ver. 2.0  RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  FINANCE Page FIN-3

Office of 

Record
Retention No. Records Description Retention / Disposition Comments / Reference

(OFR)
Active          

(in office)

Inactive    

(Off-site, 

OD or Mfr)

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for District-Wide Standards.                                                                                               

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                          

Litigation, complaints, claims, audits, pending public records act requests, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

Finance / 

Admin.
FIN-016 General Ledger:  Final year-end

Minimum 7 

years

Minimum 7 

years

Mag, OD, 

Ppr
S / I

Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Department Preference; 

Published articles show 3 - 7 

years; GC §60201

Finance / 

Admin.
FIN-017 Investments (Including Arbitrage) 5 years 5 years

Yes:  Until 

Maturity
Mag, Ppr

Department Preference; GC 

§60201

Finance / 

Admin.
FIN-018 Journal Entries 2 years 5 years 7 years Mag, Ppr

Department Preference; Statute 

of Limitations is 4 years; 

Published articles show 6-7 

years; GC §60201, CCP §337

Finance / 

Admin.
FIN-019 Monthly Work Papers

When No 

Longer 

Required

When No 

Longer 

Required

Mag, Ppr Preliminary Drafts; GC §60200

Finance / 

Admin.
FIN-020 Petty Cash Reconciliation 7 years 7 years   Mag, Ppr

District Preference (may include 

records pertaining to independent 

contractor's compensation, or 

expense reimbursement); Meets 

auditing standards; GC §60201

Finance / 

Admin.
FIN-021

State Controller's Report / Local 

Government Compensation Report
5 years 5 years   Mag, Ppr District Preference; GC §60201

Finance / 

Admin.
FIN-022

State Controller's Report / Special 

Districts Financial Transactions 

Report

5 years 5 years
Mag, OD, 

Ppr
S/I

Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Department Preference; GC 

§60201

Finance / 

Admin.
FIN-023

Tax Exempt Status Forms (Federal or 

State) for Public Financing 

Corporation - 990-N, 199-N

P P
Mag, OD, 

Ppr
S/I

Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Department Preference; GC 

§60201

Finance / 

Admin.
FIN-024 Tax Returns (Sales Tax, etc.) 5 years 5 years Mag, Ppr

Department Preference; IRS: 4 

years after tax is due or paid  

(longer for auditing & contractor 

delinquency); Ca. FTB: 3 years; 

Published articles show 

permanent; ;  IRS Reg §31.6001-

1(e)(2), 26 CFR §1.6001-1,  R&T 

§19530, GC §60201

Town of Discovery Bay CSD  ©1995-2014 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted:

Agenda Item F-2



Ver. 2.0  RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  FINANCE Page FIN-4

Office of 

Record
Retention No. Records Description Retention / Disposition Comments / Reference

(OFR)
Active          

(in office)

Inactive    

(Off-site, 

OD or Mfr)

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for District-Wide Standards.                                                                                               

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                          

Litigation, complaints, claims, audits, pending public records act requests, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

Finance / 

Accounts 

Payable

FIN-025 1099's , 1096's 2 years 5 years 7 years
Mag, OD, 

Ppr
S/I

Yes:  After 

QC & OD

IRS: 4 years after tax is due or 

paid  (longer for auditing & 

contractor delinquency); Ca. FTB: 

3 years; Published articles show 

permanent; ;  IRS Reg §31.6001-

1(e)(2),  R&T §19530, GC 

§60201(d)(12)

Finance / 

Accounts 

Payable

FIN-026

Accounts Payable Source Records 

(includes Invoices, Receivers, Travel 

Expense Reimbursements, etc.)

2 years 5 years 7 years
Yes:  Until 

Paid

Mag, OD, 

Ppr
S/I

Yes:  After 

QC & OD

May contain independent 

contractor's compensation, 

expense reimbursement, or 

District credit card records; Meets 

municipal government auditing 

standards; Sewage Sludge is 

required for 5 years; Published 

articles show 3 - 7 years; 40  

CFR 122.41(j)(2); WC 

§13263.2(b) et seq.; GC 

§60201(d)(12)

Finance / 

Accounts 

Payable

FIN-027 Check Copies 2 years 5 years 7 years
Mag, OD, 

Ppr
S/I

Yes:  After 

QC & OD

May contain independent 

contractor's compensation; 

Statute of Limitations is 4 years; 

Meets municipal government 

auditing standards; GC 

§60201(d)(12), CCP § 337

Finance / 

Accounts 

Payable

FIN-028
Check Registers (Including Payables 

and Receiving Transaction Journals)

When No 

Longer 

Required

When No 

Longer 

Required

Mag, Ppr

Draft / Preliminary documents  

(financial database is the 

original); GC §60201

Town of Discovery Bay CSD  ©1995-2014 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted:

Agenda Item F-2



Ver. 2.0  RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  FINANCE Page FIN-5

Office of 

Record
Retention No. Records Description Retention / Disposition Comments / Reference

(OFR)
Active          

(in office)

Inactive    

(Off-site, 

OD or Mfr)

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for District-Wide Standards.                                                                                               

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                          

Litigation, complaints, claims, audits, pending public records act requests, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

Finance / 

Accounts 

Payable

FIN-029 Petty Cash 2 years 5 years 7 years
Mag, OD, 

Ppr
S/I

Yes:  After 

QC & OD

May contain independent 

contractor's compensation, 

expense reimbursement, or 

District credit card records; Meets 

municipal government auditing 

standards; GC §60201(d)(12) 

Finance / 

Accounts 

Payable

FIN-030 W-9's 7 years 7 years Mag, Ppr

District Preference; Related to 

independent contractor's 

compensation; IRS: 4 yrs after tax 

is due or paid; Ca. FTB: 3 years; 

Articles show 7 years; IRS Reg 

§31.6001-1(e)(2), R&T §19530; 

29CFR 516.5 - 516.6, 29USC 

436, GC §60201(d)(12)

PAYROLL

Finance / 

Payroll
FIN-031

DE-6. DE-43, W-3, & DE-166, & 941 

Forms - Quarterly Payroll Tax 

Returns (Federal and State)  IRS 

5500 Forms (Employee Benefit 

Plans), PERS / FICA & Medicare 

Adjustments - Quarterly Payroll Tax 

Returns / OASDI, Federal Tax 

Deposits, Adjustments, etc. 

7 years 7 years Mag, Ppr

Department Preference; IRS: 4 

years after tax is due or paid  

(longer for auditing & contractor 

delinquency); Ca. FTB: 3 years; 

Published articles show 

permanent; ;  IRS Reg §31.6001-

1(e)(2), 26 CFR §1.6001-1,  R&T 

§19530, GC §60201

Finance / 

Payroll
FIN-032

Deferred Compensation Plan (457 

Plan, 125 Plan) 

Plan 

Termination 
10 years

Plan 

Termination 

+ 10 years

Yes:  Before 

Expiration

Mag, OD, 

Ppr
S No

Department preference to be 

consistent with District-wide 

standards; EEOC / ADEA (Age) 

requires 1 year after benefit plan 

termination; Federal law requires 

6 years after filing date; State 

Law requires 2 years after action; 

29 CFR 1627.3(b)(2); 29 USC 

1027; GC §§12946, 60201

Town of Discovery Bay CSD  ©1995-2014 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted:

Agenda Item F-2



Ver. 2.0  RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  FINANCE Page FIN-6

Office of 

Record
Retention No. Records Description Retention / Disposition Comments / Reference

(OFR)
Active          

(in office)

Inactive    

(Off-site, 

OD or Mfr)

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for District-Wide Standards.                                                                                               

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                          

Litigation, complaints, claims, audits, pending public records act requests, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

Finance / 

Payroll
FIN-033

Deferred Compensation Statements / 

Transactions
7 years 7 years Mag, Ppr

Department preference; GC 

§60201 et seq.

Finance / 

Payroll
FIN-034 Payroll Checks 7 years 7 years

Mag, OD, 

Ppr
S/I

Yes:  After 

QC & OD
GC §60201(d)(12), CCP § 337

Finance / 

Payroll
FIN-035

Payroll Reports - Detail Year End 

(cumulative)
7 years 7 years Mag, Ppr

Department preference; GC 

§60201

Finance / 

Payroll
FIN-036 Payroll Reports - Monthly or Periodic 7 years 7 years Mag, Ppr

Department preference; GC 

§60201

Finance / 

Payroll
FIN-037

Retirement / Pension Records / 

Actuarial Valuation Reports / 

Actuarial Valuation Reports, Annual 

Employer Statements

7 years 7 years
Yes:  Until 

Paid
Mag, Ppr

Department Preference; Statute 

of Limitations for retirement 

benefits is 6 years from last 

action; GC §§12946, 60201; 29 

USC 1113

Finance / 

Payroll
FIN-038 Timesheets 7 years 7 years Mag, Ppr

Department Preference to meet 

auditing standards; GC §60201 et 

seq.

Finance / 

Payroll
FIN-039 W-2's 7 years 7 years

Mag, OD, 

Ppr
S/I

Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Department preference; IRS: 4 

yrs after tax is due or paid; Ca. 

FTB: 3 years; Articles show 7 

years; IRS Reg §31.6001-1(e)(2), 

R&T §19530; 29CFR 516.5 - 

516.6, 29USC 436, GC 

§60201(d)(12)

Town of Discovery Bay CSD  ©1995-2014 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted:

Agenda Item F-2



Ver. 2.0  RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  FINANCE Page FIN-7

Office of 

Record
Retention No. Records Description Retention / Disposition Comments / Reference

(OFR)
Active          

(in office)

Inactive    

(Off-site, 

OD or Mfr)

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for District-Wide Standards.                                                                                               

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                          

Litigation, complaints, claims, audits, pending public records act requests, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

UTILITY BILLING / CUSTOMER SERVICE

Finance / 

Utility 

Billing / 

Customer 

Service

FIN-040 Bankruptcies - ALL 5 years 5 years Mag, Ppr
Department preference; GC 

§60201

Finance / 

Utility 

Billing / 

Customer 

Service

FIN-041

Billing / Utility Billing / Accounts 

Receivable Source Records (ALL 

Records and Reports, including   

Adjustments, Billings, Cash, Checks, 

Closed Accounts, Collections, Credit 

Memos, Deposits, Miscellaneous 

Billing, and Payments 

5 years 5 years
Yes:  Until 

Paid
Mag, Ppr

Department Preference; Meets 

municipal government auditing 

standards; Published articles 

show 3 - 7 years;  GC §60201

Finance / 

Utility 

Billing / 

Customer 

Service

FIN-042
Billing Registers / Reports (Billing 

Ledger and Month End)
5 years 5 years Mag, Ppr

Department Preference; Meets 

municipal government auditing 

standards; Published articles 

show 3 - 7 years;  GC §60201

Finance / 

Utility 

Billing / 

Customer 

Service

FIN-043
Collection Agency Assignments / 

Write Offs
7 years 7 years Mag, Ppr

Department Preference (negative 

information remains on credit 

reports for 7 years); GC §60201 

et seq.

Finance / 

Utility 

Billing / 

Customer 

Service

FIN-044 Collection Correspondence 7 years 7 years
Mag, OD, 

Ppr
S/I

Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Department Preference to retain 

as long as it remains a doubtful 

account; Meets municipal 

government auditing standards; 

GC §60201

Finance / 

Utility 

Billing / 

Customer 

Service

FIN-045
Customer Correspondence and 

Comment Cards
2 years 2 years Mag, Ppr District preference; GC §60201

Town of Discovery Bay CSD  ©1995-2014 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted:

Agenda Item F-2



Ver. 2.0  RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  FINANCE Page FIN-8

Office of 

Record
Retention No. Records Description Retention / Disposition Comments / Reference

(OFR)
Active          

(in office)

Inactive    

(Off-site, 

OD or Mfr)

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for District-Wide Standards.                                                                                               

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                          

Litigation, complaints, claims, audits, pending public records act requests, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

Finance / 

Utility 

Billing / 

Customer 

Service

FIN-046

Customer Service Requests (CSRs) / 

Meter Set Forms /  Service Orders  - 

Not Entered or Only Partially 

Entered Into CMMS Database

5 years 5 years
Mag, OD, 

Ppr
S/I

Yes:  After 

QC & OD

District preference for drinking 

water regulations; CCP §§338 et 

seq., 340 et seq., 342, GC 

§§945.6, GC §60201

Finance / 

Utility 

Billing / 

Customer 

Service

FIN-047 Deposit Slips  (Cash only) 5 years 5 years
Mag, OD, 

Ppr
S/I

Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Department Preference; Meets 

municipal government auditing 

standards; GC §60201

Finance / 

Utility 

Billing / 

Customer 

Service

FIN-048

Payment Stubs (mailed) / Utility 

Receipts (when payment is made at 

the counter)

When No 

Longer 

Required

When No 

Longer 

Required

Mag, Ppr

Transitory records not retained in 

the ordinary course of business; 

GC §60201

Finance / 

Utility 

Billing / 

Customer 

Service

FIN-049

Residential Water Deposits / 

Customer Deposits / Customer 

Refunds

5 years 5 years Mag, Ppr

District preference for drinking 

water regulations; CCP §§338 et 

seq., 340 et seq., 342, GC 

§§945.6, GC §60201

Finance / 

Utility 

Billing / 

Customer 

Service

FIN-050
Returned Payments (NSF, etc.)  

Checks / ACH
5 years 5 years

Yes:  Until 

Paid
Mag, Ppr

Meets municipal government 

auditing standards; Statewide 

guidelines propose audit + 4 

years;  GC §60201

Finance / 

Utility 

Billing / 

Customer 

Service

FIN-051 Utility Billing Database Indefinite Indefinite Yes Mag
Data Fields / Records are 

interrelated; GC §60201

Town of Discovery Bay CSD  ©1995-2014 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted:

Agenda Item F-2



Ver. 2.0  RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  GENERAL MANAGER, IT & BOARD CLERK Page GM-1

Office of 

Record
Retention No. Records Description Retention / Disposition Comments / Reference

(OFR)
Active          

(in office)

Inactive    

(Off-site, 

OD or Mfr)

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for District-Wide Standards.                                                                                               

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                          

Litigation, complaints, claims, audits, pending public records act requests, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

ADMINISTRATION / GENERAL MANAGER

GM / 

General 

Manager

GM-001

Association Records (external 

associations - e.g., ACWA, 

CASA, etc.)

When No 

Longer 

Required

When No 

Longer 

Required

Mag, Ppr Non-records; GC §60201 et seq.

GM / 

General 

Manager

GM-002

Correspondence with 

Regulatory Agencies / 

Environmental Agencies / 

Regulatory Agencies

(EPA, DHS, etc.)

When No 

Longer 

Required - 

Minimum 

10 years

When No 

Longer 

Required - 

Minimum 

10 years

Yes:  While 

Active 

Issues

Mag, Ppr

District preference; some 

correspondence from Regulatory 

Agencies need to be retained for 

long periods of time; GC §60201

GM / 

General 

Manager

GM-003
General Manager 

Correspondence

 Minimum 4 

years

Minimum 4 

years
Mag, Ppr

Administrative value to cover 

terms of office; GC §60201

GM / 

General 

Manager

GM-004 Operating Permis
Expiration + 

2 years
P P

Mag, Mfr, 

OD, Ppr
S / I No

Department preference; GC 

§60201

GM / 

General 

Manager

GM-005

Plans & Plan Audits:  Urban 

Water Management Plans 

(UWMP), Wastewater / Sewer 

System Management Plans 

(SSMP) and Audits, etc.

10 years P P Yes
Mag, Mfr, 

OD, Ppr
S

Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Department Preference (copies) 

GC §60201.7

GM / 

General 

Manager

GM-006
Projects & Issues (Issues and/or 

projects will vary over time)

When No 

Longer 

Required - 

Minimum 2 

years

When No 

Longer 

Required - 

Minimum 2 

years

Yes:  While 

Active 

Issues

Mag, Ppr GC §60201

GM / 

General 

Manager

GM-007 Vulnerability Assessment

When 

Superseded - 

Minimum 2 

years

When 

Superseded - 

Minimum 2 

years

 Ppr Confidential; GC §60201

Town of Discovery Bay CSD  ©1995-2014 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 

Agenda Item F-2



Ver. 2.0  RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  GENERAL MANAGER, IT & BOARD CLERK Page GM-2

Office of 

Record
Retention No. Records Description Retention / Disposition Comments / Reference

(OFR)
Active          

(in office)

Inactive    

(Off-site, 

OD or Mfr)

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for District-Wide Standards.                                                                                               

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                          

Litigation, complaints, claims, audits, pending public records act requests, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

GM / 

General 

Manager

GM-008

Water Forecasts / Urban Water 

Management Forecast / Future 

Developments, etc.

5 years 5 years Mag, Ppr
Department Preference (copies) 

GC §60200

GM / 

General 

Manager

GM-009
Water Quality Reports / 

Consumer Confidence Reports
12 years P P

Mag, Mfr, 

OD, Ppr
S / I

Yes - After 

QC & OD

Department preference; State law 

requires 12 years, federal 10 

years; 40 CFR 141.33(a);  22 CCR 

§64692

GM / 

General 

Manager

GM-010
Weekly Letter to the Board / 

Board udpates
4 years 4 years Mag, Ppr

Administrative value to cover 

terms of office; GC §60201

Town of Discovery Bay CSD  ©1995-2014 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 

Agenda Item F-2



Ver. 2.0  RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  GENERAL MANAGER, IT & BOARD CLERK Page GM-3

Office of 

Record
Retention No. Records Description Retention / Disposition Comments / Reference

(OFR)
Active          

(in office)

Inactive    

(Off-site, 

OD or Mfr)

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for District-Wide Standards.                                                                                               

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                          

Litigation, complaints, claims, audits, pending public records act requests, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

BOARD CLERK   

GM / Board 

Clerk
GM-011

Affidavits of Postings and 

Publications
2 years 2 years Mag, Ppr

Brown Act challenges must be 

filed within 30 or 90 days of action; 

Statute of Limitations on Municipal 

Government actions is 3 - 6 

months; Statute of Limitations for 

mailings for annexations, special 

districts, bonds is 60 days; CCP 

§§337 et seq, 349.4; GC §§60201, 

54960.1(c)(1)

GM / Board 

Clerk
GM-012

Agenda Packets - District Board 

of Directors, Subcommittees of 

the Board (Includes Agenda 

Staff Reports, Annotated 

Agendas, etc.)

P P

Yes:  Before 

Meeting 

Date

Mag, Mfr, 

OD, Ppr
S

Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Department preference; GC 

§60201

GM / Board 

Clerk
GM-013

Agreements - ALL Contracts 

(Joint Use, JPAs, MOUs, Water 

Banking, Property Purchasing, 

etc)

P P
Yes:  Before 

Completion

Mag, Mfr, 

OD, Ppr
S

Yes:  After 

Completion

Department Preference; All 

infrastructure, JPAs, & Mutual Aid 

contracts are permanent for 

emergency preparedness; Statute 

of Limitations is 4 years; 10 years 

for Errors & Omissions; CCP 

§§337. 337.1(a), 337.15, 343; GC 

§60201 et seq.

GM / Board 

Clerk
GM-014

Agreements for Service / 

Service Applications from 

Developers

P P
Yes:  Before 

Expiration

Mag, Mfr, 

OD, Ppr
S

Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Department Preference; Statute of 

Limitations is 4 years; 10 years for 

Errors & Omissions; CCP §§337. 

337.1(a), 337.15, 343; GC §60201 

et seq.

GM / Board 

Clerk
GM-015 Annexations / Detachments P P

Mag, Mfr, 

OD, Ppr
S/I No GC § 60201

Town of Discovery Bay CSD  ©1995-2014 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 

Agenda Item F-2



Ver. 2.0  RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  GENERAL MANAGER, IT & BOARD CLERK Page GM-4

Office of 

Record
Retention No. Records Description Retention / Disposition Comments / Reference

(OFR)
Active          

(in office)

Inactive    

(Off-site, 

OD or Mfr)

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for District-Wide Standards.                                                                                               

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                          

Litigation, complaints, claims, audits, pending public records act requests, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

GM / Board 

Clerk
GM-016

Audio Tapes & Recordings -  

District Board meetings 
4 years 4 years

Tape 

(Mag), 

OD

Department Preference; legally 

required for 30 days (or adoption 

of the minutes); GC §54953.5(b)

GM / Board 

Clerk
GM-017

Bill of Sales / Bond Exoneration 

(Development, Pipelines, etc.)
P P

Mag, Mfr, 

OD, Ppr
S No

Department preference - 

infrastructure; GC §60201

GM / Board 

Clerk & 

Risk 

Manage.

GM-018
Claims & Litigation - (except 

Personnel issues)

Final 

Disposition 

+ 5 years

Final 

Disposition 

+ 5 years

Yes:  Until 

Final 

Disposition

Mag, Ppr

Claim must be filed within 1 year, 

lawsuit within 2 years; complaints 

against peace officers within 5 

years; Statute of Limitations for 

contracts is 4 years; wrongful 

death for construction is 

completion + 5 years; CCP §§ 337 

et seq.; GC §§ 911.2, 945.6, 

60201 et seq.

GM / Board 

Clerk
GM-019

Conflict of Interest Code 

(Resolution)
P P

Mag, Mfr, 

OD,  Ppr
S No GC §60201

GM / Board 

Clerk
GM-020

Deeds, Easements, 

Conveyances, Condemnations 

and Property Records (property 

acquisition files, including 

variances, title insurance and 

orders of condemnations, 

conservation easements, etc.)

P P Yes (all)
Mag, Mfr, 

OD,  Ppr
S No GC §60201(d)(8)

GM / Board 

Clerk
GM-021

District Formation, Mergers, 

Boundary Changes, 

Organization or Reorganizations 

Approved by the Board

P P
Mag, Mfr, 

OD,  Ppr
S

Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Part of the Agenda Packet, which 

is maintained permanently; 

Required for formal changes to the 

district approved by the Board 

only; GC §60201

GM / Board 

Clerk
GM-022 District Seal, Logo P P

Mag, Mfr, 

OD,  Ppr
S No

Brown Act challenges must be 

filed within 30 or 90 days of action; 

GC §§60201, 54960.1(c)(1)

Town of Discovery Bay CSD  ©1995-2014 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 

Agenda Item F-2



Ver. 2.0  RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  GENERAL MANAGER, IT & BOARD CLERK Page GM-5

Office of 

Record
Retention No. Records Description Retention / Disposition Comments / Reference

(OFR)
Active          

(in office)

Inactive    

(Off-site, 

OD or Mfr)

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for District-Wide Standards.                                                                                               

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                          

Litigation, complaints, claims, audits, pending public records act requests, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

BOARD CLERK / ELECTIONS - CONSOLIDATED

GM / Board 

Clerk
GM-023

Chronological History of Board 

Members
P P Mag, Ppr Historical Value; GC §60201

GM / Board 

Clerk
GM-024

Elections - GENERAL, 

WORKING or 

ADMINISTRATION Files 

(Correspondence, Notices, 

Postings, Precinct Workers, 

County Election Services, etc.) 

2 years 2 years
 Mag, 

Ppr

Used for a model for the next 

election, GC §60201

GM / Board 

Clerk
GM-025

Elections - HISTORICAL File 

(Sample ballot, copies of all 

Resolutions (calling the election, 

canvass, etc.), election 

summary)

8 years P P
Mag, Mfr, 

OD,  Ppr
S No

Retained for Historical Value, GC 

§60201

GM / Board 

Clerk
GM-026

Elections - Petitions (Initiative, 

Recall or Referendum)

Results or 

Final 

Examination 

if No 

Election + 8 

months

Results or 

Final 

Examination 

if No 

Election + 8 

months

Ppr

Not accessible to the public; The 8 

month retention applies after 

election results, or final 

examination if no election.  Applies 

unless a legal/FPPC proceeding.  

EC §§17200, 17400

(End of Elections Section)

GM / Board 

Clerk
GM-027

Ethics Training Certificates for 

Board Members and Others 
5 years 5 years Mag, Ppr GC §53235.2(b)

GM / Board 

Clerk
GM-028

FPPC 700 Series Forms 

(Statement of Economic 

Interests):  DESIGNATED 

EMPLOYEES (specified in the 

District's Conflict of Interest 

code)

7 years 7 years
Mag, Mfr, 

OD,  Ppr
S

Yes:  After 

2 years

District maintains original 

statements; GC §81009(e)(g)

Town of Discovery Bay CSD  ©1995-2014 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 

Agenda Item F-2



Ver. 2.0  RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  GENERAL MANAGER, IT & BOARD CLERK Page GM-6

Office of 

Record
Retention No. Records Description Retention / Disposition Comments / Reference

(OFR)
Active          

(in office)

Inactive    

(Off-site, 

OD or Mfr)

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for District-Wide Standards.                                                                                               

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                          

Litigation, complaints, claims, audits, pending public records act requests, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

GM / Board 

Clerk
GM-029

FPPC 700 Series Forms 

(Statement of Economic 

Interests):  PUBLIC OFFICIALS 

(elected & not elected.  Includes 

District Board Members, 

General Manager, Assistant 

General Manager, Treasury  

Manager,  Treasurer & Assistant 

Treasurer)

7 years 7 years
Mfr, OD,  

Ppr
S

Yes:  After 

2 years

District maintains copies only; 

original statements are filed with 

County, GC §81009(f)(g)

GM / Board 

Clerk
GM-030

FPPC Form 801 (Gift to Agency 

Report) 
4 years 4 years Mag, Ppr

Must post on website; 2 CCR 

18944(c)(3)(G)

GM / Board 

Clerk
GM-031

FPPC Form 802 (Tickets 

Provided by Agency Report)
7 years 7 years Mag, Ppr

Must post on website for 4 years; 

GC §81009(e)

GM / Board 

Clerk
GM-032

FPPC Form 803 (Behested 

Payment Report)
7 years 7 years Mag, Ppr GC §81009

GM / Board 

Clerk
GM-033

FPPC Form 804 (Agenda 

Report of New Positions)
2 years 2 years Mag, Ppr GC §60201

GM / Board 

Clerk
GM-034

FPPC Form 805 (Agency Report 

of Consultants)
2 years 2 years Mag, Ppr GC §60201

GM / Board 

Clerk
GM-035

FPPC Form 806 (Agency Report 

of Public Official Appointments)
2 years 2 years Mag, Ppr

Must post on website; 2 CCR 

18705.5; GC §60201, 60201

GM / Board 

Clerk
GM-036 Historical Records P P

Mag, Mfr, 

OD,  Ppr
S No

District Clerk Determines 

Historical Significance; GC 

§60201

GM / Board 

Clerk
GM-037

Improvement Districts / 

Assessment Districts:  Boundary 

Maps, Diagrams, District Folders

P P
Yes:  Before 

Termination

Mag, Mfr, 

OD, Ppr
S

Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Department Preference; GC 

§60201

GM / Board 

Clerk
GM-038

Local Area Formation 

Commission (LAFCO)

When No 

Longer 

Required

When No 

Longer 

Required

Mag, Ppr
Department Preference; GC 

§60201

Town of Discovery Bay CSD  ©1995-2014 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 

Agenda Item F-2



Ver. 2.0  RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  GENERAL MANAGER, IT & BOARD CLERK Page GM-7

Office of 

Record
Retention No. Records Description Retention / Disposition Comments / Reference

(OFR)
Active          

(in office)

Inactive    

(Off-site, 

OD or Mfr)

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for District-Wide Standards.                                                                                               

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                          

Litigation, complaints, claims, audits, pending public records act requests, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

GM / Board 

Clerk
GM-039

Minutes:  District Board of 

Directors and Standing 

Committees and 

Subcommittees, any advisory 

board

P P Yes (all)
Mag, Mfr, 

OD,  Ppr
S No GC §60201(d)(3)

GM / Board 

Clerk
GM-040 Ordinances P P Yes (all)

Mag, Mfr, 

OD,  Ppr
S No GC §60201 et. seq.

GM / Board 

Clerk
GM-041 Permits - Regulatory Agencies P P Mag, Ppr GC § 60201

GM / Board 

Clerk
GM-042

Prop. 218 Fees & Charges:  

Ballots and/or protest letters 
2 years 2 years Ppr GC §53753(e)(2) 

GM / Board 

Clerk
GM-043

Prop. 218 Fees & Charges:  

Master Mailing List
2 years 2 years Ppr GC §60201

GM / Board 

Clerk
GM-044

Prop. 218 Fees & Charges:  

Undeliverable Mail 
3 months 3 months Ppr

Transitory records not retained in 

the ordinary course of business; 

GC §60201

GM / Board 

Clerk
GM-045

Public Records Act Requests / 

Subpoenas
2 years 2 years Mag, Ppr GC §60201

GM / Board 

Clerk
GM-046

Records Retention Schedules / 

Authorization for Amendments 

to Retention Schedules 

(Resolutions)

10 years P P
Mag, Mfr, 

OD,  Ppr
S

Yes:  After 

QC & OD
GC §60201 et. seq.

GM / Board 

Clerk
GM-047 Resolutions P P Yes (all)

Mag, Mfr, 

OD,  Ppr
S No GC §60201 et. seq.

GM / Board 

Clerk
GM-048 Subject Matter Files

Minimum 2 

years

Minimum 2 

years

Yes:  While 

Active 

Issues

Mag, Ppr GC §60201

GM / Board 

Clerk
GM-049 Subpoenas 2 years 2 years Mag, Ppr GC §60201

GM / Board 

Clerk
GM-050 Vehicle Titles ("Pink Slips") Upon Sale Upon Sale Ppr

Department Preference; GC 

§60201

Town of Discovery Bay CSD  ©1995-2014 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 

Agenda Item F-2



Ver. 2.0  RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  GENERAL MANAGER, IT & BOARD CLERK Page GM-8

Office of 

Record
Retention No. Records Description Retention / Disposition Comments / Reference

(OFR)
Active          

(in office)

Inactive    

(Off-site, 

OD or Mfr)

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for District-Wide Standards.                                                                                               

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                          

Litigation, complaints, claims, audits, pending public records act requests, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

ENGINEERING - PLANNING & DESIGN & CONSTRUCTION

GM / 

Engineerin

g 

GM-051

Annexations / Boundary 

Changes / Detachments

Index, Maps, Documents

Upon 

Completion
P P Yes

Mag, OD, 

Ppr
S

Yes:  After 

QC & OD
GC §60201 et seq.

GM / 

Engineerin

g 

GM-052

CCTV Inspection Tapes / Video 

Inspections / Video Tapes or 

Digital Recordings - Jobs /  

Project Inspections (all lines)

10 years 10 years OD

Department preference; Statute of 

Limitations for written contracts 

are four years from the date of 

breach; errors and omissions is 10 

years; Death during construction is 

10 years; CCP §§337., 337.1(a), 

337.15 GC §60201

GM / 

Engineerin

g 

GM-053

CEQA / NEPA Documents:  

Prepared by others for NON-

District Projects

(District comments) 

(Environmental Impact Reports 

(EIRs), Environmental 

Assessments, Negative 

Declarations, etc)

When No 

Longer 

Required

When No 

Longer 

Required

Yes:  Until 

Project 

Completed

Mag, OD, 

Ppr
S / I

Yes:  After 

QC & OD
District Preference; GC §60200

GM / 

Engineerin

g 

GM-054

CEQA / NEPA Documents:  

Prepared for District Projects

(Environmental Impact Reports 

(EIRs), Environmental 

Assessments, Negative 

Declarations, etc)

P P

Yes:  Until 

Project 

Completed

Mag, OD, 

Ppr
S / I

Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Usually filed in Project File; GC 

§60201

Town of Discovery Bay CSD  ©1995-2014 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 

Agenda Item F-2



Ver. 2.0  RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  GENERAL MANAGER, IT & BOARD CLERK Page GM-9

Office of 

Record
Retention No. Records Description Retention / Disposition Comments / Reference

(OFR)
Active          

(in office)

Inactive    

(Off-site, 

OD or Mfr)

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for District-Wide Standards.                                                                                               

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                          

Litigation, complaints, claims, audits, pending public records act requests, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

GM / 

Engineerin

g 

GM-055

Connection Permits / Repair 

Permits / Single Water 

Connection Permits / Single 

Sewer Connection Permits

P P Yes
Mag, OD, 

Ppr
S

Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Department Preference; GC 

§60201 et seq.

GM / 

Engineerin

g 

GM-056

Encroachment Permits issued 

by outside agencies (e.g. for 

District construction)

Expiration of 

Permit + 4 

years

Expiration of 

Permit + 4 

years

Mag, OD, 

Ppr
S / I

Yes:  2 

years

Covers Statute of Limitations for 

written contracts; CCP §§336(a), 

337 et. seq., GC §60201

GM / 

Engineerin

g 

GM-057

Job Files / Engineering Project 

Files / CIP (Capital Improvement 

Project) Files - Administration 

File:  

Project Administration,  

Advertising, Certified Payrolls, 

Complaints (project-related), 

Cost of Construction, Fee & 

Deposit Reimbursements, 

Insurance Certificates from 

Contractors, Labor Compliance, 

Logs, Performance 

Bonds/Surety, Project Security 

files, Project Schedules,  Punch 

Lists, Real Estate Appraisals, 

etc.

Upon 

Completion

10 years or 

After 

Funding 

Agency 

Audit, if 

required, 

whichever is 

longer

Completion 

+ 10 years 

or After 

Funding 

Agency 

Audit, if 

required, 

whichever is 

longer

Yes:  Until 

Completed
Mag, Ppr

Statute of Limitations for written 

contracts are four years from the 

date of breach; errors and 

omissions is 10 years; Death 

during construction is 10 years; 

CCP §§337., 337.1(a), 337.15 GC 

§60201, Contractor has retention 

requirements in 48 CFR 4.703

GM / 

Engineerin

g 

GM-058

Job Files / Engineering Project 

Files / CIP (Capital Improvement 

Project) Files - Permanent File - 

Large Format Drawings

Design Drawings (finals), 

Record Drawings ("As Builts")

Upon 

Completion
P P Yes:  ALL

Mag, OD, 

Ppr
S

Yes:  After 

QC & OD

For Disaster Recovery Purposes; 

Final environmental 

determinations are required to be 

kept a "reasonable period of time"; 

14 CCR §15095(c); GC §60201 et 

seq.

Town of Discovery Bay CSD  ©1995-2014 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 

Agenda Item F-2



Ver. 2.0  RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  GENERAL MANAGER, IT & BOARD CLERK Page GM-10

Office of 

Record
Retention No. Records Description Retention / Disposition Comments / Reference

(OFR)
Active          

(in office)

Inactive    

(Off-site, 

OD or Mfr)

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for District-Wide Standards.                                                                                               

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                          

Litigation, complaints, claims, audits, pending public records act requests, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

GM / 

Engineerin

g 

GM-059

Job Files / Engineering Project 

Files / CIP (Capital Improvement 

Project) Files - Permanent File:  

Specifications, RFIs/RFPs, 

Change Orders, Construction 

Photos, Correspondence, Close-

Out/Acceptance, Declarations of 

Restrictive Covenants (DORCs), 

Deeds, Easements, 

Encroachment Permits, Field 

Inspection Reports, Materials 

Testing Reports, Bills of Material 

/ Substitutions Environmental 

Documents, Notice of 

Completion, Regulatory Agency 

Approvals, Right of Way, Shop 

Drawings, Soils Reports, 

Structural Calculations, Surveys, 

Permanent Encroachment 

Permits, Rights-of-Ways, 

Submittals, Materials 

Submittals, SAMPs, SWPPP, 

Variances, etc. 

Upon 

Completion
P P

Yes:  Until 

Completed

Mag, OD, 

Ppr
S

Yes:  After 

QC & OD

For disaster preparedness 

purposes; GC §60201 et seq.

GM / 

Engineerin

g 

GM-060 Land Surveys / Survey books P P Yes
Mag, OD, 

Ppr
S

Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Department preference; GC 

§60201 et seq.

GM / 

Engineerin

g 

GM-061 Master Plans P Yes
Mag, OD, 

Ppr
S

Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Department preference; GC 

§60201 et seq.

Town of Discovery Bay CSD  ©1995-2014 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 

Agenda Item F-2



Ver. 2.0  RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  GENERAL MANAGER, IT & BOARD CLERK Page GM-11

Office of 

Record
Retention No. Records Description Retention / Disposition Comments / Reference

(OFR)
Active          

(in office)

Inactive    

(Off-site, 

OD or Mfr)

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for District-Wide Standards.                                                                                               

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                          

Litigation, complaints, claims, audits, pending public records act requests, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

GM / 

Engineerin

g 

GM-062 Permits
Expiration + 

2 years

Expiration + 

2 years

Yes:  Until 

Expired

Mag, OD, 

Ppr
S No

Department preference; GC 

§60201

GM / 

Engineerin

g 

GM-063

Private Development:  

Subdivisions / Tract Files - 

Administrative File

Correspondence, Fee 

Calculations, Inspection 

Reports, Incidents, Project 

Schedules etc.

Completion 

+ 10 years

Completion 

+ 10 years 
Yes

Mag, OD, 

Ppr
S

Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Statute of Limitations for written 

contracts are four years from the 

date of breach; errors and 

omissions is 10 years; Death 

during construction is 10 years; 

CCP §§337., 337.1(a), 337.15 GC 

§60201, Contractor has retention 

requirements in 48 CFR 4.703

GM / 

Engineerin

g 

GM-064

Private Development:  

Subdivisions / Tract Files - 

Permanent File

Agreements, Easements, Final 

Drawings, Materials Testing 

Reports, Rights of Way, Rights 

of Entry, Studies & Reports 

(Hydrology, Geotechnical, etc.) 

P P Yes
Mag, OD, 

Ppr
S

Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Department preference; GC 

§60201

GM / 

Engineerin

g 

GM-065 Real Estate Appraisals 5 years P P Mag, Ppr

Department preference; USPAP 

(Uniform Standards of 

Professional Appraisal Practice) 

ethical standards require 

appraisers to retain records for at 

least 5 years, or final disposition + 

2 years, if used in a judicial 

proceeding; GC §60201

GM / 

Engineerin

g 

GM-066
Sewer Improvement Districts / 

Assessment Districts
P P Yes

Mag, OD, 

Ppr
S

Yes:  After 

QC & OD
GC §60201 et seq.

Town of Discovery Bay CSD  ©1995-2014 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 

Agenda Item F-2



Ver. 2.0  RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  GENERAL MANAGER, IT & BOARD CLERK Page GM-12

Office of 

Record
Retention No. Records Description Retention / Disposition Comments / Reference

(OFR)
Active          

(in office)

Inactive    

(Off-site, 

OD or Mfr)

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for District-Wide Standards.                                                                                               

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                          

Litigation, complaints, claims, audits, pending public records act requests, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

GM / 

Engineerin

g 

GM-067 Survey Books & Notes P P Yes
Mag, OD, 

Ppr
S

Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Department Preference; GC 

§60201 et seq.

GM / 

Engineerin

g 

GM-068 Trunk Lines P P Yes
Mag, OD, 

Ppr
S

Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Department Preference; GC 

§60201 et seq.

GM / 

Engineerin

g 

GM-069
Underground Service Alerts 

(USAs) 
3 years 3 years Mag, Ppr

Department Preference (required 

for 3 years); the warrantee period 

for work done is usually 5 years, 

the Statute of Limitations for some 

work may be up to 10 years; CCP 

§337 et seq., GC §§4216.2(d) & 

4216.3(d), 60201

Town of Discovery Bay CSD  ©1995-2014 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 

Agenda Item F-2



Ver. 2.0  RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  GENERAL MANAGER, IT & BOARD CLERK Page GM-13

Office of 

Record
Retention No. Records Description Retention / Disposition Comments / Reference

(OFR)
Active          

(in office)

Inactive    

(Off-site, 

OD or Mfr)

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for District-Wide Standards.                                                                                               

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                          

Litigation, complaints, claims, audits, pending public records act requests, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

GM / IT GM-070 Backups - Daily 

When No 

Longer 

Required

When No 

Longer 

Required

Yes Mag.

Used for Disaster Recovery 

Purposes Only; Considered a copy 

and can be destroyed when no 

longer required; GC §60200 et 

seq.

GM / IT GM-071 Backups - Weekly

When No 

Longer 

Required

When No 

Longer 

Required

Yes Mag.

STORE OFF-SITE.  Used for 

Disaster Recovery Purposes Only; 

Considered a copy and can be 

destroyed when no longer 

required; stored off-site; GC 

§60200 et seq.

GM / IT GM-072
Geographic Information System 

(GIS)
Indefinite Indefinite Yes Mag

Data is interrelated; GC §60200, 

60201 et seq.

GM / IT GM-073
Network Configuration Maps & 

Plans

When No 

Longer 

Required

When No 

Longer 

Required

Yes Mag.

Preliminary documents not 

retained in the ordinary course of 

business; GC §60201 et seq.

GM / IT GM-074
Software Licenses, Warrantees, 

Installation Media

When No 

Longer 

Required

When No 

Longer 

Required

Mag.
Department preference; GC 

§60201 et seq.

GM / IT GM-075

WORM / DVD-r / CD-r / Blue 

Ray-R or other unalterable 

media that does not permit 

additions, deletions, or changes 

P P OD

For legal compliance for 

Trustworthy Electronic Records 

(when the electronic record serves 

as the official record); GC 60200, 

12168.7, EVC 1550, CCR 22620 

et seq..

Town of Discovery Bay CSD  ©1995-2014 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 

Agenda Item F-2



Ver. 2.0  RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  HUMAN RESOURCES Page HR-1

Office of 

Record
Retention No. Records Description Retention / Disposition Comments / Reference

(OFR)
Active          

(in office)

Inactive    

(Off-site, 

OD or Mfr)

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for District-Wide Standards.                                                                                               

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                          

Litigation, complaints, claims, audits, pending public records act requests, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

HUMAN RESOURCES

Human 

Resources
HR-001

Accident / Incident / Injury / Damage 

Reports:  Employees that Declined 

Medical Attention

(See Workers Compensation for 

others)

2 years 2 years Mag, Ppr GC §§12946, 60201

 Human 

Resources
HR-002

Affirmative Action Complaints - 

Department of Fair Employment & 

Housing (DFEH) or Equal 

Opportunity Commission (EEOC)

Separation + 

3 years

Separation + 

3 years
Mag, Ppr

Department preference (same as 

the Personnel File); All State and 

Federal laws require retention until 

final disposition of formal 

complaint; State requires 2 years 

after action is taken; GC §§12946, 

60201

Human 

Resources
HR-003

Applications for Employment or 

Resumes / Recruitment Files:  

Solicited:  Brochure, advertisement, 

unsuccessful applications (with or 

without interviews), selection 

materials, interview notes, results, 

etc.

3 years 3 years Mag, Ppr

Department preference; EEOC / 

FLSA / ADEA (Age) requires 1-3 

years; State Law requires 2 - 3 

years; 29 CFR 1627.3(b)(i), 29 

CFR 1602.14 et seq; 2 CCR 

7287.0(c)(2), GC §§12946, 60201

Human 

Resources
HR-004 Billing:  COBRA and Retiree Medical 

Termination 

of Service + 

7 years

Termination 

of Service + 

7 years

Yes:  During 

Service 

Mag, OD, 

Ppr
S / I

Yes:  After 1 

year

Retained to cover auditing 

standards; General rule under 

ERISA (Employee Retirement 

Income Security Act) is 7 years; 29 

CFR 1627.3(b)(2); 29 USC 1027; 

GC §60201

Human 

Resources
HR-005

Classification and Compensation 

Studies / Surveys

When No 

Longer 

Required 

When No 

Longer 

Required 

Mag, Ppr
Department Preference; GC 

§60201

Town of Discovery Bay CSD  ©1995-2014 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 

Agenda Item F-2



Ver. 2.0  RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  HUMAN RESOURCES Page HR-2

Office of 

Record
Retention No. Records Description Retention / Disposition Comments / Reference

(OFR)
Active          

(in office)

Inactive    

(Off-site, 

OD or Mfr)

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for District-Wide Standards.                                                                                               

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                          

Litigation, complaints, claims, audits, pending public records act requests, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

 Human 

Resources
HR-006 DMV Pull Notices

When 

Superseded 

When 

Superseded
Mag, Ppr

District preference (DMV record 

that the District considers a non-

record used for reference); DMV 

audits every 2 years; Bureau of 

National Affairs recommends 2 

years for all supplementary 

Personnel records; GC §60201

Human 

Resources
HR-007

Drug and Alcohol Testing / D.O.T 

files (ALL Files - Random, Post-

Accident & Reasonable Suspicion 

Tests, refusals, annual summaries, 

etc.)

2 years 3 years 5 years Ppr

Department preference; D.O.T. 

Requires 5 years for positive tests, 

refusals, annual summaries, etc, 1 

year for negative tests; EEOC / 

FLSA / ADEA (Age) requires 3 

years physical examinations; State 

Law requires 2 years; 29 CFR 

1627.3(b)(v), 49 CFR 382.401 et 

seq.;  GC §§12946, 60201, 49 

CFR 653.71 et seq.

Human 

Resources
HR-008 Employee Investigations

When No 

Longer 

Required - 

Minimum 3 

years

When No 

Longer 

Required - 

Minimum 3 

years

Mag, Ppr

Department preference; EEOC / 

FLSA / ADEA (Age) statue of 

limitations is 1-3 years; State Law 

requires 2 years; Reports & Data 

used to compile EEO reports are 

required for 3 years; 29 CFR 1602 

et seq & 1627.3(a)(5) and (6), 2 

CCR 7287 et seq., 8 CCR 

§11040.7( c), GC §§12946, 60201 

Town of Discovery Bay CSD  ©1995-2014 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 

Agenda Item F-2



Ver. 2.0  RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  HUMAN RESOURCES Page HR-3

Office of 

Record
Retention No. Records Description Retention / Disposition Comments / Reference

(OFR)
Active          

(in office)

Inactive    

(Off-site, 

OD or Mfr)

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for District-Wide Standards.                                                                                               

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                          

Litigation, complaints, claims, audits, pending public records act requests, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

 Human 

Resources
HR-009 I-9s

Separation + 

3 years 

Separation + 

3 years

Yes:  Until 

Separation

Mag, OD, 

Ppr
S

Yes: When 

Inactive

Non-citizens must re-certify 

periodically; RICA recommends 1 

year from termination or 3 years 

from hiring, whichever is later; 

EEOC / FLSA / ADEA (Age) 

requires 3 years for "any other 

forms of employment inquiry"; 

State Law requires 2 -3 years; INA 

274A(b)(3); INS Rule 274a.1(b)(2); 

8 CFR 274a.2; 29 CFR 

1627.3(b)(i); GC §§12946, 34090 

Human 

Resources
HR-010

Insurance Policies - Employee 

Benefit Policies  (Benefits: Health, 

Eye, Dental, Life Insurance, Long 

Term Disability, State Disability, 

Unemployment Insurance, Workers 

Compensation Policy, etc)  

Plan 

Termination
10 years

Plan 

Termination 

+ 10 years

Yes:  Before 

Expiration

Mag, OD, 

Ppr
S No

Department preference to be 

consistent with District-wide 

standards; EEOC / ADEA (Age) 

requires 1 year after benefit plan 

termination; Federal law requires 6 

years after filing date; State Law 

requires 2 years after action; 29 

CFR 1627.3(b)(2); 29 USC 1027; 

GC §§12946, 60201

Human 

Resources
HR-011 Job Descriptions

Superseded 

+ 3 years

Superseded 

+ 3 years

Yes:  Before 

Superseded
Mag, Ppr

Department Preference; GC 

§60201 

Human 

Resources
HR-012

Personnel Files - General

(Includes Application, Awards, DMV 

Reports, Disciplinary Actions, 

Certifications, Commendations, 

Employment Verifications, 

Evaluations, Grievances, Licenses, 

Personnel Action Forms, Policy 

acknowledgements, Waiver of 

responsibility for voluntary activities, 

etc.  - Excludes Medical Records)    

Separation + 

6 years

Separation + 

6  years

Yes:  Until 

Separation

Mag, OD, 

Ppr
S

Yes: After 

Separation

Department Preference; statute of 

limitations for retirement benefits is 

6 years from last action; 

EEOC/FLSA/ADEA (Age) requires 

3 years for promotion, demotion, 

transfer, selection, or discharge; 

State Law requires 2 -3 years;  29 

CFR 1602.31 & 1627.3(b)(ii); GC 

§§12946, 60201; 29 USC 1113

Town of Discovery Bay CSD  ©1995-2014 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 

Agenda Item F-2



Ver. 2.0  RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  HUMAN RESOURCES Page HR-4

Office of 

Record
Retention No. Records Description Retention / Disposition Comments / Reference

(OFR)
Active          

(in office)

Inactive    

(Off-site, 

OD or Mfr)

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for District-Wide Standards.                                                                                               

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                          

Litigation, complaints, claims, audits, pending public records act requests, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

Human 

Resources
HR-013

Personnel Files - Medical  

(Includes pre-employment physicals, 

hazmat exposure records, hearing 

tests, pulmonary tests, Class B 

medicals,  and backgrounds & 

fingerprint clearances)

Separation + 

30 years

Separation + 

30 years

Yes:  Until 

Separation

Mag, OD, 

Ppr
S

Yes: When 

Inactive

Department preference; Files 

maintained separately; Claims can 

be made for 30 years for toxic 

substance exposure; 8 CCR 

§3204(d)(1) et seq., 29 CFR 

1910.1020(d)(1)(i), GC §§12946, 

60201

Human 

Resources
HR-014 Workers Compensation Files ALL

Separation + 

5 years
25 years

Separation + 

30 years

Mag, OD, 

Ppr
S

Yes: When 

Inactive

Department preference; Claims 

can be made for 30 years for toxic 

substance exposure; 8 CCR 

10102; 8 CCR 15400.2, 8 CCR 

§3204(d)(1) et seq., 29 CFR 

1910.1020, GC §§12946, 60201, 

CCP §337 et seq.

Town of Discovery Bay CSD  ©1995-2014 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 

Agenda Item F-2



Ver. 2.0  RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  HUMAN RESOURCES Page HR-5

Office of 

Record
Retention No. Records Description Retention / Disposition Comments / Reference

(OFR)
Active          

(in office)

Inactive    

(Off-site, 

OD or Mfr)

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for District-Wide Standards.                                                                                               

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                          

Litigation, complaints, claims, audits, pending public records act requests, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

RISK MANAGEMENT

Human 

Resources / 

Risk Manage.

HR-015 Claims
Final 

Resolution
5 years

Final 

Resolution + 

5 years

Yes:  Until 

Resolution

Mag, OD,  

Ppr
S

Yes:  After 5 

years

Department Preference; Covers 

various statute of limitations; CCP 

§§ 337 et seq.; GC §§ 911.2, 

945.6, 60201, 60201.6; PC §832.5

Human 

Resources / 

Risk Manage.

HR-016 Facility Inspections 2 years 2 years Mag, Ppr GC §60201

Human 

Resources / 

Risk Manage.

HR-017
Insurance Policies (Property and 

Liability)
2 years Mag, Ppr GC §60201

Human 

Resources / 

Risk Manage.

HR-018

Insurance Certificates from Other 

Agencies/Organizations Submitted 

as Proof of Coverage for Facility Use

2 years Mag, Ppr GC §60201

Human 

Resources / 

Risk Manage.

HR-019 Lawsuits / Litigation
Final 

Resolution
5 years

Final 

Resolution + 

5 years

Yes:  Until 

Resolution

Mag, OD,  

Ppr
S

Yes:  After 5 

years

Department Preference; Covers 

various statute of limitations; CCP 

§§ 337 et seq.; GC §§ 911.2, 

945.6, 60201, 60201.6; PC §832.5

SAFETY

Human 

Resources / 

Safety

HR-020
Cal-OSHA Inspections & Citations, 

Log 200, 300, 300A, 301, etc.
7 years 7 years Ppr

Department Preference; Calif. 

Labor Division is required to keep 

their records 7 years; OSHA 

requires 5 years; State law 

requires 2 years; 8 CCR 

14300.33(a); 29 CFR 1904.33, 29 

CFR 1904.44; GC §60201 et seq.; 

LC §6429c 

Human 

Resources / 

Safety

HR-021
Emergency Exercises / Drills / After 

Action Reports

When No 

Longer 

Required

When No 

Longer 

Required

Yes:  Until 

Superseded

Mag, OD, 

Ppr
S / I

Yes:  2 

years

Department Preference; GC 

§60201

Town of Discovery Bay CSD  ©1995-2014 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 

Agenda Item F-2



Ver. 2.0  RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  HUMAN RESOURCES Page HR-6

Office of 

Record
Retention No. Records Description Retention / Disposition Comments / Reference

(OFR)
Active          

(in office)

Inactive    

(Off-site, 

OD or Mfr)

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for District-Wide Standards.                                                                                               

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                          

Litigation, complaints, claims, audits, pending public records act requests, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

Human 

Resources / 

Safety

HR-022 Emergency Response Plan

When No 

Longer 

Required

When No 

Longer 

Required

Yes:  Until 

Superseded

Mag, OD, 

Ppr
S / I

Yes:  2 

years

Department Preference; GC 

§60201

Human 

Resources / 

Safety

HR-023
Illness and Injury Prevention 

Program

Minimum of 

Superseded 

+ 2 years

Minimum of 

Superseded 

+ 2 years

  
Mag, OD, 

Ppr
S / I

Yes:  When 

Super-

seded

Consistent with District-wide 

standards; GC §60201

Human 

Resources / 

Safety

HR-024 Loss Runs 

When No 

Longer 

Required - 

Minimum 10 

years

When No 

Longer 

Required - 

Minimum 10 

years

Mag, Ppr

Department Preference (actuary 

wants 10 years of data); GC 

§60201 et seq.

Human 

Resources / 

Safety

HR-025
Safety Committee / Safety Steering 

Committee
5 years 5 years Mag, Ppr

Department preference; GC 

§60201 et seq.

Town of Discovery Bay CSD  ©1995-2014 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 

Agenda Item F-2



Ver. 2.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  PARKS & RECREATION Page P&R-1

Office of 

Record
Retention No. Records Description Retention / Disposition Comments / Reference

(OFR)
Active          

(in office)

Inactive    

(Records 

Center)

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper 

after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for District-Wide Standards.                                                                                               

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                          

Litigation, complaints, claims, audits, pending public records act requests, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

Parks & 

Recreation
P&R-001

Accident / Incident / First Aid / 

Mishap Reports (Minor injuries - 

bandages, scratches, etc)

2 years 2 years Mag, Ppr GC §60201

Parks & 

Recreation
P&R-002

Activity / Special Programs / 

Special Event Files

Children's Programs, Cultural Arts, 

Sports, Seniors, Filming, Theatre 

Programs etc.

When No 

Longer 

Required - 

Minimum 2 

years

When No 

Longer 

Required - 

Minimum 2 

years

Mag, Ppr
Department preference; GC 

§60201

Parks & 

Recreation
P&R-003

Art Loan Agreements / Display 

Agreements / Waiver of Liability

Completion + 

1 year

Completion + 

1 year

Mag, 

Mfr, OD,  

Ppr

Department preference; GC 

§60201

Parks & 

Recreation
P&R-004 Check In List / Sign In Lists

When No 

Longer 

Required

When No 

Longer 

Required

Mag, Ppr

Department Preference 

(Transitory record not retained 

in the ordinary course of 

business); GC §60201

Parks & 

Recreation
P&R-005

Community Center Committee

AGENDAS, AGENDA PACKETS.

Minimum 2 

years

Minimum 2 

years
  Mag, Ppr

Brown Act challenges must be 

filed within 30 or 90 days of 

action; GC §§60201, 

54960.1(c)(1)

Parks & 

Recreation
P&R-006

Community Center Committee

MINUTES & BYLAWS

P P Yes

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S
Yes:  After 

10 years

Notes taken to facilitate the 

writing of the minutes can be 

destroyed after minutes have 

been adopted; GC §60201 et 

seq.

Town of Discovery Bay CSD  ©1995-2014 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 

Agenda Item F-2



Ver. 2.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  PARKS & RECREATION Page P&R-2

Office of 

Record
Retention No. Records Description Retention / Disposition Comments / Reference

(OFR)
Active          

(in office)

Inactive    

(Records 

Center)

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper 

after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for District-Wide Standards.                                                                                               

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                          

Litigation, complaints, claims, audits, pending public records act requests, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

Parks & 

Recreation
P&R-007

Contracts: Class Instructors

Includes Insurance Certificates and 

Administration Records

Completion 5 years 
Completion + 

5 years

Yes:  

Before 

Completion

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S/I

Yes:  

Upon 

Completio

n

Department preference; 

Statute of Limitations: 

Contracts & Spec's=4 years; 

CCP §337 et. seq., GC §60201

Parks & 

Recreation
P&R-008 Environmental Monitoring

Completion + 

2 years

Completion + 

2 years
Mag, Ppr

Department preference; GC 

§60201

Parks & 

Recreation
P&R-009

Evaluations/Surveys (Program 

Evaluations)

When No 

Longer 

Required

When No 

Longer 

Required

Mag, Ppr

Department Preference 

(Transitory record not retained 

in the ordinary course of 

business); GC §60201

Parks & 

Recreation
P&R-010

Facility Use Rental Contracts / Field 

Use Contracts
2 years 2 years

Yes:  

Before 

Event

Mag, Ppr
Department preference; GC 

§60201

Lead Dept. P&R-011
Grants (UNSUCCESSFUL 

Applications, Correspondence)
2 years 2 years   Mag, Ppr GC §60201

Town of Discovery Bay CSD  ©1995-2014 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 

Agenda Item F-2



Ver. 2.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  PARKS & RECREATION Page P&R-3

Office of 

Record
Retention No. Records Description Retention / Disposition Comments / Reference

(OFR)
Active          

(in office)

Inactive    

(Records 

Center)

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper 

after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for District-Wide Standards.                                                                                               

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                          

Litigation, complaints, claims, audits, pending public records act requests, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

Lead Dept. P&R-012

Grants / CDBG / Reimbursable 

Claims (SUCCESSFUL Reports, 

other records required to pass the 

funding agency's audit, if required)

Applications (successful), grant 

agreement, program rules, regulations & 

procedures, reports to grant funding 

agencies, correspondence, audit 

records, completion records

2 years

After 

Funding 

Agency 

Audit, if 

Required - 

Minimum 5 

years

After Funding 

Agency 

Audit, if 

required - 

Minimum 5 

years

  Mag, Ppr

District Preference (may 

include records pertaining to 

independent contractor's 

compensation, or expense 

reimbursement); Meets 

auditing standards; Uniform 

Admin. Requirements for 

Grants to Local Governments 

is 3 years from expenditure 

report or final payment of 

grantee or subgrantee; 21 CFR 

1403.36 & 1403.42(b); 24 CFR 

85.42, 91.105(h), 92.505, & 

570.502(b), 28 CFR 66.42; 29 

CFR 97.42; 40 CFR 31.42; 44 

CFR 13.42; 45 CFR 92.42; 

OMB Circular A-133; GC 

§60201

Town of Discovery Bay CSD  ©1995-2014 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 

Agenda Item F-2



Ver. 2.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  PARKS & RECREATION Page P&R-4

Office of 

Record
Retention No. Records Description Retention / Disposition Comments / Reference

(OFR)
Active          

(in office)

Inactive    

(Records 

Center)

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper 

after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for District-Wide Standards.                                                                                               

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                          

Litigation, complaints, claims, audits, pending public records act requests, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

Parks & 

Recreation
P&R-013

Landscape CIP Projects (Capital 

Improvement Project) Files - 

Administration File:  

Project Administration,  Advertising, 

Certified Payrolls, Complaints 

(project-related), Cost of 

Construction, Fee & Deposit 

Reimbursements, Insurance 

Certificates from Contractors, Labor 

Compliance, Logs, Performance 

Bonds/Surety, Project Security files, 

Project Schedules,  Punch Lists, 

Real Estate Appraisals, etc.

Upon 

Completion

10 years or 

After 

Funding 

Agency 

Audit, if 

required, 

whichever is 

longer

Completion + 

10 years or 

After Funding 

Agency 

Audit, if 

required, 

whichever is 

longer

Yes:  Until 

Completed
Mag, Ppr

Statute of Limitations for 

written contracts are four years 

from the date of breach; errors 

and omissions is 10 years; 

Death during construction is 10 

years; CCP §§337., 337.1(a), 

337.15 GC §60201, Contractor 

has retention requirements in 

48 CFR 4.703

Parks & 

Recreation
P&R-014

Landscape CIP Projects (Capital 

Improvement Project) Files - 

Landscape Plans / Irrigation 

Plans (Large Format Drawings)

Design Drawings (finals), Record 

Drawings ("As Builts")

Upon 

Completion
P P Yes:  ALL

Mag, 

OD, Ppr
S

Yes:  After 

QC & OD

For Disaster Recovery 

Purposes; Final environmental 

determinations are required to 

be kept a "reasonable period of 

time"; 14 CCR §15095(c); GC 

§60201 et seq.

Town of Discovery Bay CSD  ©1995-2014 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 

Agenda Item F-2



Ver. 2.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  PARKS & RECREATION Page P&R-5

Office of 

Record
Retention No. Records Description Retention / Disposition Comments / Reference

(OFR)
Active          

(in office)

Inactive    

(Records 

Center)

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper 

after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for District-Wide Standards.                                                                                               

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                          

Litigation, complaints, claims, audits, pending public records act requests, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

Parks & 

Recreation
P&R-015

Landscape CIP Projects (Capital 

Improvement Project) Files - 

Permanent File:  

Specifications, RFIs/RFPs, Change 

Orders, Construction Photos, 

Correspondence, Close-

Out/Acceptance, Declarations of 

Restrictive Covenants (DORCs), 

Deeds, Easements, Encroachment 

Permits, Field Inspection Reports, 

Materials Testing Reports, Bills of 

Material / Substitutions 

Environmental Documents, Notice 

of Completion, Regulatory Agency 

Approvals, Right of Way, Shop 

Drawings, Soils Reports, Structural 

Calculations, Surveys, Permanent 

Encroachment Permits, Rights-of-

Ways, Submittals, Materials 

Submittals, SAMPs, SWPPP, 

Variances, etc. 

Upon 

Completion
P P

Yes:  Until 

Completed

Mag, 

OD, Ppr
S

Yes:  After 

QC & OD

For disaster preparedness 

purposes; GC §60201 et seq.

Parks & 

Recreation
P&R-016

Landscape Committee

 

AGENDAS, AGENDA PACKETS.

Minimum 2 

years

Minimum 2 

years
  Mag, Ppr

Brown Act challenges must be 

filed within 30 or 90 days of 

action; GC §§60201, 

54960.1(c)(1)

Town of Discovery Bay CSD  ©1995-2014 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 

Agenda Item F-2



Ver. 2.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  PARKS & RECREATION Page P&R-6

Office of 

Record
Retention No. Records Description Retention / Disposition Comments / Reference

(OFR)
Active          

(in office)

Inactive    

(Records 

Center)

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper 

after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for District-Wide Standards.                                                                                               

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                          

Litigation, complaints, claims, audits, pending public records act requests, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

Parks & 

Recreation
P&R-017

Landscape Committee

MINUTES & BYLAWS

P P Yes

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S
Yes:  After 

10 years

Notes taken to facilitate the 

writing of the minutes can be 

destroyed after minutes have 

been adopted; GC §60201 et 

seq.

Lead Dept. P&R-018

Material Safety Data Sheet (MSDS) 

/ Safety Data Sheet (SDS) / 

Chemical Use Report Form (or 

records of the chemical / substance 

/ agent, where & when it was used)

While 

Chemical In 

Use

30 years 30 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S
Yes (after 

inactive)

Previous MSDS may be 

obtained from a service; MSDS 

may be destroyed as long as a 

record of the chemical / 

substance / agent, where & 

when it was used is maintained 

for 30 years; Applies to 

qualified employers; Claims 

can be made for 30 years for 

toxic substance exposures; 8 

CCR 3204(d)(1)(B)(2 and 3), 

29 CFR 1910.1020(d)(1)(i), GC 

§60201

Parks & 

Recreation
P&R-019

Parks & Recreation Commission

 

AGENDAS, AGENDA PACKETS.

Minimum 2 

years

Minimum 2 

years
  Mag, Ppr

Brown Act challenges must be 

filed within 30 or 90 days of 

action; GC §§60201, 

54960.1(c)(1)

Parks & 

Recreation
P&R-020

Parks & Recreation Commission

MINUTES & BYLAWS

P P Yes

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S
Yes:  After 

10 years

Notes taken to facilitate the 

writing of the minutes can be 

destroyed after minutes have 

been adopted; GC §60201 et 

seq.

Town of Discovery Bay CSD  ©1995-2014 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 

Agenda Item F-2



Ver. 2.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  PARKS & RECREATION Page P&R-7

Office of 

Record
Retention No. Records Description Retention / Disposition Comments / Reference

(OFR)
Active          

(in office)

Inactive    

(Records 

Center)

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper 

after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for District-Wide Standards.                                                                                               

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                          

Litigation, complaints, claims, audits, pending public records act requests, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

Parks & 

Recreation
P&R-021 Pesticide Application 2 years 2 years Mag, Ppr

Department Preference 

(agricultural pesticide records 

are required for 2 years); GC 

§60201; 3 CCR 6623, 40 CFR 

171.11 et seq.

Parks & 

Recreation
P&R-022 Playground Inspections 2 years 2 years Mag, Ppr

Department preference; GC 

§60201

Parks & 

Recreation
P&R-023 Recreation Database Indefinite Indefinite Mag

Department Preference; data is 

interrelated; GC §60201

Parks & 

Recreation
P&R-024

Registration Forms / Reservation 

Forms / Application Forms / Fee & 

Charge / Liability Forms / Release 

of Liability Forms / Permissions / 

etc.:  Camps, Field Trips, 

Authorization to give Medicine, etc.

2 years 2 years Ppr GC §60201

Parks & 

Recreation
P&R-025

Sign-in / Sign-out sheets (Day 

camp, etc.)

When No 

Longer 

Required

When No 

Longer 

Required

Mag, Ppr

Department Preference 

(Transitory record not retained 

in the ordinary course of 

business); GC §60201

Parks & 

Recreation
P&R-026 Special Events & Programs

When No 

Longer 

Required -  

Minimum 2 

years

When No 

Longer 

Required - 

Minimum 2 

years

Mag, Ppr
Department preference; GC 

§60201

Town of Discovery Bay CSD  ©1995-2014 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 

Agenda Item F-2



Ver. 2.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  PARKS & RECREATION Page P&R-8

Office of 

Record
Retention No. Records Description Retention / Disposition Comments / Reference

(OFR)
Active          

(in office)

Inactive    

(Records 

Center)

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper 

after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for District-Wide Standards.                                                                                               

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                          

Litigation, complaints, claims, audits, pending public records act requests, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

Parks & 

Recreation
P&R-027

Swimming Pool Chemical Addition 

Logs / Records 
2 years 28 years 30 years Mag, Ppr

Department preference; 8 CCR 

§3204(d)(1) et seq., 29 CFR 

1910.1020(d)(1)(i), GC § 

60201

Parks & 

Recreation
P&R-028

Swimming Pool Inspections / Health 

Inspections 
2 years 2 years Mag, Ppr

Department preference; GC 

§60201

Parks & 

Recreation
P&R-029 Waivers of Liability 2 years 2 years Mag, Ppr GC §60201

Town of Discovery Bay CSD  ©1995-2014 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 

Agenda Item F-2



Ver. 3.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:   WATER & WASTEWATER Page W-1

Office of 

Record
Retention No. Records Description Retention / Disposition Comments / Reference

(OFR)
Active          

(in office)

Inactive    

(Off-site, 

OD or Mfr)

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper 

after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for District-Wide Standards.                                                                                               

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                          

Litigation, complaints, claims, audits, pending public records act requests, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

WASTEWATER

Wastewater W-001

CCTV Collection Line Inspection 

Tapes / Video Inspections / Video 

Tapes or Digital Recordings

P P Mag
Department Preference; GC 

§60201 et seq.

Wastewater W-002 Complaints
 Minimum 2 

years

 Minimum 2 

years
  Mag, Ppr

Department Preference; GC 

§60201

Finance W-003 Invoices for Water Line Repairs 7 years 7 years Mag, Ppr
Department Preference; GC 

§6020o et seq.

Wastewater W-004

Lift Station - Inspections, 

Maintenance, Repairs, Service 

Requests, Alarm Recording, Logs, 

Charts, Flow Monitoring, Voltage 

Readings, Permits

 Minimum 20 

years

 Minimum 20 

years
Mag, Ppr

Department Policy; WC 

§13263.2(b) et seq.; 40 CFR 

122.41(j)(2)GC §60201

Wastewater W-005

Maintenance, Cleaning, Repairs, 

Stoppage Calls, Spills, Line 

Replacement

10 years 10 years Mag, Ppr

Department Policy; WC 

§13263.2(b) et seq.; 40 CFR 

122.41(j)(2)GC §60201

Lead Dept. W-006

Material Safety Data Sheet 

(MSDS) / Safety Data Sheet (SDS) 

/ Chemical Use Report Form (or 

records of the chemical / 

substance / agent, where & when it 

was used)

While 

Chemical In 

Use

30 years 30 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S
Yes (after 

inactive)

Previous MSDS may be obtained 

from a service; MSDS may be 

destroyed as long as a record of 

the chemical / substance / agent, 

where & when it was used is 

maintained for 30 years; Applies 

to qualified employers; Claims 

can be made for 30 years for 

toxic substance exposures; 8 

CCR 3204(d)(1)(B)(2 and 3), 29 

CFR 1910.1020(d)(1)(i), GC 

§60201

Lead Dept. W-007
Operations & Maintenance 

Manuals / O & M Manuals 

Disposal of 

Equipment

Disposal of 

Equipment

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 
S / I No

Department preference; GC 

§60201

Town of Discovery Bay CSD  ©1995-2014 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516

Adopted:

Agenda Item F-2



Ver. 3.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:   WATER & WASTEWATER Page W-2

Office of 

Record
Retention No. Records Description Retention / Disposition Comments / Reference

(OFR)
Active          

(in office)

Inactive    

(Off-site, 

OD or Mfr)

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper 

after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for District-Wide Standards.                                                                                               

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                          

Litigation, complaints, claims, audits, pending public records act requests, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

Wastewater W-008
Operator Log Books / Treatment 

Plant Log Books
20 years 20 years Mag, Ppr

Department Preference;  5 years 

for sewage sludge and removal; 

3 years for NPDES; 40 CFR 

122.41(j)(2); 40 CFR 122.41(j)(2) 

& 40 CFR 141.33(b)

Wastewater W-009

Permits:  Encroachment Permits, 

Groundwater Permits, Operating 

Permits, etc.

P P Mag, Ppr
Department preference; GC 

§60201

Wastewater W-010
Permits:  Pressure Vessels, 

Boilers, etc.

When 

Superseded

When 

Superseded
Mag, Ppr

Department preference; GC 

§60201

Wastewater W-011 Planning and Scheduling

When No 

Longer 

Required

When No 

Longer 

Required

Mag, Ppr GC §60201

Wastewater W-012
Sanitary Spills and Overflows 

(SSOs)
5 years 5 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Required for a minimum of 5 

years; 40 CFR 122.41(j)(2); 

SWRCB Order 2006-03; 40 CFR 

122.41(j)(2); GC §34090

Wastewater W-013
SCADA Database (Supervisory 

Control and Data Acquisition)
Indefinite Indefinite Yes Mag

Data is interrelated; system 

qualifies as a "trusted system"; 

GC §§60201, 12168.7

Wastewater W-014 Sewage Sludge Removal 5 years 5 years Mag, Ppr

5 years for sewage sludge and 

removal; 3 years for NPDES; 40 

CFR 122.41(j)(2); 40 CFR 

122.41(j)(2) & 40 CFR 141.33(b)

Lead Dept. W-015
Standard Operating Procedures / 

SOPs

Superseded 

+ 5 years

Superseded 

+ 5 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 
S / I No

Department preference; GC 

§60201

Wastewater W-016

Street Opening Permits / Street 

Cut Permits / Temporary 

Encroachment Permits (County 

owns the streets)

2 years 2 years   Mag, Ppr
Department Preference; GC 

§60201

Town of Discovery Bay CSD  ©1995-2014 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516

Adopted:

Agenda Item F-2



Ver. 3.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:   WATER & WASTEWATER Page W-3

Office of 

Record
Retention No. Records Description Retention / Disposition Comments / Reference

(OFR)
Active          

(in office)

Inactive    

(Off-site, 

OD or Mfr)

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper 

after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for District-Wide Standards.                                                                                               

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                          

Litigation, complaints, claims, audits, pending public records act requests, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

Lead Dept. W-017
Underground Service Alerts 

(USAs) 
3 years 3 years Mag, Ppr

Department Preference (required 

for 3 years); the warrantee 

period for work done is usually 5 

years, the Statute of Limitations 

for some work may be up to 10 

years; CCP §337 et seq., GC 

§§4216.2(d) & 4216.3(d), 60201

Division 

Providing 

Service / 

Work

W-018

Work Orders / Service Requests   

CMMS DATABASE (Computerized 

Maintenance Management 

System)

Indefinite Indefinite   Mag Data is interrelated; GC §60201

Division 

Providing 

Service / 

Work

W-019

Work Orders / Service Requests - 

All Information Entered in CMMS 

Database

When No 

Longer 

Required

When No 

Longer 

Required

  Mag Ppr
Preliminary drafts (the database 

is the original); GC §60201

Division 

Providing 

Service / 

Work

W-020

Work Orders / Service Requests - 

NOT entered in CMMS Database 

(or partial information entered into 

CMMS Database)

(Division providing service retains 

originals; Division requesting 

service is considered a copy)

5 years 5 years   Mag Ppr

City Preference; CCP §§338 et 

seq., 340 et seq., 342, GC 

§§945.6, GC §60201

WATER (POTABLE WATER) & LABORATORY

Water W-021
Backflow Test Results /  Backflow 

Assembly Test Reports 
5 years 5 years Mag, Ppr

Department preference; 17 CCR 

7605(f); GC §60201

Water W-022 Conservation Programs 5 years 5 years Mag, Ppr
Department Preference (meets 

auditing standards); GC §60201

Town of Discovery Bay CSD  ©1995-2014 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516

Adopted:

Agenda Item F-2



Ver. 3.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:   WATER & WASTEWATER Page W-4

Office of 

Record
Retention No. Records Description Retention / Disposition Comments / Reference

(OFR)
Active          

(in office)

Inactive    

(Off-site, 

OD or Mfr)

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper 

after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for District-Wide Standards.                                                                                               

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                          

Litigation, complaints, claims, audits, pending public records act requests, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

Water W-023

Customer Concerns / Customer 

Complaints: Odor / Taste / Visual 

Complaints (Correspondence)

5 years 5 years Mag, Ppr

5 years is required in State and 

Federal law for any complaints; 

40 CFR 122.41(j)(2) & 40 CFR 

141.33(b); 22 CCR 64453(a)

Water W-024

Fire Hydrant Flow Tests 

(Development or Maintenance) - 

Paper

 Minimum 10 

years

 Minimum 10 

years
Mag, Ppr

Department Preference; GC 

§60201

Water W-025
Lab Reports & Chains of Custody:  

Bacteriological and Organics
10 years 10 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 
S / I

Yes - After 

QC & OD

 Department Preference; 40 CFR 

141.33(a)

Water W-026

Lab Reports & Chains of Custody:  

Chemical (Includes Chlorine 

Residuals)

12 years 12 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes - After 

QC & OD

Department preference; State 

law requires 12 years, Federal 

10 years; 40 CFR 141.33(a);  22 

CCR §64692

Water W-027
Lab Reports & Chains of Custody:  

Lead & Copper 
18 years 18 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes - After 

QC & OD

Required for 12 years or 2 

compliance cycles; 40 CFR 

141.91

Water W-028
Lab Reports & Chains of Custody:  

Wastewater Treatment
15 years 15 years Mag, Ppr

If treating water, required for 5 

years; 40 CFR 122.41(j)(2)

Lead Dept. W-029

Material Safety Data Sheet 

(MSDS) / Safety Data Sheet (SDS) 

/ Chemical Use Report Form (or 

records of the chemical / 

substance / agent, where & when it 

was used)

While 

Chemical In 

Use

30 years 30 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S
Yes (after 

inactive)

Previous MSDS may be obtained 

from a service; MSDS may be 

destroyed as long as a record of 

the chemical / substance / agent, 

where & when it was used is 

maintained for 30 years; Applies 

to qualified employers; Claims 

can be made for 30 years for 

toxic substance exposures; 8 

CCR 3204(d)(1)(B)(2 and 3), 29 

CFR 1910.1020(d)(1)(i), GC 

§60201

Town of Discovery Bay CSD  ©1995-2014 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516

Adopted:

Agenda Item F-2



Ver. 3.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:   WATER & WASTEWATER Page W-5

Office of 

Record
Retention No. Records Description Retention / Disposition Comments / Reference

(OFR)
Active          

(in office)

Inactive    

(Off-site, 

OD or Mfr)

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper 

after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for District-Wide Standards.                                                                                               

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                          

Litigation, complaints, claims, audits, pending public records act requests, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

Lead Dept. W-030
Operations & Maintenance 

Manuals / O & M Manuals 

Disposal of 

Equipment

Disposal of 

Equipment

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 
S / I No

Department preference; GC 

§60201

Lead Dept. W-031
Operations & Maintenance 

Manuals / O & M Manuals 

Disposal of 

Equipment

Disposal of 

Equipment
Mag, Ppr

Department preference; GC 

§60201

Lead Dept. W-032

Pre-Trip Inspections / DOT 

Program / Vehicle Safety Checks / 

Daily Vehicle Inspections / Daily 

Equipment Checks 

2 years  2 years Ppr GC §60201

Water W-033

SCADA Database (Water) 

(Supervisory Control and Data 

Acquisition)

Indefinite Indefinite Yes Mag

Data is interrelated; system 

qualifies as a "trusted system"; 

GC §§60201, 12168.7

Lead Dept. W-034
Standard Operating Procedures / 

SOPs

Superseded 

+ 5 years

Superseded 

+ 5 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 
S / I No

Department preference; GC 

§60201

Lead Dept. W-035
Underground Service Alerts 

(USAs) 
3 years 3 years Mag, Ppr

Department Preference (required 

for 3 years); the warrantee 

period for work done is usually 5 

years, the Statute of Limitations 

for some work may be up to 10 

years; CCP §337 et seq., GC 

§§4216.2(d) & 4216.3(d), 60201

Water W-036
Videos - Water Wells, Repairs, 

Reservoirs, Tanks, etc.
P P Mag

Department preference; GC 

§60201

Water W-037
Water Production Reads / Reports 

(to State DPH & DWR)
5  years 5 years Mag, Ppr

Department Preference; Meets 

California Department of Health 

requirements (3 years); GC 

§60201

Water W-038

Water Resources Planning 

Historical Reports / Water 

Assessments

P P   

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

City Preference; CCP §§338 et 

seq., 340 et seq., 342, GC 

§§945.6, GC §60201

Town of Discovery Bay CSD  ©1995-2014 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516

Adopted:

Agenda Item F-2



Ver. 3.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:   WATER & WASTEWATER Page W-6

Office of 

Record
Retention No. Records Description Retention / Disposition Comments / Reference

(OFR)
Active          

(in office)

Inactive    

(Off-site, 

OD or Mfr)

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper 

after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for District-Wide Standards.                                                                                               

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                          

Litigation, complaints, claims, audits, pending public records act requests, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

Board Clerk W-039 Water Supply Agreements

Copies - 

When No 

Longer 

Required

Copies - 

When No 

Longer 

Required

Yes

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S No GC §60200

Water W-040
Well Records (includes Destroyed 

or Abandoned Wells)
P P

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 
S

Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Department preference; GC 

§60201

Division 

Providing 

Service / 

Work

W-041

Work Orders / Service Requests   

CMMS DATABASE (Computerized 

Maintenance Management 

System)

Indefinite Indefinite   Mag Data is interrelated; GC §60201

Division 

Providing 

Service / 

Work

W-042

Work Orders / Service Requests - 

All Information Entered in CMMS 

Database

When No 

Longer 

Required

When No 

Longer 

Required

  Mag Ppr
Preliminary drafts (the database 

is the original); GC §60201

Division 

Providing 

Service / 

Work

W-043

Work Orders / Service Requests - 

NOT entered in CMMS Database 

(or partial information entered into 

CMMS Database)

(Division providing service retains 

originals; Division requesting 

service is considered a copy)

5 years 5 years   Mag Ppr

City Preference; CCP §§338 et 

seq., 340 et seq., 342, GC 

§§945.6, GC §60201

Town of Discovery Bay CSD  ©1995-2014 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516

Adopted:

Agenda Item F-2



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

No Back Up 

Documentation 

For Agenda Item G 

TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY  

A COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT 

President – Mark Simon • Vice-President – Chris Steele • Director – Kevin Graves • Director – Bill Pease • Director – Marianne Wiesen 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 1  

 MONTHLY OPERATIONS REPORT 
October 2014 

 

 
Town of Discovery Bay, CA 

1889 Days of Safe Operations 

83,975 worked hours since last recordable incident  

 
TRAINING: 

Safety, Operations, & Equipment 
 

Safety  Hours 

Monthly Training consists of:   
West Region Safety Council Call 
Monthly Regional Safety Webinar 
Great Cal. Shakeout 

4.0 

Operations  

Coupa/SAP GL Training 24.0 

 
 

REPORTS SUBMITTED TO REGULATORY AGENCIES 
 

Monthly Discharge Monitoring Report (DMR) 
Monthly electronic State Monitoring Report (eSMR) 
Monthly Coliform Report, California Department of Public Health (CDPH) 
Quarterly Chlorine Residual Report 
Quarterly DMR & eSMR 

 
 

WATER SERVICES 
 
 
 
 
Note: Well 4 in lead and Well 5 in lag to offset specific conductivity 

 
 
2014 Water Production Table (MG) by Month 

January February March  April May June 

69.3 61.1 68.3 92.98 128.2 135.2 

July August September October November December 

147.5 121.9 107.9 93.6   

# of  
Active Wells 

Water Produced  
(MG) 

Chemical (Hypo)  
Delivered 

Fire Hydrant Flushing 

5  93.6 890 0 

Agenda Item H-1



 

 

 

 

 

 

 2  

 
 
Bacteriological Test Results: 
Routine Bacteria  

Samples Collected 

No. Total Coliform 

Positives 
No. Fecal/E. coli 

Positives 
Brown Water  
Calls 

16 0 0 0 

 
WASTEWATER SERVICE 

 

Wastewater Laboratory Analysis 
Blue – new parameter added 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

     WW Effluent 

Parameter 

 

Permit 

Limits 

 

September 

Lab Data 

 

October 

Lab Data 

Flow, MG Effluent, monthly total -------------------- 35.7 35.8 

Flow,  MG Daily Influent Flow, avg. N/A 1.19 1.15 

Flow,  MG Daily Discharge Flow, avg.  2.1  1.18 1.15 

Effluent BOD5, lbs/d, monthly avg. 350 31 32 

Effluent TSS, lbs/d, monthly avg. 525 31 46 

Effluent BOD5, mg/L, monthly avg. 20 2 3 

Effluent TSS, mg/L, monthly avg. 30 2 5 

Total Coli form 7 day Median Max 23 0 0 

Total Coli form Daily Maximum 240 12 8 

% Removal  BOD5, monthly avg. 85% min. 99 98 

% Removal, TSS, monthly avg. 85% min. 97 95 

Electrical Conductivity, umhos/cm annual avg. 2100 2063(YTD) (2052) 

Agenda Item H-1



 

 

 

 

 

 

 3  

National Pollution Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) 
 

NPDES Related  
Excursions 

Permit Parameter 
 

NPDES Parameter 
 Limit 

 Actual Parameter 
Result 

0 N/A  0 N/A 

 
 
 
 

Bacteriological Test Results: 
  

Routine Bacteria  
Samples Collected 

No. Total Coliform 
Positives 

No. Fecal/E. coli 
Positives 

7-Day Median  
Excursion 

12 0 0 0 

 
 
 

                                
       
 
 
    
 
 
   COLLECTION: 

 

 Flushing will start in Sept. with CCTV starting in Oct.  

 Flushed 14913 ft. of sanitary sewer lines, YTD  19613 ft. 30% completed 

 CCTV 17900 ft. 27% completed (Deadline is May 2015) 

 Inspected 64 manhole & covers. 83 YTD  

 Performed valve exercising 

 Performed weekly lift station inspections. 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 

# of Active 
Lift Stations 

# of Inactive 
Lift Stations 

Chemical Usage 
Polymer-gals SSO 

Wastewater 
Received (MG) 

15 0 86 0 35.2 

Agenda Item H-1



 

 

 

 

 

 

 4  

 
MAINTENANCE: 
  

 Preventive and Corrective 

Total # of WO’s Completed Total Hours 

294 139.9  

  
    Work Order Back-Log 

Aging 8 - 30 Days  Aging > 30 Days 

91  24 

 
 
Call & Emergency Responses 

Call Outs                                       Emergencies  

15     0 

 
Personnel Hours & Overtime:   

Regular Hours Overtime 

15 43.0 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Agenda Item H-1



 

 

 

 

 

 

 5  

 

TERMS 

 

WWTP    WASTEWATER TREATMENT PLANT 

 

WTP   WATER TREAMENT PLANT 

 

WL   WILLOW LAKE 

 

NP   NEWPORT  

 

VFD   VARIABLE FREQUENCY DRIVE 

 

WO   WORK ORDER 

 

PLC   PROGRAMMABLE LOGIC CONTROLLER 

 

L/S   LIFT STATION 

 

SSO                                SANITARY SEWER OVERFLOW 

 

BOD   BIOLOGICAL OXYGEN DEMAND 

 

TSS   TOTAL SUSPENDED SOLIDS 

 

MGD   MILLION GALLONS PER DAY 

 

mg/l   MILLIGRAMS PER LITRE 

 

CCTV   CLOSED CIRCUIT TELEVISION 

 

PPM   PARTS PER MILLION 

 

RAS   RETURN ACTIVATED SLUDGE 

 

WAS   WATSE ACTIVATED SLUDGE 

 

UV                                   ULTRAVIOLET LIGHT 

Agenda Item H-1



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

No Back Up 

Documentation 

For Agenda Item I 

TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY  

A COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT 

President – Mark Simon • Vice-President – Chris Steele • Director – Kevin Graves • Director – Bill Pease • Director – Marianne Wiesen 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

No Back Up 

Documentation 

For Agenda Item J 

TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY  

A COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT 

President – Mark Simon • Vice-President – Chris Steele • Director – Kevin Graves • Director – Bill Pease • Director – Marianne Wiesen 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

No Back Up 

Documentation 

For Agenda Item K 

TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY  

A COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT 

President – Mark Simon • Vice-President – Chris Steele • Director – Kevin Graves • Director – Bill Pease • Director – Marianne Wiesen 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

No Back Up 

Documentation 

For Agenda Item L 

TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY  

A COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT 

President – Mark Simon • Vice-President – Chris Steele • Director – Kevin Graves • Director – Bill Pease • Director – Marianne Wiesen 



Byron 

Municipal 

Advisory 

Council 
 
 

The Byron Municipal Advisory Council serves as an advisory body to the 

Contra Costa County Board of Supervisors and the County Planning Agency. 

 

This meeting record is provided pursuant to Better Government Ordinance 95-6, Article 25-2.205(d) of the Contra Costa 

County Ordinance Code. 

 

Office of Supervisor Mary N. Piepho 

Contact: Alicia Nuchols 

3361 Walnut Blvd. Suite 140 

Brentwood, CA 94513 

925-252-4500 
 

Respectfully submitted by: _________ 

 

 

 
DRAFT 

 

 

Record of Actions 
Meeting start time: 6:01 p.m. 

Thursday, September 18, 2014 

 
1. Meeting called to order by Chair Juarez at 6:01p.m. All members present  

 

2. Public Comment: Resident Earl Wetzel discussed concerns with Camino Diablo and J237.  Resident Elaine Hoyt discussed 

traffic concerns on Camino Diablo.  Resident Ruben Garcia discussed traffic concerns on Camino Diablo.  Resident Jack 

Nix discussed traffic concerns on Camino Diablo.  Resident Martha Minastan discussed traffic concerns on Camino Diablo. 

 
3. Review of Record of Actions of 8-21-14 meeting: Discussions regarding items 4c, 4d and 6a.  Vice-Chair Larsen made a 

motion to accept the Record of Actions with a modification to the language on items 4c, 4d and 6a.  Second made by 

Councilmember Lopez.  Motion carried 4-0.  AYES: Larsen, Lopez, Juarez, Schmit. 
 

4. Agency Reports 

a) East Contra Costa Fire Protection District: No Report. 

b) Contra Costa County Sheriff’s Department: No Report. 

c) California Highway Patrol: No Report. 

d) Office of Supervisor Mary N. Piepho: Deputy Chief of Staff Lea Castleberry provided an update on the following 

items: California Officials Delay Massive Delta Water Tunnel Project; Household Hazardous Waste Collection event 

hosted by Delta Diablo Sanitation on October 4
th

; and Tire recycling on September 20
th

 from 9-noon at Holland 

Riverside Maria in Brentwood; and Delta Protection Commission hosting a Delta Waterway Cleanup on Saturday, 

September 20th from 9-noon in Discovery Bay at Kellogg Creek; and Department of Conservation and Development 

looking to fill a vacancy on the Citizen Advisory Committee of the Contra Costa Transportation Authority; and 

Supervisor Piepho and the Board of Supervisors recognize Suicide Prevention Awareness Month for the month of 

September. 

 

5. Items for Discussion and/or Action 

a) Review the 2014 Biennial Notice for the Conflict of Interest Code – Chair Juarez requested clarification on section 

18730 – Provisions of Conflict of Interest Codes, item (b) (2).   

b) Discuss upcoming meeting schedule (November/December) – Councilmember Lopez made a motion to reschedule 

the October 16
th

 meeting to October 22
nd 

and combine the November/December
 
meeting date to November 20, 2014.  

Second made by Vice Chair Larsen.  Motion carried 4-0. AYES: Larsen, Lopez Juarez, Schmit. 

 

6. Correspondence Key: R= Received S= Sent 

a) R-8/26/14 Contra Costa Planning Commission Cancellation Notice for August 26, 2014 

b) R-9/3/14 Contra Costa County Zoning Administrator Agenda for September 3, 2014 

c) R-9/9/14 Contra Costa Planning Commission Cancellation Notice for September 9, 2014 

d) R-9/10/14 Contra Costa Local Agency Formation Commission Agenda for September 10, 2014 

e) R-9/15/14 Contra Costa Zoning Administrator Agenda for September 15, 2014 

 

7. Councilmember Comment/Future Agenda Item:  

Truck Traffic Concerns on Camino Diablo 

 

8. Adjourned to next meeting scheduled for October 22, 2014 

Agenda Item M-1



 

October 6, 2014 Minutes  
Page 1 of 3 

 
10582301.1 

 

EAST CONTRA COSTA FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT 
 

Meeting Minutes 
Board of Directors Regular Meeting 

 
Monday October 6, 2014 – 6:30 P.M. 

 Meeting Location: 3231 Main Street, Oakley  
              Remote Teleconference Location: 308 Collier Drive, Sevierville TN 37862 
 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
Greg Cooper 
Robert Kenny 

Jonathan Michaelson 

Joel Bryant-President 
Ronald Johansen-Vice President 

Cheryl Morgan 
 

Randy Pope 
Stephen Smith 

Joe Young 

 
CALL TO ORDER: (6:30 P.M.) 
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: (6:30 P.M.) 
 
ROLL CALL: (6:32 P.M.)  
 

Directors Present:  Bryant, Kenny, Morgan (by teleconference), Pope, Smith, Young 
                       
Directors Absent:  Cooper, Michaelson, Johansen 
 

ORGANIZATION OF THE EAST CONTRA COSTA FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT BOARD 
OF DIRECTORS:   
 
A.1      Administration of Oath of Office for Director Johansen, who has been reappointed to the 

Board of Directors by the Oakley City Council: Reordered to be addressed at the end 
of the agenda as Director Johansen was not available when the item was called 

 
PUBLIC COMMENTS: (6:32 P.M.) 
 
There was no Public Speaker 
 
CONSENT CALENDAR: (6:32 P.M.) 
 
C.1     Approve minutes from September 8, 2014 Regular Board of Directors Meeting 
C.2     Approve minutes from September 22, 2014 Special Board of Directors Meeting 
C.3     Approve the Sale of Surplus of Unit 524 2003 Ford Expedition 
C.4     Approve Cal Fire Amador Contract for Fiscal Year 2014-15 
C.5     Establishment of Bank Accounts with Bank of the West and Authorize of Signatories 
C.6     Adoption of an Updated Conflict of Interest Code 
 

Agenda Item M-2



 

October 6, 2014 Minutes 
Page 2 of 3 

 
10582301.1 

Motion by:  Director Kenny to approve Consent Calendar Items C.1-6  
Second by: Director Smith 
Vote: Motion carried:  6:0:0 
Ayes: Bryant, Kenny, Morgan, Pope, Smith, Young  
Noes: 

  Absent:  Cooper, Michaelson, Johansen 
          Abstained:   

 
DISCUSSION ITEMS: (6:34 P.M.) 
 
D. 1    Receive Update on the Transfer of Administrative Services between Contra Costa 

County and the City of Brentwood. 
 
Director Johansen arrived at 6:35 pm 
 
 There was no Public Speaker 
 
D.2  Receive Operational Update for September 2014: (6:37 P.M.) 
 
There was one (1) Public Speaker – Gil Guerrero 
 

Director Morgan left the meeting @ 7:03pm due to thunderstorm at the remote location 
 
INFORMATIONAL STAFF REPORTS 
 
NONE 
 
DIRECTORS’ COMMENTS: (6:57 P.M.) 
 
Director Smith – Director Smith attended an all day workshop on September 17 regarding the 
EMS Request for Proposals for ambulance service.  The contract currently is held by AMR 
(American Medical Response).  Director Smith also attended a workshop on August 28, 2014 
for the 2014 Draft County Wide Transportation Plan. 
 
Director Pope – Suggested to the Board of Directors that, as the staff reports are emailed prior 
to the meeting, it is not necessary for the Chief to read the staff report at the Board Meeting.   
 
INFORMATIONAL REPORTS AND REQUESTS FOR FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS FROM 
BOARD MEMBERS: (7:05 P.M.) 
 
NONE 
 
ORGANIZATION OF THE EAST CONTRA COSTA FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT BOARD 
OF DIRECTORS: (7:05 P.M.) 
 
A.1      Administration of Oath of Office for Director Johansen, who has been reappointed to the 

Board of Directors by the Oakley City Council 
 
   Chief Henderson administered the Oath of Office to Director Johansen. 
 
 
 

Agenda Item M-2



 

October 6, 2014 Minutes 
Page 3 of 3 

 
10582301.1 

ADJOURN TO CLOSED SESSION ON THE FOLLOWING MATTERS: (7:06 P.M.) 
 
 
 

1. Conference With Labor Negotiator Pursuant to Government Code Section 54957.6: 
 Agency designated representative: Fire Chief and Glenn Berkheimer 
 Employee Organizations: International Association of Fire Fighters, Local 1230, 

AFSCME Local 2700, East County Fire Fighters Association (Reserves), East Contra 
Costa Battalion Chiefs Association 

 
2. Conference With Legal Counsel – Existing Litigation Pursuant to Government Code   

Section 54956.9: East Contra Costa County Firefighters Association v. East Contra 
Costa Fire Protection District. Unfair Practice Charge No. SF-CE-1020-M 

 
REPORT ON THE CLOSED SESSIONS: (8:10 P.M.) 
 
No reportable action was taken. 

 
ADJOURN TO THE REGULAR BOARD MEETING SCHEDULED: November 3, 2014:  
(8:11 P.M.) 
 
MOTION BY:  Director Bryant to adjourn to the next Regular Board Meeting scheduled:    

November 3, 2014 
 
 
 

Agenda Item M-2



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

No Back Up 

Documentation 

For Agenda Item N 

TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY  

A COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT 

President – Mark Simon • Vice-President – Chris Steele • Director – Kevin Graves • Director – Bill Pease • Director – Marianne Wiesen 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

No Back Up 

Documentation 

For Agenda Item O 

TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY  

A COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT 

President – Mark Simon • Vice-President – Chris Steele • Director – Kevin Graves • Director – Bill Pease • Director – Marianne Wiesen 


	11-19-14 Agenda Packet Cover Sheet.pdf
	11-19-14-2 Agenda.pdf
	C-1- No Back Up Documentation for this Agenda Item.pdf
	D - No Back Up Documentation for this Agenda Item.pdf
	E-1 DRAFT Special Minutes 11-05-14.pdf
	E-2 DRAFT Minutes 11-05-14.pdf
	E-3-1 Agenda Report Approve Register of District Invoices (7).pdf
	E-3-2 Copy of RFA Town Water Wastewater (8).pdf
	E-3-3 Copy of RFA LL #8 (6).pdf
	E-3-4 Copy of RFA LL #9 (6).pdf
	E-4-1 Agenda Report Notice of Completion Koch and Koch - DB Pump Station F Rehabilitation Project.pdf
	E-4-2 Notice of Completion Koch and Koch - DB Pump Station F Rehabilitation Project.pdf
	F-1-1 Agenda Report Digital Deployment, Inc. - New Web Presence and Website.pdf
	F-1-2 Proposal from Digital Deployment, Inc..pdf
	F-2-1 Agenda Report Adopting Record Retention Schedules rh.pdf
	F-2-2 Resolution 2014-26 - Record Retention Schedules rh.pdf
	F-2-3 How to Use Retention Schedules    2014.pdf
	F-2-4 Record Retention Schedule Legend - Districts 2014.pdf
	F-2-5 Record Retention Schedules Per Department.pdf
	1 Discovery Bay - _DISTRICT WIDExls.pdf
	2 Discovery Bay - Finance.pdf
	3 Discovery Bay - GM IT  Board Clerk.pdf
	4 Discovery Bay - Human Resources.pdf
	5 Discovery Bay - Parks  Recreation.pdf
	6 Discovery Bay - Water  Wastewater.pdf

	G - No Back Up Documentation for this Agenda Item.pdf
	H-1 Veolia Report – Month of October 2014.pdf
	I - No Back Up Documentation for this Agenda Item.pdf
	J - No Back Up Documentation for this Agenda Item.pdf
	K - No Back Up Documentation for this Agenda Item.pdf
	L - No Back Up Documentation for this Agenda Item.pdf
	M-1 Byron MAC minutes dated 9-18-14.pdf
	M-2 ECCFPD meeting minutes dated 10-06-14.pdf
	cpdf4151169555463508504.pdf
	cpdf8522435859975476887.pdf
	cpdf5057955278359452588.pdf
	cpdf4511045752525805981.pdf
	cpdf2692513071192634853.pdf
	cpdf7253928572207159544.pdf
	cpdf7154265599227196861.pdf
	cpdf4968115152447898761.pdf
	Pursuant to Section 3 of the Principal Agreement, NBS will perform additional services as set forth in Exhibits I and II of this First Amendment.  These services are deemed part of Phase One and Phase Two as described in Exhibit A of the Principal Agr...
	Section 3. Additional Compensation.
	Subject to any limitations set forth in the Principal Agreement and this First Amendment, ECCFPD agrees to pay Consultant the additional amounts specified in Exhibit I.  The additional compensation for work performed pursuant to this First Amendment m...
	4.1 Authority to Execute.  Each party represents and warrants that all necessary action has been taken by such party to authorize the undersigned to execute this First Amendment and to bind it to the performance of its obligations hereunder.
	4.2 Binding Effect.  This First Amendment is binding upon the heirs, executors, administrators, successors and assigns of the parties.
	4.3 Entire Agreement.  This First Amendment, including Exhibits I and II, is the entire, complete, final and exclusive expression of the parties with respect to the matters addressed in this First Amendment, and no other understanding whether verbal, ...
	4.4 Full Force and Effect.  To the extent not inconsistent herewith, all other terms and provisions of the Principal Agreement, as amended, remain the same and in full force and effect.

	cpdf6452871101046875144.pdf
	cpdf2026834943838489945.pdf
	This Agreement consists of the following Contract Documents, each of which is on file in the office of the ECCFPD and all of which are incorporated herein and made a part hereof by reference thereto:
	2.1 Consultant agrees to provide consulting services as fully described in Exhibit A (“Scope of Services, Compensation”), which is made a part of this Agreement.
	2.2 Consultant will furnish all of the labor, technical, administrative, professional and other personnel, all supplies and materials, equipment, vehicles, transportation, office space and facilities, calculation, and all other means whatsoever, excep...
	2.3 Consultant’s designated representative(s) who is authorized to act on its behalf and to make all decisions in connection with the performance of services under this Agreement is Charles Heath.
	2.4 Should Consultant utilize additional employees or Sub-Consultants, Consultant shall make every reasonable effort to maintain the stability and continuity of Consultant’s key personnel and sub-consultants to perform the services required under this...
	2.5 The ECCFPD officer responsible for the administration of this Agreement is the Fire Chief.  The Fire Chief may, in writing, from time to time delegate another person to exercise any portion of the Fire Chief’s authority in this Agreement.  Such wr...
	2.6 Consultant must obtain the Fire Chief’s prior written approval before utilizing any sub-consultants to perform any services under this Agreement.  This written approval must include the identity of the sub-consultant and the terms of compensation....
	2.7 Consultant represents and warrants that it has the qualifications, experience and facilities necessary to properly perform the services required under this Agreement in a thorough, competent and professional manner.  Consultant will at all times f...
	3.1 Consultant will not be compensated for any services rendered in connection with its performance of this Agreement that are in addition to or outside of those set forth in this Agreement or listed in the Scope of Services, unless such additional se...
	3.2 If Consultant believes that additional services are needed to complete the Scope of Services, Consultant will provide the Fire Chief with written notification describing the proposed additional services, the reasons such services are needed and we...
	3.3 ECCFPD may order changes to the Scope of Services, consisting of additions, deletions, or other revisions, and the compensation to be paid Consultant will be adjusted accordingly.  All such changes must be authorized in writing and shall be reflec...
	Section 4. Familiarity with Services and Site.
	4.1 By executing this Agreement, Consultant warrants that Consultant:
	(a) has thoroughly investigated and considered the Scope of Services to be performed;
	(b) has carefully considered how the services should be performed;
	(c) understands the facilities, difficulties, and restrictions attending performance of the services under this Agreement; and
	(d) possesses all licenses, if any, required under local, state or federal law to perform the services contemplated by this Agreement and will maintain all required licenses during the performance of this Agreement.

	4.2 If services involve work upon any site, Consultant warrants that Consultant has or will investigate the site and is or will be fully acquainted with the conditions there existing before commencing its services.  Should Consultant discover any late...
	5.1 Subject to any limitations set forth in this Agreement, ECCFPD agrees to pay Consultant the amounts specified in Exhibit A.  The total compensation may not exceed $58,000, unless additional compensation is approved in advance and in writing by ECC...
	5.2 Prior to the 10th day of each month during the term of this Agreement, Consultant shall furnish ECCFPD with an original invoice for all services performed during the preceding month in accordance with the fees and services set forth in Exhibit A. ...
	5.3 ECCFPD will independently review each invoice submitted by Consultant to determine whether the work performed and expenses incurred are in compliance with this Agreement.  In the event that no charges or expenses are reasonably disputed, the invoi...
	5.4 Except as to any charges for work performed by Consultant that are reasonably disputed by ECCFPD, ECCFPD will cause Consultant to be paid within 45 days of receipt of Consultant’s invoice.
	5.5 Payment to Consultant for services performed under this Agreement may not be deemed to waive any defects in the services performed by Consultant.
	5.6 ECCFPD will have no obligation to pay Consultant for any services negligently performed or necessary to correct any negligent work or services.
	6.1 Neither Consultant nor Consultant’s sub-consultants will perform any services under this Agreement until:
	(a) Consultant and the sub-consultant, if any, performing the services furnishes proof of insurance as required in Exhibit B; and
	(b) Fire Chief gives Consultant a written notice to proceed.

	7.1 Consultant will adhere to all schedules and deadlines set forth in this Agreement.  Time is of the essence.
	7.2 Consultant will not be liable for damages, including liquidated damages, if any, caused by delay in performance or failure to perform due to causes beyond the control of Consultant.  Such causes include, but are not limited to, acts of God, acts o...
	9.1 All original maps, models, designs, plans, drawings, photographs, studies, surveys, reports, data, notes, computer programs, files and other documents (collectively, “Project Documents”) prepared, developed, or discovered by Consultant or Consulta...
	9.2 Consultant will not, without the ECCFPD’s prior written approval, release any Project Documents prepared under this Agreement by Consultant or its sub-consultants to any other person or entity except as necessary for the performance of the Consult...
	10.1 Consultant shall maintain any and all documents and records demonstrating or relating to Consultant’s or sub-consultants’ performance of services under this Agreement. Consultant shall maintain any and all ledgers, books of account, invoices, vou...
	10.2 Consultant shall, upon reasonable prior written request, make available to ECCFPD for inspection, audit and copying at any time during regular business hours any and all records or documents required to be maintained by this section.  Consultant ...
	10.3 Where ECCFPD has reason to believe that any of the documents or records required to be maintained by this section may be lost or discarded due to dissolution or termination of Consultant’s business, ECCFPD may, by written request, require that cu...
	11.1 Consultant is and will at all times remain a wholly independent contractor and not an officer or employee of ECCFPD. Consultant has no authority to bind ECCFPD in any manner, or to incur any obligation, debt or liability of any kind on behalf of ...
	11.2 The personnel performing the services under this Agreement on behalf of Consultant will at all times be under Consultant’s exclusive direction and control.  Neither ECCFPD, nor any elected or appointed boards, officers, officials, employees or ag...
	11.3 Neither Consultant, nor any of Consultant’s officers, employees, agents or sub-consultants, will obtain any rights to retirement, health care or any other benefits which may otherwise accrue to ECCFPD’s employees. Consultant expressly waives any ...
	14.1 Consultant and its officers, employees, associates and sub-consultants, will comply with all conflict of interest statutes of the State of California applicable to Consultant’s services under this agreement, including, but not limited to, the Pol...
	14.2 ECCFPD understands and acknowledges that Consultant and its sub-consultants are, as of the Effective Date, independently involved in the performance of non-related services for other governmental agencies and private parties.  Consultant represen...
	15.1 All information gained or work product produced by Consultant in performance of this Agreement will be considered confidential, unless such information is in the public domain or already known to Consultant.  Consultant shall not release or discl...
	15.2 Consultant, its officers, employees, or agents, shall not, without prior written authorization from the Fire Chief or unless requested by the General Counsel of ECCFPD, voluntarily provide declarations, letters of support, testimony at deposition...
	15.3 Consultant shall reimburse and indemnify ECCFPD for any damages, costs and fees, including attorneys fees, incurred by ECCFPD caused by Consultant or Consultant’s sub-consultants' release of any information or work product (including Project Docu...
	15.4 Consultant shall promptly notify ECCFPD should Consultant, its officers, employees,  agents or sub-consultants  be served with any summons, complaint, subpoena, notice of deposition, request for documents, interrogatories, request for admissions ...
	16.1 Consultant shall indemnify, defend, protect and hold harmless ECCFPD its officials, officers, and employees from and against, any and all liabilities, claims, actions, causes of action, proceedings, suits, damages, judgments, liens, levies, costs...
	16.2 If any action or proceeding is brought against ECCFPD by reason of any of the matters against which Consultant has agreed to indemnify ECCFPD as provided above, Consultant, upon notice from ECCFPD, shall defend ECCFPD at Consultant’s expense by c...
	16.4 The insurance required to be maintained by Consultant under this Agreement is intended to ensure Consultant’s obligations under this section, but the limits of such insurance do not limit the liability of Consultant.
	16.5 The provisions of this section do not apply to Claims to the extent occurring as a result of the ECCFPD’s negligence or willful acts or omissions.
	16.6 In the event of any Claim made against ECCFPD, ECCFPD may, in its sole discretion, reserve, retain or apply any funds due to Consultant under this Agreement for the purpose of resolving such Claim.
	16.7 The provisions of this section will survive the expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement.
	19.1 ECCFPD may terminate this Agreement without cause by providing thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to Consultant.  In the event such notice is given, Consultant will cease immediately all work in progress.
	(a) If Consultant is engaged by any other entity to perform services related to any ballot proceeding directly implicating ECCFPD (e.g., if an advocacy group engages TBWB to provide services related to a proposed fire suppression assessment), Consulta...
	19.2 Either party may terminate this Agreement for cause after first providing the other party with written notice of the basis for the default and the failure of the other party to cure the default within thirty (30) days following receipt of the not...
	19.4 Consultant acknowledges ECCFPD’s rights to terminate this Agreement as provided in this section, and hereby waives any and all claims for damages that might otherwise arise from ECCFPD’s termination of this Agreement.
	20.1 All written notices required or permitted to be given under this Agreement will be deemed made when received by the other party at its respective address as follows:
	20.2 Notice will be deemed effective on the date personally delivered or transmitted by facsimile.  If the notice is mailed, notice will be deemed given three days after deposit of the same in the custody of the United States Postal Service, postage p...
	20.3 Any party may change its notice information by giving notice to the other party in compliance with this section.
	21.1 Authority to Execute.  Each party represents and warrants that all necessary action has been taken by such party to authorize the undersigned to execute this Agreement and to bind it to the performance of its obligations hereunder.
	21.2 Binding Effect.  This Agreement is binding upon the heirs, executors, administrators, successors and assigns of the parties.
	21.3 Entire Agreement.  This Agreement, including Exhibits A and B and Appendices 1 and 2, is the entire, complete, final and exclusive expression of the parties with respect to the matters addressed in this Agreement and supersedes all other agreemen...
	21.4 Modification of Agreement.  No amendment or modification of this Agreement will be valid unless made in writing and approved by Consultant and by the ECCFPD.  The parties agree that this requirement for written modifications cannot be waived and ...
	21.5 Facsimile Signatures.  Amendments to this Agreement will be considered executed when the signature of a party is delivered by facsimile transmission. Such facsimile signature will have the same effect as an original signature.
	21.6 Waiver.  Waiver by either party to this Agreement of any term, condition, or covenant of this Agreement will not constitute a waiver of any other term, condition, or covenant. Waiver by either party of any breach of the provisions of this Agreeme...
	21.7 Interpretation.  This Agreement will be interpreted, construed and governed according to the laws of the State of California.  Each party has had the opportunity to review this Agreement with legal counsel.  The Agreement will be construed simply...
	21.8 Severability.  If any term, condition or covenant of this Agreement is declared or determined by any court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, void or unenforceable, the remaining provisions of this Agreement will not be affected and the Agr...
	21.9 Venue.  In the event of litigation between the parties, venue in will be in the Contra Costa County Superior Court.
	A. General Requirements.
	i. Commercial General Liability Insurance.
	ii. Business Automobile Insurance.
	iii. Workers Compensation.
	iv. Professional Liability
	v. Additional lnsureds.
	vi. Deductibles and Self-Insured Retention.
	vii. Primary Insurance.
	viii. Certificates of Insurance and Endorsements.
	ix. Insurance Rating.
	x. Aggregate Limits.
	xi. Waiver of Subrogation Rights.
	xii. Failure to Maintain Required Insurance.
	xiii. Effect of Coverage.
	xiv. Additional Insured in Trade Contracts.
	xv. Sub-consultant Insurance.



	N - No Back Up Documentation for this Agenda Item.pdf
	O - No Back Up Documentation for this Agenda Item.pdf

